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Letter of transmittal
24 September 2025

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP  
Treasurer  
Parliament House  
CANBERRA ACT 2600 

Dear Treasurer 

Treasury Annual Report 2024–25 

I present the Treasury annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with section 46 of the  
Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 and legislation 
administered by Treasury. 

The report includes Treasury’s audited financial statements as prepared under 
section 43 of the Act. 

As required under section 10 of the Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Rule 2014, I certify that:

	� the department has prepared fraud risk assessments and fraud control plans

	� the department has appropriate fraud prevention, detection, investigation and 
reporting mechanisms in place to meet its needs, and

	� all reasonable measures have been taken to appropriately deal with fraud relating 
to the department. 

Yours sincerely 

Jenny Wilkinson PSM  
Secretary to the Treasury 

CC 	 The Hon Clare O’Neil MP 
Minister for Housing, Minister for Homelessness, Minister for Cities

The Hon Dr Anne Aly MP 
Minister for Small Business, Minister for International Development,  
Minister for Multicultural Affairs

The Hon Dr Daniel Mulino MP 
Assistant Treasurer, Minister for Financial Services 

The Hon Dr Andrew Leigh MP  
Assistant Minister for Productivity, Competition, Charities and Treasury 
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Introduction and guide to the report
The Treasury Annual Report 2024–25 outlines performance against outcomes, program 
and performance information contained in the:

	� Portfolio Budget Statements 2024–25

	� Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements 2024–25

	� Portfolio Supplementary Estimates Statements 2024–25

	� Treasury Corporate Plan 2024–25.

A comprehensive annual report for the Takeovers Panel is available at takeovers.gov.au. 

Part 1 	Details Treasury’s role, functions, senior management structure, organisational 
structure and portfolio structure.

Part 2 	Provides an analysis of performance against Treasury’s policy and 
program outcomes.

Part 3 	Reports on management and accountability issues as required under the 
annual report guidelines.

Part 4 	Presents the audited financial statements of Treasury as required under the 
annual report guidelines.

Part 5 	Includes other information as required under the annual report guidelines, 
and as required by other legislation.

This report concludes with a glossary, a list of abbreviations and acronyms, 
and an index.

Other sources of information
Treasury releases information on its activities through publications, media releases, 
speeches, reports and the annual report. Treasury publications are available on its 
website: treasury.gov.au.

Contact details
The contact officer for enquiries regarding this report is:

Assistant Secretary
Governance Branch
The Treasury
Langton Crescent
Parkes  ACT  2600
Email: performanceandplanning@treasury.gov.au

http://www.foreigninvestment.gov.au
http://www.treasury.gov.au
mailto:department@treasury.gov.au
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Part 1 – Overview

Secretary’s review

I am pleased to present Treasury’s Annual Report for 2024–25 
– my first as Secretary to the Treasury after being appointed in 
June 2025. It is a privilege to lead an agency that plays such a 
pivotal role in public policy development and implementation, 
supported by a highly capable and dedicated workforce. 

Overview
Over 2024–25, the Australian economy exhibited resilience while escalating trade 
tensions and conflict in several parts of the world made the international outlook 
more uncertain. The global economy is potentially facing the longest stretch of 
below-average growth since the early 1990s.

Domestically, inflation moderated substantially to return to the Reserve Bank of 
Australia target band. The labour market remained robust, with several structural 
changes continuing, such as the growing size of the care economy. This is occurring 
alongside greater use of data and digital technologies and the net zero transition, 
which continue to shape Australia’s medium- and long-term economic and 
fiscal outlook.

Our work in 2024–25
Treasury’s work supports the economy and the national interest. Our advice in 2024–25 
focused on supporting the government’s priorities to address cost-of-living pressures, 
build more houses, implement the Future Made in Australia agenda and strengthen the 
economy. With colleagues from the Department of Finance, we delivered the 2025–26 
Budget and Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook and took on new responsibilities for 
establishing the Investor Front Door under the National Interest Framework.

The Prime Minister called the Federal Election shortly after the Budget. In accordance 
with the Charter of Budget Honesty, Treasury and the Department of Finance published 
the Pre-election Economic Fiscal Overview on 7 April 2025. Other significant publications 
this year included the 2024 Population Statement, which provided an update and 
insights on population and demographic trends in Australia and the Tax Expenditures 
and Insights Statement which aims to increase transparency around the impacts of tax 
expenditures and features of the tax system. 

https://population.gov.au/publications/statements/2024-population-statement
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-607085
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-607085
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In 2025, Treasury has been monitoring the implications of tariffs announced by the 
new Trump Administration. This has included analysis on the global and domestic 
implications of the tariffs, informed by Treasury modelling of the implications for 
Australia and the global economy of different tariff scenarios. 

Leading development of the Future Made in Australia Act 2024 and the Scams 
Prevention Framework were significant achievements. Treasury supported the delivery 
of Australia’s mandatory climate-related financial disclosure regime, which commenced 
on 1 January 2025. We worked across government to establish tax incentives for green 
hydrogen and critical minerals processing.

We were responsible for 24 Bills containing 55 measures throughout 2024–25. The 
Senate passed 17 Treasury bills in November 2024. This included laws on Buy Now Pay 
Later, global and domestic minimum tax rules for large multinational enterprises, and 
significant changes to Australia’s merger laws.

We expanded our role in housing. We supported Housing Australia to deliver the first 
2 rounds of the Housing Australia Future Fund. We worked on legislation to improve and 
extend the Home Guarantee Scheme and continued to oversee the Social Housing 
Accelerator. The National Housing Supply and Affordability Council delivered its second 
annual State of the Housing System report.

In administering Australia’s foreign investment framework, we streamlined assessments 
of low-risk foreign investment to reduce processing times. We launched an online 
investor portal to support faster decision making. We strengthened scrutiny of high-risk 
investment, including initiating court action under the foreign investment framework for 
the first time. We continued to deliver the international tax treaties program, including a 
new treaty with Slovenia. 

We helped the government respond to the Statutory Review of the Payment Times 
Reporting Act 2020 by reforming the Payment Times Reporting Scheme, including the 
delivery of new online infrastructure.

Treasury participated in several international forums. We supported the Treasurer’s 
attendance at the G20, International Monetary Fund and World Bank annual meetings 
in the United States, at the Pacific Islands Forum Economic Ministers Meeting in Suva, 
and as co-chair of the first Australia-China Strategic Economic Dialogue since 2017. The 
government partnering with Australian banks to help maintain banking services in the 
Pacific was a positive outcome.

https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-623966
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-623966
https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/getting-started/where-to-submit/new-portal
https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/getting-started/where-to-submit/new-portal
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Our cooperation with states and territories resulted in significant developments. 
Commonwealth, state, and territory treasurers agreed to revitalise National 
Competition Policy, launching a 10-year reform agenda backed by a $900 million 
National Productivity Fund. Separately, Treasury’s advice supported the Council on 
Federal Financial Relations to deliver on public hospital funding and health reform 
arrangements to 30 June 2026. Treasury delivered Australia’s first National Small 
Business Strategy, a joint initiative between governments. 

Treasury worked alongside our network of portfolio agencies. This included supporting 
reforms to modernise the Reserve Bank of Australia. We contributed to the Productivity 
Commission’s updated Statement of Expectations. We assisted the independent review 
of the Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman. In 2024, Treasury 
celebrated the Australian Government Actuary as it reached a significant milestone – 
100 years of service.

Engagement was central to the Australian Centre for Evaluation’s work. It continued 
to promote an evaluation culture across the public service. Highlights included a 
review of randomised trials in Australian public policy and co-hosting an OECD 
evaluation workshop.

https://treasury.gov.au/review/competition-review-2023/ncp
https://treasury.gov.au/review/competition-review-2023/ncp
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-624843
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2025-624843
https://aga.gov.au/publications/century-australian-government-actuaries
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People and performance
In 2024–25, Treasury published a Strategic Workforce Plan for 2024–30 to improve 
our workforce capabilities and management practices. This strategy will ensure the 
department can attract, develop and retain the skills we need. 

We launched a new Digital and Cyber Security Strategy and our first Enterprise Data 
Strategy. These plans allow us to get the most out of technology investments and 
improve our data capability and governance. 

This year, we delivered active bystander training, cultural capability training, a program 
for emerging Executive Level (EL) leaders, and 360-degree feedback processes for 
our Senior Executive Service (SES). Staff participated in many wellbeing, inclusion and 
diversity network events such as STEPtember, Safe Work Month, World Mental Health 
Day, International Day of People with Disability and NAIDOC week. 

Our focus on people and performance delivered pleasing results. Treasury’s 
Australian Public Service (APS) Employee Census results were among the most positive 
in the public service. Our staff are highly engaged, motivated, and deeply committed  
to our purpose. 

Treasury was awarded bronze tier status in the 2025 Australian Workplace Equality 
Index. We achieved our gender parity target for female representation in the SES level. 
At 30 June 2025, women made up 52.1 per cent of the SES cohort, inclusive of higher 
duties arrangements.

Prosple Australia named Treasury in the Top 100 Graduate Employers for the first 
time. We ranked 11th in the government and public service category. This was terrific 
recognition of our graduate program and the experiences of the current cohort of 
44 graduates. 

Treasury took on new and expanded functions during the year. Following machinery of 
government changes, 150 staff joined the department. Responsibility for homelessness, 
construction, cities and planning functions transferred to Treasury from 3 departments. 
This expanded our existing role in supporting the government’s housing initiatives. We 
also became responsible for bankruptcy, personal property securities and consumer 
credit reporting functions. We were delighted to welcome our new staff and will 
continue to embed these new areas over the coming months. 
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The year ahead
We look forward to supporting the government’s policy agenda following the 
Economic Reform Roundtable. This includes providing the evidence base and economic 
frameworks for policy that boosts productivity, strengthens our resilience and improves 
budget sustainability. We will consult with the states and territories on further steps 
towards creating a single national market, road-user charging, reducing tariffs and 
reforming the National Construction Code.

We will support the government to deliver a tax cut for all taxpayers (announced 
in the 2025–26 Budget), introduce a $1,000 instant tax deduction and extend the 
$20,000 Instant Asset Write Off. We will pilot the services of the Investor Front Door and 
advise on its long-term design. Treasury will continue to provide modelling to support 
the pathway to net zero. 

In the competition and consumer space, Treasury will advise the government on an 
excessive pricing regime for supermarkets. We will work on addressing unfair trading 
practices and enhancing the effectiveness of consumer guarantees protections. 
Work will continue on non-compete clauses and a national licensing scheme to allow 
electricians to work seamlessly across borders.

Treasury will expand its support for the government’s housing plan. We will establish 
the Help to Buy program and work with state and territory governments to build 
more homes for first home buyers and streamline building approvals. We will support 
measures to accelerate the uptake of modern construction methods.

Acknowledgements
2024–25 has been a year full of achievements for Treasury, and I acknowledge the 
outstanding leadership of Steven Kennedy who has been Secretary to the Treasury for 
the past 6 years until he finished on 16 June 2025. Steven navigated an increasingly 
complex and uncertain economic environment during his time as Secretary. This year 
was no exception.

I also acknowledge all Treasury staff for their commitment and contributions. I am 
impressed by the capability and dedication of the people who work here. I look forward 
to leading the department into its 125th year in 2025–26. 

Jenny Wilkinson PSM  
Secretary to the Treasury 
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Treasury is the government’s lead economic adviser
Treasury provides economic analysis and policy advice on many issues including the 
economy, Budget, taxation, financial sector, foreign investment, competition, market 
conduct, superannuation, small business, housing and international economic policy.

We anticipate and analyse policy issues, taking a whole-of-economy perspective, 
understand government and stakeholder circumstances, and respond rapidly to 
changing events and directions. Treasury works with state and territory governments 
on key policy areas, as well as managing federal financial relations. The economic 
environment in which we operate is highly complex and subject to significant 
uncertainty. Within this environment, we advise the government on reforms to boost 
productivity, promote well-functioning markets and ensure the tax system remains 
equitable and supports the government’s fiscal strategy. 

Our purpose under the Treasury Corporate Plan 2024–25 is to:

Provide advice to the government and implement 
policies and programs to achieve strong and sustainable 
economic and fiscal outcomes for Australians.
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There were several leadership changes in Treasury during 2024–25. Sam Reinhardt, 
Deputy Secretary, Fiscal Group, was appointed Parliamentary Budget Officer in 
November 2024. Luke Yeaman, Deputy Secretary, Macroeconomic Group, left Treasury 
in December 2024 to take up a position as Chief Economist at the Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia. Brenton Philp, Deputy Secretary Markets Group, transferred to the 
Department of Veterans’ Affairs as Deputy Secretary and Chief Operating Officer from 
March 2025.

At the end of 2024, Roxanne Kelley PSM, Deputy Secretary, International and Foreign 
Investment Group, retired after nearly 42 years of public service. Roxanne joined 
Treasury in 2020 and led the professionalisation of our corporate and governance 
functions as well as strengthening a risk-based approach to foreign investment. 

Treasury’s Executive Board welcomed 3 new permanent Deputy Secretaries in 2024–25. 
Damien White was promoted to Deputy Secretary, Markets Group in February 2025. 
James Kelly was promoted to Deputy Secretary, Markets Group in March 2025. In 
April 2025, Dr Angelia Grant was promoted to Deputy Secretary, Macroeconomic Group, 
from the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. 

In May 2025 Treasury received additional functions for housing and homelessness 
policy, cities policy, personal insolvency and bankruptcy. As a result, 150 staff from the 
Attorney-General’s Department, the Department of Social Services, the Department 
of Industry and Resources and the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional 
Development, Communications, Sport, and the Arts joined Treasury. On 19 May 2025 
the Secretary established a new Housing Group to support delivery of the government’s 
priorities in housing and homelessness. 

Figure 1 shows Treasury’s organisational structure at 30 June 2025. Treasury’s 
accountable authority is the Secretary. During the 2024–25 reporting period, 
Dr Steven Kennedy PSM occupied the position from 1 July 2024 to 16 June 2025. 
Ms Jenny Wilkinson PSM was appointed to the position on 16 June 2025.
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Figure 1: Treasury Group senior management at 30 June 2025

Secretary
Jenny Wilkinson PSM

Fiscal Group

Deputy Secretary
Damien White

Budget Policy Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Philippa Brown PSM

First Nations and Commonwealth-State 
Relations Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Marg Thomas

Labour Market, Environment, Industry and  
Infrastructure Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Trevor Power

Social Policy Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Anthea Long 

Housing Group

Deputy Secretary
Kerren Crosthwaite 
(A/g) Vacant Position

Housing and Homelessness Division 
Nerida Hunter

Housing Supply and Cities Division 
Nicholas Dowie (A/g)
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International and 
Foreign Investment 
Group

Deputy Secretary
Katrina Di Marco
(A/g) Vacant Position

Foreign Investment Division  
First Assistant Secretary: Christopher Tinning

International Economics and Security Division  
First Assistant Secretary: Justin Baguley (A/g)

National Interest Framework Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Mohita Zaheed

Overseas operations

Beijing: David Osborne 

Indonesia Ministry of Finance: Amy Leaver (A/g)

Jakarta: Cosimo Thawley 

London: John Swieringa 

New Delhi: Katherine Tuck 

OECD Paris: Peter Johnson 

Port Moresby: Dougal Robinson

Tokyo: Andrew Deitz 

Washington: Vera Holenstein

Macroeconomic 
Group

Deputy Secretary
Dr Angelia Grant

Climate and Energy Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Alex Heath

Macroeconomic Analysis and Policy Division 
First Assistant Secretary:  
Nathan Deutscher (A/g) Shane Johnson

Macroeconomic Conditions and Population Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Adam Cagliarini
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Markets Group

Deputy Secretary
James Kelly

Australian Government Actuary 
First Assistant Secretary: Guy Thorburn

Competition Taskforce Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Jason McDonald

Digital, Competition and Payments Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Tony McDonald (A/g)

Financial System Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Lynn Kelly

Market Conduct Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Aidan Storer (A/g)

Revenue Group

Deputy Secretary
Diane Brown

Corporate and International Tax Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Marty Robinson

Personal and Indirect Tax and Charities Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Laura Berger-Thomson

Retirement Advice and Investment Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Neena Pai

Tax Analysis Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Louise Rawlings

Board of Taxation Secretariat 
Assistant Secretary: Paul Korganow

Small Business, 
Corporate and 
Law Group

Deputy Secretary
Victoria Anderson

Corporate Division 
Chief Operating Officer: Fiona McSpeerin

Law Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Erin Wells

Small and Family Business Division 
First Assistant Secretary: Anthony Seebach

State offices

Melbourne Office Head: Kylie Bourke 

Sydney Office Head: Christian Vallence

Perth Office Head: Anastasia Phylactou (A/g)
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Part 1 – Overview

Portfolio overview 
The Treasury portfolio undertakes activities in line with its Portfolio Budget Statement 
outcome. Treasury’s outcome is ‘supporting and implementing informed decisions 
on policies for the good of the Australian people, including for achieving strong, 
sustainable economic growth’. This requires providing advice to Treasury ministers and 
the efficient administration of Treasury’s portfolio functions. 

Portfolio ministers
Ministers appointed to the Treasury portfolio during the reporting period 2024–25:

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP
Treasurer

The Hon Clare O’Neil MP
Minister for Housing, Minister for Homelessness (from 29 July 2024)  
Minister for Cities (from 13 May 2025) 
Minister for Home Affairs, Minister for Cyber Security (to 29 July 2024)

The Hon Dr Anne Aly MP
Minister for Small Business, Minister for International Development, 
Minister for Multicultural Affairs (from 13 May 2025) 

The Hon Julie Collins MP
Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry,  
Minister for Small Business (29 July 2024 to 13 May 2025) 
Minister for Housing, Minister for Homelessness,  
Minister for Small Business (1 July to 29 July 2024)

The Hon Dr Daniel Mulino MP
Assistant Treasurer, Minister for Financial Services (from 13 May 2025)

The Hon Stephen Jones MP
Assistant Treasurer, Minister for Financial Services (retired 13 May 2025)

The Hon Dr Andrew Leigh MP
Assistant Minister for Productivity, Competition, Charities and Treasury (from 13 May 2025) 
Assistant Minister for Competition, Charities and Treasury,  
Assistant Minister for Employment (1 July 2024 to 13 May 2025)
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Table 1: Ministerial acting arrangements during 2024–25

Minister Dates Acting Minister

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP 31 July to 
2 August 2024

Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher

The Hon Julie Collins MP 24 August to 
6 September 2024

The Hon Dr Andrew Leigh MP  
(Minister for Small Business) 

Senator the Hon Anthony Chisholm 
(Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Forestry)

The Hon Clare O’Neil MP 29 August to 
30 August 2024

The Hon Bill Shorten MP

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP 25 September to 
28 September 2024

Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP 23 October to 
27 October 2024

Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher

The Hon Julie Collins MP 13 November to 
16 November 2024

The Hon Dr Andrew Leigh MP  
(Minister for Small Business) 

Senator the Hon Anthony Chisholm 
(Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Forestry)

The Hon Stephen Jones MP 15 December to 
17 December 2024

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP

The Hon Stephen Jones MP 23 December 2024 to 
3 January 2025

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP

The Hon Clare O’Neil MP 4 January to 
5 January 2025

The Hon Stephen Jones MP  
(Treasury portfolio)

The Hon Amanda Rishworth MP  
(Social Services portfolio)

The Hon Stephen Jones MP 6 January to 
12 January 2025

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP

The Hon Clare O’Neil MP 6 January to 
13 January 2025

The Hon Amanda Rishworth MP

The Hon Julie Collins MP 13 January to 
20 January 2025

The Hon Dr Andrew Leigh MP  
(Minister for Small Business) 

Senator the Hon Anthony Chisholm 
(Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Forestry)

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP 23 February to 
27 February 2025

Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher

The Hon Stephen Jones MP 24 February to 
1 March 2025

The Hon Clare O’Neil MP  
(24 to 27 February)

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP  
(28 February to 1 March)
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Minister Dates Acting Minister

The Hon Dr Anne Aly MP 28 June to 4 July 2025 Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher 
(Minister for Small Business)

The Hon Tony Burke MP  
(Minister for Multicultural Affairs)

Senator the Hon Tim Ayres  
(Minister for International Development)

The Hon Jim Chalmers MP 28 June to 6 July 2025 Senator the Hon Katy Gallagher

Information about ministerial acting arrangements is published quarterly on the 
Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet website at www.pmc.gov.au/government/
administration/acting-ministerial-arrangements. 

Portfolio structure
The Australian Financial Security Authority transferred from the Attorney-General’s 
portfolio to the Treasury portfolio on 13 May 2025. As of 30 June 2025, the Treasury 
portfolio comprised 17 entities in the general government sector, including:

	� The Australian Bureau of Statistics

	� Australian Financial Security Authority

	� Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

	� Australian Office of Financial Management

	� Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

	� Australian Reinsurance Pool Corporation

	� Australian Securities and Investments Commission

	� The Australian Taxation Office

	� Commonwealth Grants Commission

	� Housing Australia 

	� Inspector-General of Taxation 

	� National Competition Council

	� Office of the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

	� Office of the Australian Accounting Standards Board

	� Productivity Commission

	� Reserve Bank of Australia 

	� Royal Australian Mint

http://www.pmc.gov.au/government/administration/acting-ministerial-arrangements
http://www.pmc.gov.au/government/administration/acting-ministerial-arrangements
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Table 2: Treasury outcome and program structure at 30 June 2025
Outcome 1: Supporting and implementing informed decisions on policies for the good 
of the Australian people, including for achieving strong, sustainable economic growth, 
through the provision of advice to Treasury ministers and the efficient administration of 
Treasury’s functions.

Program 1.1: Department of the Treasury

Program 1.2: International Financial Relations

Program 1.3: Support for markets and business

Program 1.4: Commonwealth-State Financial Relations
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Part 2 – Report on performance

Annual Performance Statements 
2024–25

Statement of preparation
I, as the Accountable Authority of the Department of the Treasury, present the 
Annual Performance Statements 2024–25 as required under section 39(1)(a) of the  
Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act).

In my opinion, the Annual Performance Statements are based on properly maintained 
records, accurately reflect the performance of the Treasury and comply with section 
39(2) of the PGPA Act.

In accordance with subsection 16F of the Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Rule 2014 (PGPA Rule), these statements report on our performance 
in the year ended 30 June 2025, assessed against the purpose, key activities and 
performance measures relevant to the Treasury published in:

	� the Department of the Treasury 2024–25 Corporate Plan (Corporate Plan 2024–25)

	� 2024–25 Portfolio Budget Statements – the Department of the Treasury 
(PBS 2024–25).

In accordance with subsection 17J of the PGPA Rule, these statements include 
reporting for performance measures transferred to Treasury through the machinery of 
government changes on 13 May 2025.

Jenny Wilkinson PSM  
Secretary to the Treasury

24 September 2025
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Treasury’s purpose
We provide advice to the government and implement policies and programs to achieve 
strong and sustainable economic and fiscal outcomes for Australians.

As set out in the Corporate Plan 2024–25, Treasury achieves our purpose through our 
key activities:

	� Key activity 1: Treasury’s policy advice and analysis is impactful, informed 
and influential 

	� Key activity 2: Treasury’s implementation of policies and regulation supports 
Australia’s economy and national interest

	� Key activity 3: Treasury’s external engagements enable implementation of the 
government’s economic and fiscal agenda.

In 2024–25, Treasury used 12 performance measures across the 3 key activities of the 
Corporate Plan 2024–25 to assess performance against the activities undertaken to 
achieve our purpose. 

Treasury made no amendments to performance information published in the 
Corporate Plan 2024–25. 

Treasury’s outcome
Supporting and implementing informed decisions on policies for the good of the 
Australian people, including for achieving strong, sustainable economic growth, 
through the provision of advice to Treasury ministers and the efficient administration 
of Treasury’s functions.
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Results and analysis

Analysis of performance against Treasury’s purpose
Treasury’s annual performance statements report on the period from 1 July 2024 
to 30 June 2025. The statements provide a clear read of Treasury’s performance 
over the financial year against the key activities and performance measures in the 
Corporate Plan 2024–25 and 2024–25 Portfolio Budget Statements (PBS).1

Treasury achieved, substantially achieved, or partially achieved 12 of the 
12 performance measures.

	� Performance measures 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 11 and 12 were achieved.

	� Performance measure 13 was substantially achieved.

	� Performance measures 5 and 9 were partially achieved.

A summary of achievement against the activities and performance measures is 
provided on pages 25 to 27. A detailed assessment of achievement and analysis 
for individual performance measures is presented on pages 28 to 81.

Key activity 1: Treasury’s policy advice and analysis is impactful, 
informed and influential
Advice and analysis provided by Treasury to our ministers is a key component 
of achieving our purpose. The quality of Treasury’s advice to portfolio ministers 
(performance measure 1) was assessed using a structured feedback questionnaire. 
Our policy advice was rated highly by Treasury ministers or their representatives.

Treasury has a strong track record of shaping government decisions through policy 
advice on economic and demographic implications. Our policy advice supported 
high-profile government measures, including personal income tax cuts. It also assisted 
in whole-of-government efforts to advise the government on the Net Zero Plan, and the 
design and delivery of multiple programs and regulatory functions, including supporting 
the growth and resilience of small businesses. 

Ministerial feedback described Treasury’s advice as robust, well-regarded,  
thoughtful, influential and providing a broad perspective on the issues. Treasury’s 
senior executives will discuss the feedback, and the results will be used to improve 
performance. Treasury is reporting that performance measure 1 is achieved for the 
ministerial feedback questionnaire.

1	 Performance information in the 2024–25 Portfolio Budget Statements was updated through the 
Corporate Plan 2024–25.
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Treasury consulted across government on policy matters and used a stakeholder survey 
to assess the quality of our policy advice (performance measure 1). Survey results for 
the Australian Government stakeholders significantly improved from 2023–24 to report 
this measure as achieved. There were improvements in stakeholder feedback for 
Treasury’s international economic, climate and energy, macroeconomic, fiscal, foreign 
investment, financial systems and superannuation policy advice and our advice on the 
development of legislation. Treasury has continued to improve the framework for the 
stakeholder survey by including the National Interest Framework, which is part of our 
expanding role.

Treasury’s policy advice is supported by forecasting and analysis. This included 
economic and demographic forecasts for the 2024–25 Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal 
Outlook (MYEFO) and the 2025–26 Budget. We use forecasting for Gross Domestic 
Product and total tax receipts (excluding company tax) against actual outcomes as 
part of the budget papers in performance measures 2 and 3. These performance 
measures have been achieved in 2024–25.

Treasury focuses on the timely delivery of budget documents (performance measure 4), 
including transparency on the Commonwealth Budget position. These publications 
are the outcomes of Treasury’s policy advice, analysis, forecasting, and broad 
consultation with government and external stakeholders. The legislative requirements 
and timeframes for these publications are outlined in the Charter of Budget Honesty 
Act 1998 (Charter).

This reporting period covered the Federal Election and publication of the 2025 
Pre-election Economic and Fiscal Outlook. The 2023–24 Final Budget Outcome, 
2024–25 MYEFO and 2025–26 Budget were also released. Performance measure 4 
was achieved. Treasury also delivered the 2025–26 Women’s Budget Statement 
on 25 March 2025 as part of the budget documents, although this is not a 
Charter requirement.

Key activity 2: Treasury’s implementation of policies and 
regulation supports Australia’s economy and national interest
Treasury implements policies through programs, legislation, taxation measures, 
regulatory functions in Treasury and consultation with portfolio regulators. A range of 
measures are used to assess our implementation, monitor changes in the market and 
provide an overall understanding of our policy outcomes. These measures relate to 
advice on the competitiveness of markets, stability of financial systems, international 
taxation, the management of our legislative program, foreign investment and payment 
times regulation.

Treasury is responsible for financial systems, investment, retirement incomes, provision of 
actuarial services, corporations, competition, and consumer data and law. Performance 
measure 5 assesses Australia’s competitiveness in 2024–25 using data from the Institute 
for Management Development. The 2024–25 data is compared with the 2021–22 
World Competitiveness Ranking data. Performance measure 5 assessed Australia as 
marginally less competitive in 2024–25 compared with 2023–24. As Australia did not 
meet the target this was a partially achieved result.
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Treasury has worked with the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority to ensure 
there are no disorderly failures of prudentially regulated entities. In this way Treasury 
is supporting the financial stability of Australia (performance measure 6). Treasury 
monitored trends and economic activity in the financial system that could contribute 
to entity failures. Consistent with the previous year, there were no disorderly failures of 
prudentially regulated entities in 2024–25 and the performance measure was achieved.

The Pillar Two undertaxed profits rule was given domestic effect by primary and 
subordinate legislation in December 2024 (performance measure 7). This is the 
culmination of Treasury’s concerted international engagement on the Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and 
advice to the government. The implementation of this legislation reduces the incentives 
for large multinational entities to shift profits to low tax jurisdictions. Treasury is reporting 
that this measure has been achieved. As this measure is complete it will not be reported 
on in 2025–26.

The Treasury legislation program (performance measure 8) is a mechanism for delivering 
the government’s priorities. The Parliamentary legislation implemented government 
policies and included reforms for taxation, regulation, and scam prevention. The 
Future Made in Australia Act 2024 that passed by Parliament in December 2024 is 
another key legislative measure. Treasury delivered 97 per cent of legislative measures 
committed to during the reporting period and within sitting periods agreed with the 
government. Performance measure 8 is reported as achieved consistent with the prior 
reporting period.

Treasury is responsible for 2 regulatory functions: the foreign investment framework, and 
the Payment Times Reporting Scheme (performance measure 9). A stakeholder survey 
is used to assess Treasury’s performance against the 3 principles of best practice 
regulation set out in Department of Finance guidance (RMG 128).

The assessment of regulatory performance through a stakeholder survey is challenging. 
Treasury continued to implement reforms for the foreign investment framework during 
the period. The Payment Times Reporting Regulator commenced implementation 
of major regulatory reforms that brought significant changes to the framework. 
These framework changes may have influenced survey responses. The foreign 
investment framework and the Payment Times Reporting Scheme reported a partially 
achieved result.
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Key activity 3: Treasury’s external engagements enable 
implementation of the government’s economic and fiscal agenda
Treasury’s external engagement through international and state agreements, 
consultation on policy, economic modelling, programs and legislation, informs and 
enables our key activities. A ministerial feedback questionnaire and stakeholder survey 
were used to assess working relationships with Treasury ministers, portfolio agencies, 
Australian Government entities, and external stakeholders (performance measure 11).

Treasury ministers or their representatives gave positive feedback. The results 
are consistent with prior years. Feedback included improvements to stakeholder 
consultation and good coverage of third-party perspectives. Treasury is reporting that 
performance measure 11 is achieved for the ministerial feedback questionnaire.

A high proportion of Treasury’s collaboration focused on policy development and 
reforms, regulation, legislation and program delivery. Consultation occurred on 
Treasury’s modelling and forecasting activities and on budget, fiscal and economic 
updates, superannuation member services and key elements of the government’s 
retirement reforms. Treasury’s work with states and territories included the delivery of 
the government’s housing agenda and revitalising national competition policy. 

Stakeholders from the Australian Government, states and territories and 
non-government organisations, including peak bodies and those from the 
not-for-profits sector, were surveyed for performance measure 11. Stakeholder 
responses were positive, and this performance measure was achieved.

Treasury works with stakeholders to effectively administer spending arrangements 
under legislation and agreements. All payments to international financial institutions 
(performance measure 12) were administered within legislative requirements 
and agreements, and this measure was achieved. Payments were made to the 
World Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the 
International Monetary Fund. 

Performance measure 13 assesses payments to states and territories administered 
in accordance with the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations 
and other relevant agreements. The payments to states and territories provide 
Commonwealth funding for health services, skills and workforce development, 
housing, homelessness and affordable housing, energy bill relief, education, 
infrastructure and environment to support the government’s agenda. This measure 
was substantially achieved.



25Performance summary 2024–25 

2

Part 2 – Report on performance

Performance summary 2024–25 

Key activity 1: Treasury’s policy advice and analysis 
is impactful, informed and influential

Performance measure 2024–25 target 
Performance 
achieved

Performance measure 1
Proportion of Treasury ministers, key 
government entities and stakeholders 
that rate Treasury advice highly.

83%

Ministerial feedback 
questionnaire

Achieved

80%

Stakeholder survey 

Achieved

Performance measure 2
Variance between actual real Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) and forecast 
real GDP.

Real GDP falls within 
70% confidence interval of 
forecast real GDP.

Achieved

Performance measure 3
Variance between actual total tax receipts 
(excluding company tax) and forecast.

Total tax receipts (excluding 
company tax) for 2024–25 
falls within 70% confidence 
interval of forecast at the 
2024–25 Budget.

Achieved

Performance measure 4
Delivered in line with the requirements of 
the Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998 
(Charter).

100% Achieved
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Key activity 2: Treasury’s implementation of policies 
and regulation supports Australia’s economy and 
national interest

Performance measure 2024–25 target 
Performance 
achieved

Performance measure 5
Australia maintains or improves 
its 2022 score on markets related 
inputs to the World Competitiveness 
Ranking produced by the 
Institute for Management Development.

Competitiveness score >105 Partially 
achieved

Performance measure 6
No disorderly failures of institutions 
prudentially regulated in Australia.

No disorderly failures of 
prudentially regulated 
institutions.

Achieved

Performance measure 7
Treasury contributes to the development 
of the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development Inclusive 
Framework on Base Erosion and Profit 
Shifting Action 1.

Australia implements 
legislation to give domestic 
effect to the undertaxed 
payments rule under Pillar 
Two in accordance with the 
progress and timelines of the 
OECD (subject to government 
decision to implement 
the pillars).

Achieved

Performance measure 8
Proportion of legislative measures 
committed for delivery at the beginning of 
a parliamentary sitting period, adjusted 
for any government reprioritisation of 
legislative measures during the sitting 
period, and compared to the actual 
number delivered.

91% Achieved

Performance measure 9
Proportion of stakeholders that report a 
high level of satisfaction regarding: 

•	 the clarity, transparency, and consistent 
application of Treasury’s regulatory 
frameworks (Regulator Performance 
(RMG 128) Principle 1)

•	 risk-based, data-driven decision making 
(RMG 128 Principle 2)

•	 Treasury’s responsive communication and 
collaboration (RMG 128 Principle 3)

65%

Foreign Investment 
Framework

Partially 
achieved

65%

Payment Times Reporting 
Scheme

Partially 
achieved

Performance measure 10
Treasury has removed performance 
measure 10 for the Payment Times 
Reporting Regulator from the 
Corporate Plan 2024–25 and will not report 
on performance in the 2024–25 period.

Not applicable Not 
applicable
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Key activity 3: Treasury’s external engagements 
enable implementation of the government’s 
economic and fiscal agenda

Performance measure 2024–25 target 
Performance 
achieved

Performance measure 11
Proportion of Treasury ministers, Treasury 
portfolio agencies and regulators, and key 
stakeholders that highly rate working with 
the Treasury.

80%

Ministerial feedback 
questionnaire

Achieved

80%

Stakeholder survey

Achieved

Performance measure 12
Proportion of payments to international 
financial institutions are transferred within 
legislated requirements and agreements.

100% Achieved

Performance measure 13
Proportion of payments to the states 
are delivered within requirements of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal 
Financial Relations and other relevant 
agreements between the Commonwealth 
and the states.

100% Substantially 
achieved
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Key activity 1 – Treasury’s policy advice and analysis 
is impactful, informed and influential

Intended result 1.1
Treasury’s policy advice, including economic and fiscal policy advice, reflects a whole of 
economy view.

Performance measure 1
Proportion of Treasury ministers, key government entities and stakeholders that rate 
Treasury advice highly.(a)

Methodology Independent stakeholder survey with key government entities and 
stakeholders conducted by a third-party provider, and structured interviews 
with Treasury ministers or their delegates. The assessment of the ministerial 
feedback questionnaire will be weighted so that the Treasurer’s responses 
account for 50% of the overall percentage measure. Stakeholder selection is 
governed by transparent stakeholder selection rules.

Target Ministerial feedback questionnaire: 83%

Stakeholder survey: 80%

Data sources Stakeholder lists and responses to the annual stakeholder feedback survey and 
the ministerial feedback questionnaire from Treasury ministers or their delegates.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Ministerial feedback questionnaire: Achieved
100% of Treasury ministers or their delegate provided overall ratings in the 
high-performance range.(b)

Achieved means ≥83% of Treasury ministers or their delegate provide ‘High’ 
overall rating.

Stakeholder survey: Achieved
84% of survey respondents provided overall ratings in the high-performance range.

Achieved means ≥80% of survey respondents provide ‘High’ overall rating.
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Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 and 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved for the 
ministerial feedback questionnaire. All Treasury ministers or their delegates 
provided overall ratings in the high-performance range.

In 2023–24, Treasury reported a result of partially achieved for the stakeholder 
survey with 74% of survey respondents providing a ‘High’ overall rating. In 
2022–23, Treasury reported a result of not achieved for the stakeholder survey 
as 69% of survey respondents provided a ‘High’ overall rating.

In 2021–22, Treasury reported it achieved an effectiveness result of 95% from 
Treasury ministers or their chiefs of staff and 85% from key stakeholders. The 
performance measure assessed the impact of Treasury’s policy advice.(c)

a)	 Key stakeholders involved in the survey are senior executives in other Australian Government entities who 
dealt with Treasury in the past year (1 April 2024 – 31 March 2025).

b)	 The ‘High’ overall rating is the average of responses classified as 3.51 to 5.00 out of 5.00 in accordance with 
the Approach to Calculating Policy Advice detailed in Part 5 – Appendices – Methodology for the Annual 
Stakeholder Survey.

c)	 In 2021–22, the effectiveness result was survey respondents’ rating of Treasury against set questions as an 
indicator of effectiveness and is not directly comparable with the 2022–23, 2023–24 and 2024–25 results.

Analysis

Treasury used structured interviews with Treasury ministers or their representatives and 
surveyed stakeholders to assess its policy advice performance. Treasury engaged an 
external provider to develop and report on the ministerial feedback questionnaire and 
the stakeholder survey. All 5 ministerial interviews were conducted between January 
and March 2025, prior to the Federal Election (interviews usually occur between May 
and June).2 A Treasury deputy secretary conducted the interviews, and the external 
provider attended as an objective observer and note taker.

Treasury introduced a policy advice matrix to the ministerial questionnaire and survey 
in 2022–23 to assess the extent to which its policy advice is informed, influential and 
impactful.3 The matrix provides a more structured and comprehensive assessment of 
Treasury’s advice.

Performance feedback from Treasury ministers and stakeholders is reported separately 
in this analysis.

2	 Interviews were not conducted during the Federal Election. Treasury requires ministers to be in office for a 
minimum of 90 days to participate in the ministerial feedback questionnaire.

3	 The application of the policy advice matrix is detailed in Part 5 – Appendices – Methodology for the Annual 
Stakeholder Survey.
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Ministerial feedback questionnaire

The performance target has been achieved.

The ministerial interviews achieved a 100 per cent response rate and a performance 
result of 100 per cent. Treasury interviewed ministers or their representatives to complete 
the ministerial feedback questionnaire.4 The Assistant Treasurer and Minister for 
Financial Services and the Assistant Minister for Competition, Charities and Treasury 
participated in the interview personally. The Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Forestry and Minister for Small Business was represented by their deputy chief of staff, 
and the Minister for Housing, Minister for Homelessness was represented by their chief of 
staff and senior adviser. The Treasurer was represented by their chief of staff.

Ministerial feedback described Treasury’s advice as evidence based and providing 
a broad perspective on issues. This included housing policy advice that considered 
macroeconomic perspectives and tax policy advice that provided an industry 
perspective. Treasury’s analytical capability and use of longitudinal data was also 
identified as important by our ministerial stakeholders.

The ministerial feedback questionnaire used 3 criteria to assess Treasury’s performance. 
All ministerial stakeholders indicated that Treasury’s advice was informed, influential 
and impactful (100 per cent of ministerial stakeholders rated Treasury highly in each 
of these aspects). This result is consistent with the unanimously high overall ratings 
provided by ministerial stakeholders in 2023–24.

In 2024–25, all ministerial stakeholders were favourable in their assessments of nearly 
all aspects of Treasury’s policy advice. Ministerial stakeholders strongly agreed 
that Treasury’s policy advice was considered in their decision making (100 per cent 
strongly agreed compared to 50 per cent 2023–24) was supported by contemporary 
and up-to-date evidence (100 per cent agreed and strongly agreed compared to 
100 per cent agreement in 2023–24) and part of the process leading to tangible 
outcomes (100 per cent, including 88 per cent that strongly agreed, in line with 
100 per cent strong agreement in 2023–24).

All ministerial stakeholders agreed Treasury’s advice was supported by relevant 
evidence, timely, and resulted in government decisions consistent with the advice. 
Agreement was stronger than in 2023–24. Perceptions that Treasury’s policy advice 
considered the views of relevant stakeholders and experts was slightly lower compared 
to 2023–24 (88 per cent agreed and 13 per cent provided a neutral response).

The 2024–25 results present a consistent improvement in Treasury’s policy advice over 
the 3 reporting periods commencing in 2022–23. 

4	 The ministerial feedback questionnaire asked ministers to rate specific aspects or attributes of Treasury’s 
policy advice on a 5-point ‘agreement’ rating scale. The individual attribute ratings provided by ministers 
were aggregated to derive numerical scores that indicate ‘high’, ‘moderate’ and ‘low’ performance in each 
area, as well as ‘overall’ (the average of ratings for each area).
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Figure 2: Summary of performance results of ministerial interviews

Intro text:   left top artboard
Y axis title (R):  right top artboard
Y axis labels (R): right artboard
Y axis labels (L): 1mm left of Y axis line
Y axis question: left artboard
X axis labels: 3mm below last bar
Key:  3mm below X axis
X axis lines:  aligned to guides
X axis line (L): Black, 0.5pt, bring to front
Other Y axis lines: Grey, 0.3pt, send to back
Bar data (L-R): aligned to guides

Was considered in
our decision-making

Was supported by 
contemporary/

up-to-date evidence

Led to tangible 
outcomes

Was supported by 
relevant evidence

Was tailored 
to your needs

Was timely

Resulted in government 
decisions consistent 

with the advice

Where applicable, 
cnsidered the views of 
relevant stakeholders 

and experts

Strongly Agree Agree Neither Agree nor Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree

In general, Treasury policy advice... Total Agree

100

100

100

100

100

100

50

50

50

88 13

88 13

13

17

17

17

67 33

67

67

67

33

33

33

63 38

63

83

38

63

63

38

33 67

75 25

25

50

50 50

50 50

672023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

2023 (n=4)

2024 (n=4)

2025 (n=5)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

88%

100%

100%

67%

50%

100%

83%

50%

100%

100%

100%

83%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%
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As the Treasurer is the senior minister, and the high volume of interactions with the 
Treasurer and policy coverage, the survey ratings of the Treasurer (or representative) 
were weighted more highly than those of other ministers. The weighting formula had 
the effect that the Treasurer’s responses accounted for 50 per cent of the aggregate 
performance results derived from the survey.
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Stakeholder survey

The performance target has been achieved.

Treasury invited 421 Australian Government entity stakeholders to participate in the 
survey. This is an increase from 403 in 2023–24. The survey had a response rate of 
23 per cent and achieved a performance result of 84 per cent.5 This is a consistent 
improvement from 74 per cent achieved in 2023–24 and 69 per cent in 2022–23. 
A small proportion (11 per cent, down from 23 per cent in 2023–24) provided moderate 
ratings, while a smaller proportion (5 per cent, up from 2 per cent in 2023–24) provided 
low ratings.

Perceptions of Treasury advice being ‘informed’ improved the most. High ratings 
increased to 85 per cent from 73 per cent in 2023–24 and is consistent with 
improvements made in 2022–23 (up from 66 per cent). This was followed by ‘influential’ 
at 83 per cent, an increase from 76 per cent in 2023–24 and 65 per cent in 2022–23. 
Ratings for ‘impactful’ were 69 per cent, an increase from 67 per cent in 2023–24 and 
from 62 per cent in 2022–23. Out of the 3 criteria, stakeholders were least likely to 
perceive Treasury’s advice as ‘impactful’.

Figure 3: Average ratings of stakeholder feedback for the 3 policy criteria
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5	  A response rate of 20 per cent was established as a valid response for the survey.
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Overall ratings were most favourable at 100 per cent for Treasury’s international 
economic policy advice (an increase from 87 per cent in 2023–24). This was followed 
by climate and energy policy advice at 94 per cent (an increase from 73 per cent 
in 2023–24) and macroeconomic policy advice at 91 per cent (an increase from 
82 per cent in 2023–24). The lowest rating in Figure 4 was for Treasury’s housing policy 
advice at 67 per cent, which improved from 59 per cent in 2023–24. Implementing the 
National Interest Framework was included in the survey for the first time. The new policy 
area established a benchmark rating of 75 per cent.

Three of the 15 policy areas received less than 5 responses. This means views of 
individual stakeholders have a greater impact on the results. Year-to-year differences 
may appear more pronounced and should be interpreted with caution. The results for 
these policy areas contribute to the overall result of 84 per cent and have not been 
included in Figure 4.

Treasury’s digital policy advice was rated high by 50 per cent of stakeholders (in line 
with 53 per cent in 2023–24) with 50 per cent rating Treasury as moderate. One-third 
(33 per cent, a decrease from 50 per cent in 2023–24) of stakeholders rated small 
business policy advice as high with 67 per cent providing a moderate rating. The 
not-for-profit entity policy was not rated highly by stakeholders (0 per cent, a decrease 
from 80 per cent in 2023–24), 33 per cent responding with a moderate rating and the 
remaining responses were rated as low (67 per cent).
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Figure 4: Performance results for each area of Treasury’s policy advice
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Intended result 1.2
Treasury forecasts inform policy advice to government and are in an acceptable range 
of variance.

Performance measure 2
Variance between actual real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and forecast real GDP.

Methodology Assessment of the variance between forecasts and outcomes in each year 
for real GDP growth. Real GDP forecasts incorporate assumptions that 
include exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices and population 
growth. The confidence interval is a widely used metric that provides a 
guide to the degree of uncertainty around forecasts. The 70% confidence 
interval means there is a 70% chance that the outcome falls in this range. 
This assumes future forecast errors are consistent with the distribution of 
past forecast errors from 1998–99 onwards.

Target Real GDP falls within 70% confidence interval of forecast real GDP.

Data sources Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian National Accounts: 
National Income, Expenditure and Product and budget papers.(a)

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
The cumulative annualised growth rate for real GDP from 2022–23 to 
2024–25 was 1.3 per cent and was within the 70% confidence interval range 
of 1 to 2¾ per cent as published at the 2024–25 Budget.(b)

Achieved means actual real GDP falls within the 70% confidence interval of 
forecast real GDP.(c)

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved as the cumulative 
annualised growth rate for real GDP from 2021–22 to 2023–24 was 2.3% 
and was within the 70% confidence interval range of 1½ to 3¼ per cent as 
published at the 2023–24 Budget.

This performance measure was introduced in 2022–23 for the purpose of 
performance reporting. In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved 
as the cumulative annualised growth rate for real GDP from 2020–21 to 
2022–23 was 3.5% and was within the 70% confidence interval range of 
3 to 4¾ per cent as published at the 2022–23 March Budget.

a)	 Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian National Accounts: National Income, Expenditure and Product was 
released on 3 September 2025.

b)	 Treasury uses a cumulative annualised growth rate (2 years) consistent with the real GDP methodology 
for Budget Statement 8. This differs from the 2024–25 annual growth rate (one-year) of 1.3% published on 
3 September 2025 in the Australian National Accounts.

c)	 Achieved is assessed as the actual real GDP falling within the 70% confidence interval of forecast real 
GDP and not achieved is assessed as the actual real GDP did not falling within 70% confidence interval of 
forecast real GDP.
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Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

Treasury achieved the target of real GDP falling within the 70 per cent confidence 
interval of the forecast as published in the 2024–25 Budget.

Real GDP forecasts incorporate several assumptions, including those regarding exchange 
rates, interest rates, commodity prices and population growth. Forecasts of a single point 
estimate have a high probability of being incorrect. As a result, a confidence interval is 
used to establish an upper and lower bound to assess performance.

Treasury made large forecast errors in 2019–20 and 2020–21. The forecast error in 
2019–20 was due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2020–21 forecasting error 
illustrated how the economic recovery was significantly stronger than anticipated. After 
falling outside of the 70 per cent confidence interval range in 2019–20 and 2020–21 
due to a range of macroeconomic shocks, forecasts in 2021–22, 2022–23, 2023–24 and 
2024–25 have been more closely aligned with outcomes.

Since the 2024–25 Budget, the economy has experienced relatively fewer external 
shocks than in preceding years. While the aggregate forecasts for real GDP have 
performed relatively well, there have been some compositional differences between 
the outcomes and forecasts. Overall, Treasury’s approach to forecasting has performed 
well over this period. Treasury regularly reviews the methodology and assumptions 
that it uses for its forecasts and will continue to update its approach as economic 
circumstances evolve.
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Figure 5: Treasury real GDP forecasts – performance over time
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Note: 	 Forecasts are from the relevant budget papers and reflect two-year cumulative annualised growth 
rates from the last full financial year of National Accounts data available at the time of forecast. 
Outcomes reflect latest available data using the same methodology. Confidence intervals have 
been calculated based on forecast errors from the 1998–99 Budget onwards and the latest available 
National Accounts data.

Confidence intervals were calculated based on forecast errors for the budget forecasts 
from 1998–99 onwards. The preliminary outcome for average annualised real GDP 
growth from 2022–23 to 2024–25 was within the 70 per cent confidence interval range 
as calculated at the time of Budget 2024–25 and when confidence intervals were 
updated for the latest available data.

The confidence interval is a widely used metric that provides a guide to the degree 
of uncertainty around forecasts, assuming forecast errors are consistent with the 
distribution of past forecast errors. The choice of a 70 per cent confidence interval is 
consistent with the narrower of the 2 confidence intervals. The other confidence interval 
of 90 per cent is published in budget papers.
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Performance measure 3
Variance between actual total tax receipts (excluding company tax) and forecast.

Methodology Assessment of the variance between forecasts and outcomes in each year 
for actual total tax receipts (excluding company tax). Tax receipts forecasts 
are generally prepared using a ‘base plus growth’ methodology. The last 
outcome for each head of revenue is the base to which growth rates are 
applied, using appropriate economic parameters. Estimates for the current 
year also incorporate recent trends in tax collections. The confidence 
interval is a widely used metric that provides a guide to the degree 
of uncertainty around forecasts and a basis for assessing forecasting 
performance. The 70% confidence interval means there is a 70% chance 
that the outcome falls in this range. This assumes future forecast errors are 
consistent with the distribution of past forecast errors from 1998–99 onwards.

Target Total tax receipts (excluding company tax) for 2024–25 falls within 70% 
confidence interval of forecast at the 2024–25 Budget.

Data sources Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian National Accounts: National Income, 
Expenditure and Product, budget papers and Final Budget Outcome.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
Total tax receipts (excluding company tax) in 2024–25 are $519.1 billion, 
$15.5 billion above the 2024–25 Budget forecast of $503.6 billion. This 
variance falls inside the 70% confidence interval of the forecast ($481.0 billion 
to $526.2 billion). 

Achieved means the actual total tax receipts fall within 70% of the 
confidence interval of forecast total tax receipts (excluding company tax).

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24, Treasury reported a result of achieved as total tax receipts 
(excluding company tax) were $492.2 billion, $4.6 billion above the 
2023–24 Budget forecast of $487.6 billion. This variance falls inside the 
70% confidence interval of the forecast ($465.2 billion to $509.9 billion).

This performance measure was introduced in 2022–23. Treasury reported 
a result of not achieved as total tax receipts (excluding company tax) 
were $450.2 billion, $32.0 billion above the 2022–23 Budget forecast of 
$418.2 billion. This variance fell outside of the 70% confidence interval of the 
forecast, exceeding the $437.0 billion upper bound by $13.2 billion.

Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

The 2024–25 variance of $15.5 billion in total tax receipts (excluding company tax) is the 
result of higher-than-expected tax receipts across several heads of revenue including 
gross income tax withholding, gross other individuals, superannuation fund taxes, and 
goods and services tax. These higher-than-expected outcomes were partly offset 
by lower-than-expected excise and customs duty, primarily reflecting lower-than-
expected collections for tobacco excise equivalent duty.

Table 3 and Table 4 contain a summary of the performance measure for 2022–23, 
2023–24 and 2024–25 total tax receipts variance between outcome and forecast, 
excluding company tax (Table 3) and including company tax (Table 4).
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Table 3: Total tax receipts variance between outcome and forecast, excluding 
company tax

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Final Budget Outcome ($b) 450.2 492.2 519.1

Budget forecast ($b) 418.5 487.6 503.6

Variance ($b) 31.8 4.6 15.5

70% confidence interval upper bound 437.0 509.9 526.2

70% confidence interval lower bound 399.9 465.2 481.0

Falls within 70% confidence interval No Yes Yes

Table 4: Total tax receipts variance between outcome and forecast, including 
company tax

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Final Budget Outcome ($b) 601.3 633.4 657.8

Budget forecast ($b) 508.7 616.3 642.7

Variance ($b) 92.6 17.1 15.1

70% confidence interval upper bound 538.1 656.4 683.9

70% confidence interval lower bound 479.2 576.2 601.5

Falls within 70% confidence interval No Yes Yes

Total tax receipts is the sum of all cash receipts received by the government that are 
classified as taxes and reported in budgets and the Final Budget Outcome. Forecasts 
are adjusted for policy decisions and any tax reclassifications announced after the 
Budget which affect the reporting year. Forecasts of a single point estimate have a 
high probability of being incorrect. As a result, a confidence interval is used to establish 
an upper and lower bound to assess performance.

The confidence interval is a widely used metric that provides a guide to the degree 
of uncertainty around forecasts, assuming that forecast errors are consistent with the 
distribution of past forecast errors. The choice of a 70 per cent confidence interval is 
consistent with the narrower of the 2 confidence intervals (the other confidence interval 
being 90 per cent). 

Company tax is excluded from the performance measure as it is significantly more 
sensitive to changes in the economy and can be substantially affected by highly 
volatile commodity prices. The Budget takes a prudent approach to commodity prices 
by using technical assumptions that assume short-term prices revert to conservative 
long-run price assumptions. If company tax was included, this single technical 
assumption has the potential to be a significant driver of both the confidence interval 
and performance measure result. 
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Intended result 1.3
Budgets, fiscal and economic updates are timely and comply with the Charter of 
Budget Honesty.

Performance measure 4
Delivered in line with the requirements of the Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998 (Charter).

Methodology Assessment against the requirements and timeframes for the public release 
of the deliverables set out in the Charter for the 2024–25 reporting period. 
The deliverables for performance reporting are the 2023–24 Final Budget 
Outcome, 2024–25 Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook, 2025–26 Budget. 
Assessment will include Pre-election Economic and Fiscal Outlook, costing of 
election commitments, and additional statement of Commonwealth stock and 
securities only if the relevant conditions of Part 7, 8 or 9 of the Charter are met.

Target 100%

Data sources The released documents for the Budget, Final Budget Outcome, Mid-Year 
Economic and Fiscal Outlook, the Pre-election Economic and Fiscal Outlook 
(if required), the costing of election commitments and additional statement 
of Commonwealth stock and securities (if required).

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
All 4 deliverables were publicly released in line with the requirements and 
within the timeframes of the Charter.

Achieved means 100% of deliverables were publicly released in line with the 
requirements and within the timeframes of the Charter.(a)

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2021–22, 2022–23 and 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved 
with 100% of deliverables publicly released in line with the requirements and 
within the timeframes of the Charter.(b)

a)	 Achieved is assessed as 100 per cent of deliverables required under the Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998 
(the Charter) are released within the timeframes and not achieved is assessed as less than 100 per cent of 
deliverables required under the Charter are released within the timeframes.

b)	 Treasury’s performance is assessed against the number of deliverables required under the Charter for the 
reporting period. The number of deliverables for the period will vary depending on the requirements of 
the Charter.

Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

Requirements and timeframes of the Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998 (Charter) have 
been met. Treasury used the timeliness measure as a proxy for efficiency.



41Performance summary 2024–25 

2

Part 2 – Report on performance

In line with the Charter, Treasury worked with the Treasurer’s office, Treasury ministers, 
and the Australian Public Service to prepare and publish the: 

	� 2023–24 Final Budget Outcome

	� 2024–25 Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook (MYEFO) 

	� 2025–26 Budget

	� 2025 Pre-election Economic and Fiscal Outlook (PEFO).

The 2023–24 Final Budget Outcome met the Charter requirement for the Treasurer 
to publicly release and table the report by 30 September 2024. The report was 
publicly released on 30 September 2024 and tabled in the Senate and the House 
of Representatives on 8 October 2024. The report met the relevant Charter content 
requirements for a Final Budget Outcome report to contain Commonwealth budget 
sector and Commonwealth general government sector fiscal outcomes for the 
financial year. 

The 2024–25 MYEFO met the Charter requirement for the Treasurer to publicly release 
and table the papers by 31 January 2025, or within 6 months after the last budget 
(by 13 November 2024), whichever is later. The MYEFO papers were publicly released 
on 18 December 2024 and tabled on 23 January 2025, with tabling occurring out of 
the sitting period. The papers met the relevant Charter content requirements for a 
MYEFO report.

The 2025–26 Budget met the Charter requirement for the Treasurer to publicly release 
and table the papers. The papers were publicly released and tabled on 25 March 2025. 
The papers met the relevant Charter content requirements for a budget report.

The 2025 PEFO met the Charter requirement for the Treasury Secretary and the 
Finance Secretary to publicly release the report by 10 April 2025. The report was publicly 
released on the 7 April 2025 and met the relevant Charter content requirements for a 
PEFO report.

During the caretaker period for the 2025 Federal Election, Treasury did not receive any 
requests for costings of tax revenue-related policies. In the lead up to and during the 
caretaker period for the 2025 Federal Election Treasury worked with the Department 
of Finance to issue updated Charter of Budget Honesty Policy Costing Guidelines. 
Treasury and Finance also issued a media release on the process for public release of 
any requests, completed costings or related information during the caretaker period.

No additional statement about Commonwealth stock and securities was required. 
The actual face value of Commonwealth stock and securities did not increase by 
$50 billion or more between the 2024–25 Budget and the 2024–25 MYEFO or between 
the 2024–25 MYEFO and the 2025–26 Budget.

These deliverables are the outcome of Treasury’s policy advice, analysis, forecasting 
and consultation that are assessed through other performance measures and 
contribute to strong and sustainable economic and fiscal outcomes.
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Key activity 2 – Treasury’s implementation of 
policies and regulation supports Australia’s 
economy and national interest

Intended result 2.1
Treasury’s policy advice on markets and regulator issues assists the Australian economy 
to be competitive and key markets to be dynamic.

Performance measure 5
Australia maintains or improves its 2022 score on markets related inputs to the World 
Competitiveness Ranking produced by the Institute for Management Development.(a) 

Methodology The Institute for Management Development (IMD) produces a World 
Competitiveness Ranking based on a range of criteria. Fifteen of these 
criteria relate to the Treasury in the areas of policy responsibility for financial 
system, investment, retirement incomes, provisions of actuarial services, and 
corporations, competition, and consumer data and law. Other performance 
measures do not assess these policy areas. IMD calculates the average 
value for each economy for publication in the IMD World Competitiveness 
Yearbook each year. Treasury will use the results against the 15 criteria to 
construct a competitiveness score relevant to this performance measure as 
an indicator of Treasury’s policy effectiveness.

Target Competitiveness score of >105.

The target is based on the 2022 results for 15 criteria of the World 
Competitiveness Rankings.

Data sources Institute for Management Development World Competitiveness Rankings 
Results 2025.

Source Program 1.3 – Support for Markets and Business

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Partially Achieved
Australia’s competitiveness score for 2024–25 was 98 against a target of 105.

Partially achieved means Australia’s competitiveness score is between 94 to 
98.(b)

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of substantially achieved with 
Australia’s competitiveness score of 102 against a target of 105.

This performance measure was introduced in 2022–23. In 2022–23 Treasury 
reported a result of substantially achieved with Australia’s competitiveness 
score of 100 against a target of 105.

a)	 Institute for Management Development (IMD) World Competitiveness Ranking: IMD World Competitiveness 
Centre, Switzerland.

b)	 Achieved is assessed as Australia maintains or increases a score of 105. Substantially achieved is assessed 
as a score of 99 to 104. Partially achieved is assessed as a score of 94 to 98. Not achieved is assessed as a 
score that falls below 94.



43Performance summary 2024–25 

2

Part 2 – Report on performance

Analysis

The performance target has been partially achieved.

This is the third year Treasury has assessed performance using this methodology and 
external data sourced from the World Competitiveness Ranking produced by the IMD 
on competitiveness. Treasury developed a target ‘competitiveness score’ of 105 based 
on the 2022 data using 15 criteria published by the IMD.

The 15 criteria represent areas of Treasury’s policy responsibility for financial system, 
investment, retirement incomes, provision of actuarial services, and corporations, 
competition, and consumer data and law. The 15 criteria related to market performance 
as an indication of Treasury’s policy outcomes. These areas of policy responsibility are 
not assessed through other Treasury performance measures. The score is determined 
by a survey of business executives conducted independently by the Committee for 
Economic Development of Australia (CEDA) using the methodology set out by the IMD. 
Treasury aggregated the individual survey results against each of the 15 criteria for 2024 
to determine the competitiveness score of 98.

The total competitiveness score reported this year is lower than previous years. The 
total score for 2024–25 is 98, a four-point decrease compared to the previous year. 

Table 5: World Competitiveness Ranking score, 2021–22 to 2024–25

2021–22 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Score 105 100 102 98

Compared to the prior year (2023–24), Treasury noted a significant improvement in score 
for the ‘pension funding is adequately addressed for the future’ criteria (an increase 
greater that 0.5 compared to 2023–24). This improvement may relate to initiatives to 
strengthen Australia’s regulatory environment, including a series of targeted reforms 
and regulatory enhancements within Treasury’s portfolio, such as: 

	� the 2024 issuance by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission of final 
rules and information for the Financial Accountability Regime, and

	� the 2024 updates by the Australian Prudential Regulatory Agency to key prudential 
standards for superannuation.

Treasury noted decreases compared to 2023–24 of less than 1 point in scores for:

	� bureaucracy does not hinder business activity

	� credit is easily available for business

	� banking and financial services do support business activities efficiently

	� creation of firms is supported by legislation

	� cost of capital encourages business development, and

	� legal and regulatory framework encourages the competitiveness of enterprises.
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While the report does not cite specific proposals that led to the reduced scores, it is 
consistent with other concerns from the business community around the cumulative 
impact of increased regulation. It is important to clarify that highlighting external 
factors and Treasury’s work is not intended to imply a direct causal relationship to 
the score.

Treasury continues to provide advice on a range of policy issues related to the 
functioning of markets. This includes the financial system, corporate conduct, retirement 
incomes, consumer policy, and competition policy and investment. If the policy issues 
were agreed and implemented, Treasury would expect its scores to increase on these 
and other measures in coming years.

Intended result 2.2
Treasury’s policy advice on the prudential regulatory framework contributes to the 
stability of Australia’s financial system and provides confidence to consumers and 
investors, supporting economic growth.

Performance measure 6
No disorderly failures of institutions prudentially regulated in Australia.

Methodology A disorderly failure of a prudentially regulated institution occurs when there 
is material disruption to the critical economic functions and services that 
the institution provides, and that this results in significant impacts on the 
financial system and the wider economy.

Treasury will rely on regular bilateral engagement with the Australian 
Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) to obtain information on prudentially 
regulated institutions that have failed or are at significant risk of failure.

Target No disorderly failures of prudentially regulated institutions.

Data sources Australian Prudential Regulation Authority data for the Money Protection 
Ratio and register of prudentially regulated entities at the beginning and 
end of the relevant reporting period.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
There were no disorderly failures of prudentially regulated institutions.

Achieved means no disorderly failures of prudentially regulated institutions 
in Australia during 2024–25.(a)

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2022–23 and 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved with no 
disorderly failures of prudentially regulated institutions. This performance 
measure was introduced in 2022–23.

a)	 Achieved is assessed as no disorderly failures of prudentially regulated institutions and not achieved is 
assessed as at least one disorderly failure of a prudentially regulated institution.
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Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

In the reporting period of 2024–25, there were no disorderly failures of prudentially 
regulated entities in Australia. There were 1,513 prudentially regulated institutions in 
Australia at the commencement of the reporting period. Treasury analysis revealed a 
net decrease of 359 regulated entities. Eleven new entities entered while 370 ceased 
over the reporting period. Of the 370 entities that ceased, 244 small super funds 
exited through member consent, 66 had a successor fund transfer, 20 had their license 
revoked, 14 underwent Australian Taxation Office transfer, 9 entities were wound up, and 
17 had other methods of transfer. In addition to the entities that exited and entered, 
11 existing entities changed their names over the reporting period.

Treasury determined that all exits between 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025 were entity 
led and part of business-as-usual operations. That is, there were no losses due to 
prudential failures for depositors, policy holders or superannuation members.

Treasury maintains a close working relationship with APRA to ensure disorderly failures 
of institutions do not occur. Over the reporting period, Treasury closely monitored trends 
and economic activity in the financial system that could contribute to entity failures, 
including through meetings of the Council of Financial Regulators. In the instance of an 
entity failure, Treasury would support APRA in facilitating the orderly exit or resolution 
of the entity based on the specific circumstance of the entity in question. Treasury 
would also engage with the Reserve Bank of Australia and Australian Securities and 
Investment Commission, as relevant to the circumstances.
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Intended result 2.3
Treasury’s policy advice and implementation of policy for the tax system supports a 
stable, resilient and sustainable economy.

Performance measure 7 
Treasury contributes to the development of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Action 1.

Methodology Treasury is contributing to the development of the Base Erosion and 
Profit Shifting Action 1 Pillars One and Two as part of the Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Inclusive Framework. 
Treasury will demonstrate its contribution through continuing advice 
to government, stakeholder consultation, participation in international 
negotiation and bilateral engagement, and liaison with other government 
agencies. Treasury will assess the supporting evidence against the  
pre-determined criteria to determine progress towards the targets.

Target Australia implements legislation to give domestic effect to the undertaxed 
payments rule under Pillar Two in accordance with the progress and timelines 
of the OECD (subject to government decision to implement the pillars).

Data sources Records of advice to government; records of OECD meetings and other 
working party meetings; bilateral, government agency and external 
stakeholder meetings.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
Australia implemented legislation to give domestic effect to the undertaxed 
payments rule under Pillar Two in accordance with the progress and 
timelines of the OECD.

Achieved means Australia completed all components of the target.

Performance 
achieved over 
time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of not achieved as Australia did not 
sign the Pillar One Multilateral Convention and implement legislation to give 
domestic effect to a domestic minimum tax and the income inclusion rule 
under Pillar Two.

This performance measure was introduced in 2022–23. In 2022–23 Treasury 
reported a result of on-track to achieve the 2023–24 target.
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Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

The Pillar Two undertaxed profits rule (UTPR – formerly the ‘undertaxed payments rule’) 
was the final element of the Pillar Two framework to be implemented in Australia: 

	� Primary legislation: the Taxation (Multinational—Global and Domestic Minimum Tax) 
Act 2024 and Taxation (Multinational—Global and Domestic Minimum Tax) Imposition 
Act 2024, passed both Houses of Parliament on 26 and 27 November 2024 and 
received Royal Assent on 10 December 2024. 

	� Subordinate legislation: the Taxation (Multinational—Global and Domestic 
Minimum Tax) Rules 2024 was published on the Federal Register of Legislation on 
23 December 2024. 

The Pillar Two framework as implemented in Australia includes a global minimum tax 
(comprised of the income inclusion rule and the UTPR) and a domestic minimum tax. 
The domestic implementation of the income inclusion rule and the domestic minimum 
tax apply to income years starting on or after 1 January 2024. Taxes payable under the 
UTPR apply in relation to fiscal years starting on or after 1 January 2025. 

Domestic implementation of the UTPR demonstrates Australia’s contribution to the 
development of the OECD Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting 
Action 1. The aim of Action 1 was to address the challenges of the digital economy, and 
Pillar Two specifically aims to stop the ‘race to the bottom’ on corporate taxes. 

With the implementation of these measures, Australia joins approximately 
70 jurisdictions that have announced or taken steps to introduce key elements of 
Pillar Two. Australia’s implementation, together with this wider consensus, reduces 
the incentives for large multinational entities to shift profits to low tax jurisdictions by 
imposing a minimum rate of corporate tax of 15 per cent.

As this performance measure has been achieved, Treasury will not continue reporting in 
2025–26 and the forward years.

https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FC2024A00132%2Fasmade%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354370812%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=42LMqayTaUZXtGvpceSj%2BAHRZNuyeep8ahbfQZrm59E%3D&reserved=0
https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FC2024A00132%2Fasmade%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354370812%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=42LMqayTaUZXtGvpceSj%2BAHRZNuyeep8ahbfQZrm59E%3D&reserved=0
https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FC2024A00133%2Fasmade%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354352762%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wZOD9GhpMbascfbR6JPnKqVLikXsBwZVBEZUt%2F5D9YU%3D&reserved=0
https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FC2024A00133%2Fasmade%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354352762%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wZOD9GhpMbascfbR6JPnKqVLikXsBwZVBEZUt%2F5D9YU%3D&reserved=0
https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FF2024L01740%2Flatest%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354392296%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=SVfK%2BXuxjNEZaucfiEIa9MeA3UyfRY0%2FMEwc8TxkUaw%3D&reserved=0
https://aus01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.au%2FF2024L01740%2Flatest%2Ftext&data=05%7C02%7CHenry.Addison%40TREASURY.GOV.AU%7C18f5ed1fe95e4ee913af08dd23052ee4%7C214f1646202147cc8397e3d3a7ba7d9d%7C0%7C0%7C638705227354392296%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=SVfK%2BXuxjNEZaucfiEIa9MeA3UyfRY0%2FMEwc8TxkUaw%3D&reserved=0
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Intended result 2.4
Treasury’s delivery of the legislative program is in line with the government’s priorities 
and within the required timeframes.

Performance measure 8
Proportion of legislative measures committed for delivery at the beginning of a 
Parliamentary sitting period, adjusted for any government reprioritisation of legislative 
measures during the sitting period, and compared to the actual number delivered.

Methodology Calculation of the legislative measures committed for delivery, adjusted 
for reprioritisation, and compared with the legislative measures actually 
delivered. Treasury manages and delivers legislative measures during 
Parliamentary sitting periods. Accordingly, Treasury assesses performance 
based on the sequence of Winter and Spring Parliamentary sitting periods in 
one calendar year and Autumn Parliamentary sitting period in the following 
calendar year. This provides the best alignment with the performance 
reporting period. To provide a more accurate synopsis of Treasury’s delivery 
of the government’s legislative agenda we have excluded routine, annual or 
minor and technical legislative measures from the performance measures. 
Treasury assesses performance against the delivery of legislative measures 
that implement priority policies as announced by government.

Target 91%

Data sources Treasury’s legislative program provides a record of the government’s current 
legislative priorities in the Treasury portfolio, which Treasury track through 
a records management database. The Bills and Legislation page on the 
Parliament of Australia website is a second data source confirming date 
of introduction and passage of primary legislation. The Federal Register 
of Legislation also provides a second data source confirming the date of 
instrument registration.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
Treasury delivered an average of 97% of measures committed for delivery 
across the sitting periods. 

Achieved means 91% or greater of legislative measures delivered as 
committed with adjustment for reprioritisation.(a)

Performance 
achieved over 
time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved with an average of 
97% of measures committed for delivery across the sitting periods.

In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved with an average of 
98% of measures committed for delivery across the sitting periods. 

In 2021–22 Treasury reported a result of achieved with an average of 
94% of measures committed for delivery across the sitting periods.

a)	 Achieved is assessed as ≥91% of legislative measures delivered, substantially achieved is assessed as 86% 
to 90%, partially achieved is assessed as 80% to 85%, and not achieved is assessed as <80%.
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Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

In 2024–25 Treasury delivered 97 per cent of legislative measures committed for delivery 
during the reporting period. This included the delivery of 105 legislative measures. 
This does not account for the entirety of the Treasury legislative program, as not all 
measures are used to assess performance, such as administrative measures.

Treasury continues to liaise with the portfolio ministers’ offices to ensure alignment 
of Treasury’s legislation program with the government’s priorities. Treasury continues 
to hold regular briefing processes. This ensures that the Treasurer and other portfolio 
ministers agree to the legislation program for an upcoming sitting prior to the sitting 
period commencing, but also during a sitting period to agree to the reprioritisation 
of measures. 

During the reporting period Treasury reprioritised 40 legislative measures to include 
them in the program in response to the government’s priorities. They included: 

	� the Future Made in Australia Bill 2024 in the Winter 2024 sitting period

	� Help to Buy Bill 2023 in Spring 2024, and

	� Treasury Laws Amendment (More Cost of Living Relief) Bill 2025 in Autumn 2025.

Treasury managed these changes to the legislation program by reprioritising 
96 legislative measures to later sitting periods, as agreed by the Treasurer and 
portfolio ministers.

This year has been particularly dynamic for Treasury’s legislation program. The 
announcement of the Federal Election on 28 March 2025 and subsequent caretaker 
period altered the usual change management process of Treasury’s legislation 
program. The calling of the Federal Election resulted in the dissolution of the House of 
Representatives and the commencement of the government’s caretaker conventions. 
As such, any remaining bills in Parliament and planned bills for upcoming sitting periods 
were placed on hold until an incoming government was announced.

With the dissolution of the Parliament, and the legislation program falling outside of 
ordinary matters of administration, Treasury was unable to proceed with the planned 
legislation program for the 2025 Autumn sittings or communicate to the ministerial 
offices the decision to put the remaining legislation program on hold. This was 
consistent with the government’s caretaker conventions. The impact to the program 
was low, as once the incoming government was announced and a revised sitting 
calendar was released. Treasury undertook a prioritisation process with the remaining 
legalisation program to determine the outcome of the scheduling of the program to be 
agreed by the Treasurer.
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Intended result 2.5
Treasury’s regulatory functions:

	� Treasury administers Australia’s foreign investment framework consistent with 
Australia’s national and economic interests.

	� Treasury administers the Payments Times Reporting Scheme to improve the payment 
terms, times and practices of large businesses towards their small business suppliers 
and improve payment outcomes for small businesses.

Performance measure 9
Proportion of stakeholders that report a high level of satisfaction regarding:

	� the clarity, transparency, and consistent application of Treasury’s regulatory 
frameworks (Regulator Performance (RMG 128) Principle 1)

	� risk-based, data driven decision making (RMG 128 Principle 2)

	� Treasury’s responsive communication and collaboration (RMG 128 Principle 3).

Methodology Independent surveys conducted by a third-party provider with foreign 
investment framework and Payment Times Reporting Scheme stakeholders. 
Stakeholder selection and questions that align with the Regulator 
Performance Principles will be governed by transparent stakeholder 
selection rules. Treasury will report separately on its regulatory functions for 
the foreign investment framework and Payments Times Reporting Scheme.

Target 65%

Data sources Responses to the annual stakeholder survey and stakeholder lists.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury and Program 1.3 – Support for 
Markets and Business

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Foreign Investment Framework: Partially achieved
58% of survey respondents provided a rating of agree or strongly agree to 
the survey questions.(a)

Partially achieved means 55 to 59% of survey respondents provided an 
agree or strongly agree rating for applicable questions.(b)

Payment Times Reporting Scheme: Partially achieved
55% of survey respondents provided a rating of agree or strongly agree to 
the survey questions.

Partially achieved means 55 to 59% of survey respondents provided an 
agree or strongly agree rating for applicable questions.

https://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/regulator-performance-rmg-128
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/regulator-performance-rmg-128
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Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 the Foreign Investment Framework reported a result of partially 
achieved with 57% and in 2022–23 an indicative performance result of 67%.

In 2023–24 the Payment Times Reporting Scheme reported a result of 
substantially achieved with 61% and in 2022–23 a result of partially achieved 
with 57%.

The performance achieved for 2021–22 was not comparable with 
the 2022–23 results for the Foreign Investment Framework and the 
Payment Times Reporting Scheme.

a)	 The performance result was calculated as an average of the percentage of survey respondents who 
provided ratings of 4 (agree) or 5 (strongly agree) on a 5-point scale for applicable question items.

b)	 Achieved is assessed as ≥65% of survey respondents who provide ratings of 4 (agree) or 5 (strongly agree, 
substantially achieved is assessed as 60 to 64%, partially achieved is assessed as 55 to 59%, and not 
achieved is assessed as <55%.

Analysis

Treasury used structured key stakeholder surveys to measure the department’s 
administration of regulator functions. Treasury engaged an external provider to 
develop, conduct, and report on the regulator surveys. Separate surveys were 
conducted for each of Treasury’s regulators. The survey questions were specific to each 
regulator and were designed to address the 3 best practice principles of the Regulator 
Performance Resource Management Guide (RMG) 128:6

1.	 Continuous improvement and building trust

2.	 Risk-based and data-driven

3.	 Collaboration and engagement.

Treasury’s regulators are reported separately within this analysis. Senior executives will 
discuss the feedback, and the results will be used to improve performance.

Foreign Investment Framework

The performance target has been partially achieved.

A total of 51 stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework completed the survey. 
The stakeholder survey for the Foreign Investment Framework received a 24 per cent 
response rate and a performance result of 58 per cent. This was consistent with the 
result achieved in 2023–24 (57 per cent).

During 2024–25, Treasury continued to implement reforms announced in May 2024 
to streamline low-risk investment, strengthen scrutiny and compliance in relation 
to high-risk investment, and improve transparency. A new online investor portal 
was launched.

6	  www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/regulator-performance-rmg-128 

http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/regulator-performance-rmg-128
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Performance against the best practice principles

The survey responses have been used to assess Treasury’s performance against the 
3 principles of best practice regulation set out in Department of Finance guidance. 

Treasury’s performance for clarity, transparency, and consistent application under 
Principle 1 was mixed. There was a strong response from stakeholders of the Foreign 
Investment Framework indicating they understood Treasury’s role in facilitating 
economic investment and maintaining Australia’s national interests in administering 
the foreign investment regulatory settings (81 per cent). Stakeholders agreed Treasury 
has a consistent approach in its administration of the Foreign Investment Framework 
(67 per cent agreed). They were less positive about the clarity of regulated entities’ 
obligations under the Framework (45 per cent) and Treasury’s approach to monitoring 
and enforcing compliance (42 per cent).

Survey responses for Treasury’s risk-based and data driven decision-making for 
Principle 2 identified that most stakeholders (80 per cent) agreed Treasury seeks to 
assist regulated entities that act in good faith and demonstrate a willingness to comply. 
In a positive result (63 per cent agreed) stakeholders reported Treasury’s approach in 
administering the Foreign Investment Framework is consistent with imposing the least 
possible burden on the regulated. This result is a 30 per cent increase from the previous 
year’s result.

There was a broad range of responses (34 to 73 per cent) in relation to Principle 3 for 
Treasury’s responsive communication and collaboration. Stakeholders were most 
positive about the guidance and information about the Foreign Investment Framework 
(73 per cent). Stakeholders responded positively that Treasury’s decisions and actions 
are undertaken in a timely manner (65 per cent). A lower proportion felt Treasury’s 
guidance and information was timely (47 per cent) and sufficient (34 per cent).
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Figure 6: Treasury’s performance – alignment of the Foreign Investment 
Framework results with the best practice principles
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Overview of survey results

The majority of stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework agreed that 
Treasury seeks to assist entities (80 per cent, an increase from 73 per cent in 2023–24). 
There were fewer positive perceptions about the clarity of obligations of regulated 
entities (45 per cent, in line with 46 per cent in 2023–24) and Treasury’s receptiveness 
to feedback on its regulatory approach (44 per cent, a decrease from 70 per cent in 
2023–24). There was an improvement in survey responses on the clarity of Treasury’s 
approach to monitoring and enforcing compliance (42 per cent, an increase from 
36 per cent in 2023–24).

Figure 7: Treasury’s performance – all stakeholders of the Foreign Investment 
Framework, comparison of 2024 and 2025 
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*2024 question wording: Treasury is receptive to feedback from external stakeholders on its regulatory activities
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Base:	 All key stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework

Most stakeholders, excluding representatives from regulated entities and investors, 
agreed Treasury has a consistent approach in its administration of the Foreign 
Investment Framework (67 per cent, a decrease from 78 per cent in 2023–24).7 
Stakeholder responses to Treasury’s decisions and actions being timely, taking into 
consideration the complexity and nature of the matter, were similar to the prior year 
(65 per cent in 2024–25 compared to 70 per cent in 2023–24). There was a significant 

7	 Stakeholders excluding or other than representatives from regulated entities and investors include members 
of the Law Council’s Foreign Investment Committee, active members of the Foreign Investment Review 
Board, senior officers from Australian Government entities and senior executives from other organisations.
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increase in agreement from stakeholders (other than representatives from regulated 
entities and investors) that Treasury consistently imposed the least possible regulatory 
burden (63 per cent agreed, an increase from 33 per cent in 2023–24).

Figure 8: Treasury’s performance – stakeholders other than investors and/
or representatives of regulated entities of the Foreign Investment Framework, 
comparison of 2024 and 2025

Strongly Agree Agree Neither Agree nor Disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree

*2024 question wording: Treasury is receptive to feedback from external stakeholders on its regulatory activities
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Base: 	 Key stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework other than representatives/ senior executives of 
regulated entities/ investors

As in previous years, stakeholders were most positive about the accessibility 
(73 per cent agreed, an increase from 69 per cent in 2023–24) and clarity (55 per cent 
agreed, a decrease from 58 per cent in 2023–24) of Treasury’s guidance and 
information. Less than half of stakeholders agreed that guidance and information was 
timely (47 per cent agreed, an increase from 44 per cent in 2023–24) and sufficient 
(34 per cent agreed, a decrease from 45 per cent in 2023–24).

Foreign Investment Framework stakeholders for 2024–25 included:

	� investors and/or agents of regulated entities

	� senior officers (Executive Level 2 and above) from Australian Government entities 
and senior executives from other organisations

	� investors and/or agents of regulated entities who have a Treasury client manager

	� non-executive members of the Foreign Investment Review Board

	� members of the Law Council’s Foreign Investment Committee.
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Payment Times Reporting Scheme

The performance target has been partially achieved.

A total of 185 Payment Times Reporting Scheme (the scheme) stakeholders completed 
the survey.8 The survey received a response rate of 21 per cent and a performance result 
of 55 per cent.

During 2024–25, the Payment Times Reporting Regulator (the regulator) implemented 
major regulatory reforms announced by the government in response to the 2023 
statutory review of the Payment Times Reporting Act 2020. Significant changes were 
made to the regulatory framework through the Payment Times Reporting Amendment 
Act 2024 (Amendment Act) and the Payment Times Reporting Rules 2024 commencing 
on 7 September 2024 and 13 September 2024 respectively.

The reforms introduced new definitions and obligations for all reporting entities. New 
reporting requirements took effect on or after 1 July 2024. The Amendment Act made 
provision for an automatic 3-month extension meaning reports for the 6-month period 
1 July to 31 December 2024 were due on 30 June 2025.

The reforms require new ICT infrastructure that is being delivered in tranches. Delivery 
slippage in the ICT infrastructure project required risk-based decisions, balancing 
functionality with timing of delivery. The ICT infrastructure continues to be rolled out with 
enhanced functionality for a better user experience and administrative efficiency gains.

The regulator invested heavily in stakeholder consultations on the guidance materials 
from October to December 2024. Following stakeholder feedback the guidance was 
enhanced and re-issued in March 2025 with greater clarity about the requirements, and 
supplementary guidance materials on reporting fields. 

Stakeholder engagement at the stakeholder liaison forums has and continues to 
trend upwards. Over the 12 months to February 2025, we had a 186 per cent increase 
in stakeholder attendance and the number of organisations represented increased by 
147 per cent. Between March to May 2025, the regulator delivered 4 education technical 
workshops ‘Getting Ready for New Reporting’ with over 2,700 participants attending. 

A refreshed Payment Times Reporting Portal went live on 1 May 2025. It provides 
functionality for reporting entity information and reports required under the 
reformed Scheme to be submitted to the regulator prior to 30 June 2025 as required 
by legislation.

Over the course of 2024–25, administering both the original scheme, implementing the 
reformed scheme and ICT infrastructure project presented challenges. Stakeholder 
expectations, user experience and reputational risk were, and continue to be, 
key considerations.

8	 Payment Times Reporting Scheme stakeholders for this survey are representatives from regulated entities, 
industry bodies, professional advisers and senior officers from Australian Government entities.

https://paymenttimes.gov.au/guidance/regulatory-resources/guidance-materials
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The year in review was a period of significant change for the scheme and the regulator 
where stakeholder engagement increased well above previous years. Increased 
stakeholder engagement was reflected in the numbers of stakeholders invited to 
participate in the survey, 888 in 2024–25 compared to 192 in 2023–24.

The 2024–25 results are positive outcomes resulting from risk-based decisions and 
careful stakeholder management during a period of significant change.

Performance against the best practice principles

The survey responses were used to assess the regulator performance against the 
3 principles of best practice regulation set out in Department of Finance guidance.9 
Stakeholder responses were most positive in relation to Principle 1, with 46 to 69 per cent 
favourable about the clarity, transparency and consistent application of the regulatory 
frameworks. The accessibility of information on reporting requirements (69 per cent), 
the consistency in the regulator delivering its functions (67 per cent) and transparency 
(66 per cent) were rated most favourably by the scheme’s stakeholders.

Ratings were lower for risk-based, data driven decision making under Principle 2. Around 
half stakeholders agreed the regulator includes context and supporting information 
about why particular areas are targeted in its compliance program (57 per cent 
agreed), and focuses compliance activity where the risks of inaccurate, late or 
non-reporting are greatest (49 per cent agreed).

Perceptions of the regulator’s responsive communication and collaboration for 
Principle 3 were mixed. Two-thirds of stakeholders agreed the regulator provides 
guidance and information that was accessible (66 per cent) and provides opportunities 
for feedback (66 per cent). Stakeholders were less positive about the regulator’s 
guidance and information being clear (46 per cent), sufficient (44 per cent) and timely 
(42 per cent).

9	  Regulator Performance (RMG 128).
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Figure 9: The regulator’s performance – alignment of the Payment Times 
Reporting Scheme results with the best practice principles
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Overview of survey results 

Stakeholder ratings for the scheme were mixed. Around two-thirds of stakeholders 
agreed information on reporting requirements is accessible (69 per cent, a decrease 
from 76 per cent in 2023–24), that the regulator has a consistent approach in 
delivering its functions (67 per cent, a decrease from 73 per cent in 2023–24), provides 
opportunities for feedback (66 per cent, a decrease from 86 per cent in 2023–24), and 
is transparent in its approach to compliance and enforcement (66 per cent, an increase 
from 59 per cent in 2023–24).

Stakeholders were less positive about Treasury’s compliance activity relative to 
risks (49 per cent agreed, an increase from 43 per cent in 2023–24) and the clarity of 
information about reporting requirements (46 per cent a decrease from 49 per cent 
in 2023–24).
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Figure 10: The regulator’s performance – all stakeholders of the Payment Times 
Reporting Scheme, comparison of 2024 and 2025
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Base: 	 All key stakeholders of the Payment Times Reporting Scheme

Among those stakeholders that participated in stakeholder liaison forums, engagement 
and consultations between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, less than half (45 per cent, 
slightly higher than 40 per cent in 2023–24) agreed that the regulator uses feedback to 
improve its resources and processes.
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Figure 11: The regulator’s performance – stakeholder liaison forums, stakeholder 
engagement or consultations in 2024–25 – Payment Times Reporting Scheme
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Base: 	 Key stakeholders of the Payment Times Reporting Scheme who participated in the regulator’s 
stakeholder liaison forums, stakeholder engagement or consultations.

Stakeholders were most positive about the accessibility of guidance and information 
(66 per cent, a decrease from 76 per cent in 2023–24). They were less favourable about 
guidance and information being clear (46 per cent, no change from 2023–24), sufficient 
(44 per cent, a decrease from 58 per cent in 2023–24) and timely (42 per cent, a 
decrease from 63 per cent in 2023–24). 

In 2024–25 the regulator implemented major reforms through the Payment Times 
Reporting Amendment Act 2024 and the Payment Times Reporting Rules 2024 which 
commenced in September 2024. The reforms introduced a new definition of a reporting 
entity, and new requirements applied to reporting periods commencing on or after 
1 July 2024.

The regulator engaged with stakeholders on the reforms and reporting requirements, 
including consultation on the legislative framework and guidance material 
complemented by educational workshops attended by almost 3,000 participants. 
Stakeholder respondents increased from 42 in 2023–24 to 184 in 2024–25. There 
were 888 stakeholders invited to participate in the survey 2024–25 compared with 
192 in 2023–24. While the response rate was maintained (22 per cent in 2023–24 
and 21 per cent 2024–25) a significant number of stakeholders chose not to 
provide feedback.

Stakeholders were senior management from regulated entities, industry bodies, 
professional advisers identified on the regulator’s stakeholder liaison list and senior 
officers from Australian Government entities.
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Performance measure 10
Treasury removed performance measure 10 for the Payment Times Reporting Regulator 
as outlined in the Corporate Plan 2024–25 and will not report on performance in the 
2024–25 period.

Source PBS Program 1.3 – Support for Markets and Business

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Reporting is not required in 2024–25.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of substantially achieved with 84% of 
entities registered to report compared to the number of entities required to 
be registered to report.(a)

Treasury reported a result of partially achieved with 72% of entities 
registered to report compared to the number of entities required to be 
registered to report.(b)

The performance results from prior years will not be comparable with 
2025–26 reporting.

a)	 Achieved is assessed as ≥85% of regulated entities registered as a reporting entity, substantially achieved is 
assessed as 80 to 84%, partially achieved is assessed as 75 to 79%, and not achieved is assessed as <75%.

b)	 In 2022–23 partially achieved was assessed as 70 to 74% of regulated entities registered as a reporting 
entity.

Analysis

Treasury is implementing major reforms to the Payment Times Reporting Scheme 
announced by the government in its response to the 2023 independent statutory 
Review of the Payment Times Reporting Act 2020. The Payment Times Reporting 
Amendment Act 2024 made significant changes to the Act and the Payment Times 
Reporting Rules 2024 were remade, commencing in September 2024. 

The reforms introduced a new definition of a reporting entity and new reporting 
requirements applied to reporting commencing on or after 1 July 2024. The performance 
assessment period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025 coincided with the transition period 
for the new reporting requirements and reporting entities prepared reports under both 
the previous and new legislative frameworks (as relevant). 

Treasury has developed a new performance measure and targets for publication 
in the Corporate Plan 2025–26 and will report against these metrics in the 
Annual Report 2025–26.
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Key activity 3 – Treasury’s external engagements 
enable implementation of the government’s 
economic and fiscal agenda

Intended result 3.1
Relationships with Treasury ministers, Treasury portfolio agencies and regulators, and 
key stakeholders enables implementation of the government’s agenda.

Performance measure 11
Proportion of Treasury ministers, Treasury portfolio agencies and regulators, and key 
stakeholders that highly rate working with the Treasury.(a)

Methodology Independent stakeholder survey conducted by a third-party provider 
and structured interviews with Treasury ministers or their delegates. The 
assessment of the ministerial feedback questionnaire will be weighted so 
that the Treasurer’s responses account for 50% of the overall percentage 
measure. Stakeholder selection is governed by transparent stakeholder 
selection rules.

Target Ministerial feedback questionnaire: 83%

Stakeholder survey: 80%

Data sources Stakeholder lists and responses to the annual stakeholder feedback survey 
and the ministerial feedback questionnaire from Treasury ministers or their 
delegates.

Source PBS Program 1.1 – Department of the Treasury

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Ministerial feedback questionnaire: Achieved
100% of Treasury ministers or their delegate provided a rating of good or 
very good to the questions.(b)

Achieved means 83% or more of Treasury ministers or their delegate 
provided a rating of good or very good to the questions.(c)

Stakeholder survey: Achieved
81% of survey respondents provided a rating of agree or strongly agree to 
the questions.(d)

Achieved means 80% or more of survey respondents provided a rating of 
agree or strongly agree to the questions.
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Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved for the ministerial 
feedback questionnaire as 100% of Treasury ministers or their delegates 
provided a rating of good or very good to the questions.

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved for the stakeholder survey 
as 77% of survey respondents provided a rating of agree or strongly agree 
to the questions.

In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved for the ministerial 
feedback questionnaire as 100% of Treasury ministers or their delegate 
provided a rating of good or very good to the questions.

In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved for the stakeholder survey 
as 75% of survey respondents provided a rating of agree or strongly agree 
to the questions.

In 2021–22 Treasury reported achieved with an effectiveness result of 
77% for the quality of engagement or consultation from stakeholders.(e)

a)	 Stakeholders involved in the survey are senior officials from Australian Government entities that are Treasury’s 
counterparts and senior executive level stakeholders from organisations external to government who have 
had defined interactions with Treasury at least 4 times in the past year (1 April 2024 – 31 March 2025).

b)	 The performance result was calculated as an average of the percentage of Treasury ministers or their 
delegate who provided ratings of 4 (good) or 5 (very good) on a 5-point scale for applicable question items.

c)	 Achieved is assessed as a performance result of ≥80%, substantially achieved is assessed as 75 to 79%, 
partially achieved is assessed as 70 to 74%, and not achieved is assessed as <70%.

d)	 The performance result was calculated as an average of the percentage of survey respondents who 
provided ratings of 4 (agree) or 5 (strongly agree) on a 5-point scale for applicable question items.

e)	 In 2021–22 the effectiveness result was survey respondents’ rating of Treasury against set questions as an 
indicator of effectiveness. The performance result was calculated as an average of the percentage of 
survey respondents who provided ratings of 4 (agree) or 5 (strongly agree) on a 5-point scale for applicable 
question items.

Analysis

Treasury used structured interviews with Treasury ministers or their representatives and 
surveyed stakeholders to assess the effectiveness of its working relationships. Treasury 
engaged an external provider to develop and report on the ministerial feedback 
questionnaire and the stakeholder survey. All 5 ministerial interviews were conducted 
between January and March 2025, prior to the Federal Election (interviews usually occur 
between May and June).10 A Treasury deputy secretary conducted the interviews, and 
the external provider attended as an objective observer and note taker.

Performance feedback from Treasury ministers and stakeholders is reported separately 
within this analysis.

Ministerial feedback questionnaire

The performance target has been achieved.

The ministerial interviews achieved a 100 per cent response rate and a performance 
result of 100 per cent. Treasury used structured interviews with ministers or their 
representatives to complete the feedback questionnaire. The Assistant Treasurer and 
Minister for Financial Services and the Assistant Minister for Competition, Charities and 
Treasury personally participated in the interview. The Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries 

10	 Interviews were not conducted during the Federal Election. Treasury requires ministers to be in office for a 
minimum of 90 days to participate in the ministerial feedback questionnaire.
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and Forestry and Minister for Small Business was represented by their deputy chief of 
staff, and the Minister for Housing, Minister for Homelessness was represented by their 
chief of staff and senior adviser. The Treasurer was represented by their chief of staff.

All ministerial stakeholders unanimously rated the quality of working relationships with 
Treasury as positive (100 per cent). Nearly all ministerial stakeholders (88 percent, a 
decrease from 100 per cent in 2023–24) rated their working relationship as ‘very good’.

General comments from ministerial stakeholders were largely very positive about 
Treasury’s performance overall. Feedback was positive about Treasury staff 
responsiveness, professionalism and expertise, and ministerial stakeholders reflected 
more broadly on the effectiveness of their working relationship with Treasury.

Given the Treasurer is the senior Treasury minister, and the high volume of interactions 
with the Treasurer and policy coverage, the survey ratings of the Treasurer (or 
representative) were weighted more highly than those of other ministerial stakeholders. 
The weighting formula meant the Treasurer’s responses accounted for 50 per cent of 
the aggregate performance metrics derived from the survey.

Stakeholder survey

The performance target has been achieved.

A total of 729 Australian Government entity and external stakeholders were invited 
to participate in the survey. This is an increase from 681 in 2023–24. The survey had 
a response rate of 27 per cent with a 23 per cent response rate from Australian 
Government entity stakeholders and a 33 per cent response rate from external 
stakeholders.11 Treasury achieved a performance result of 81 per cent (an increase from 
77 per cent in 2023–24).

Stakeholders from other Australian Government departments and agencies made up 
33 per cent of survey respondents with 15 per cent from Treasury portfolio agencies. 
The remaining stakeholders external to the Australian Government included individual 
businesses (15 per cent), peak bodies (14 per cent), not-for-profit organisations 
(10 per cent), state and territory government entities (6 per cent), international 
government organisations (3 per cent), universities and research institutions (2 per cent) 
and international organisations (1 per cent).

Most survey respondents engaged with Treasury on policy development and reform 
(78 per cent) and consultation on systemic and policy matters (50 per cent). More 
than a third of stakeholders (36 per cent) collaborated on regulation and regulatory 
frameworks. More than a quarter (26 per cent) engaged on program and service 
delivery and of those programs in Treasury, Consumer Data Right had the highest level 
of engagement (17 per cent). Collaboration with Treasury on analysis, modelling and 
forecasting activities was identified by almost a quarter of stakeholders (24 per cent).

11	  A response rate of 20 per cent was established as a valid response for the survey.
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Figure 12: Types of engagement with Treasury in 2024–25
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Stakeholders’ perceptions of the effectiveness of their working relationships with 
Treasury were generally positive and showed improvement compared to 2023–24 
for most aspects. As in previous years, stakeholders were most positive about the 
respectful manner of Treasury staff (92 per cent agreed, consistent with 93 per cent in 
2023–24). Compared to 2023–2024, stakeholders were more likely to agree that Treasury 
communicated with them effectively (87 per cent, an increase from 82 per cent), 
responded in an appropriate timeframe to issues or concerns (80 per cent, an increase 
from 77 per cent), and listened to them (78 per cent, an increase from 75 per cent). 
There were also improvements in Treasury’s information being sufficient (76 per cent, an 
increase from 69 per cent) and timely (73 per cent, an increase from 66 per cent).
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Figure 13: Effectiveness of working relationships with Treasury – comparison to 
2022, 2023 and 2024
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Stakeholders were invited to provide comments on the working relationship with 
Treasury. Stakeholders provided 89 general comments about Treasury’s performance. 
Most comments related to Treasury’s communication, collaboration and engagement. 
Stakeholder perceptions of Treasury’s engagement were generally very positive, with 
around one third praising Treasury’s collaborative approach, open communication and 
responsiveness.
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Intended result 3.2
Partnering with international financial institutions promotes international monetary 
cooperation, fosters financial system stability and economic growth, and facilitates the 
government’s objectives in international forums.

Performance measure 12
Proportion of payments to international financial institutions are transferred within 
legislated requirements and agreements.

Methodology Assessment of payments against the requirements of relevant legislation 
and agreements. The performance results will be calculated as a 
percentage of total payments that meet requirements and timeframes 
against total payments (all payments including those that do not meet 
requirements and timeframes) for the period.

Target 100%

Data sources International Monetary Agreements Act 1947 and International Finance 
Corporation Act 1955, Asian Development Bank Act 1966, Asian Infrastructure 
Investment Bank Act 2015, European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development Act 1990, and payment records from the Reserve Bank 
of Australia, World Bank, International Finance Corporation, Asian 
Development Bank, International Monetary Fund or other multilateral 
development banks (where relevant).

Source PBS Program 1.2 – International Financial Relations

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Achieved
Eight payments (100%) are transferred within legislative requirements and 
agreements.(a)

Achieved means 100% of payments are transferred within legislative 
requirements and agreements.(b)

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of achieved with 11 payments (100%) 
transferred within legislative requirements and agreements.

In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of achieved with 15 payments (100%) 
administered within legislative requirements and agreements.(c)

In 2021–22 Treasury reported a result of achieved with 21 payments 
(100%) administered to international financial institutions within agreed 
requirements and timeframes.

a)	 Payments to international financial institutions refers to a one-way transfer of funds from Australia to the 
relevant financial institution. It does not include two-way exchanges or one-way receipts of funds.

b)	 Achieved is assessed as 100% of payments are transferred within legislated requirements and agreements, 
substantially achieved is assessed as 95 to 99%, partially achieved is assessed as 90 to 94%, and not 
achieved is assessed as <90%.

c)	 Treasury removed the assessment of payments against timeframes in Corporate Plan 2022–23.
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Analysis

The performance target has been achieved.

Treasury administered 8 payments to international financial institutions totalling 
A$874.17 million. These included 5 payments to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
totalling approximately A$677.68 million. These payments include an annual assessment 
charge and Special Drawing Rights interest charges. On-time payments to the IMF 
supported Australia’s relationship with the IMF which is essential to help promote 
international monetary cooperation, financial system stability and economic growth, 
and to facilitate the government’s objectives in international forums.

One payment was made to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development  
for the purchase of shares for a sum of A$13.81 million.

Treasury also issues promissory notes to multilateral development banks, with  
payments against those notes financed from the Department of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade’s official development assistance budget. Treasury administered 2 promissory 
notes over this reporting period, totalling A$182.67 million, to facilitate commitments  
to the World Bank’s Global Environment Facility Trust Fund and International 
Development Association.
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Intended result 3.3
Payments to the states and territories (the states) are administered in accordance with 
the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations and other relevant 
agreements between the Commonwealth and the states.

Performance measure 13
Proportion of payments to the states are delivered within requirements of the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations and other relevant 
agreements between the Commonwealth and the states.

Methodology Assessment of payments against the requirements of the Intergovernmental 
Agreement on Federal Financial Relations and other relevant agreements 
between the Commonwealth and the states. The assessment will be 
calculated as a percentage of the number of payments that meet 
requirements against the total number of payments (all payments including 
those that do not meet requirements) for the period.

Target 100%

Data sources The Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations and other 
relevant agreements, records of payment requests in the Federal Payments 
Management System, approvals, and payment advice.

Source PBS Program 1.4 – Commonwealth-State Financial Relations

Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Substantially achieved
782 payments (99.0%) out of 790 payments were delivered within legislative 
requirements and agreements.

Substantially achieved means 98% to 99.9% of payments are delivered within 
requirements and agreements.(a)

Performance 
achieved over 
time

In 2023–24 Treasury reported a result of substantially achieved with 
681 payments (99.6%) out of 684 payments were delivered within legislative 
requirements and agreements.

In 2022–23 Treasury reported a result of substantially achieved with 
636 (99.8%) out of 637 payments delivered within legislative requirements 
and agreements.

In 2021–22 Treasury reported a result of substantially achieved with 
639 (99.5%) payments administered within the requirements and 
642 (100%) payments administered within the required timeframes.(b) (c)

a)	 Achieved is assessed as 100% of payments are delivered within requirements, substantially achieved is 
assessed as 98 to 99.9%, partially achieved is assessed as 95 to 97 .9%, and not achieved is assessed 
as <95%.

b)	 Achieved was assessed in 2021–22 and 2022–23 as 100% of payments are delivered within requirements, 
substantially achieved is assessed as 95 to 99%, partially achieved is assessed as 90 to 94%, and not 
achieved is assessed as <90%.

c)	 Treasury removed the assessment of payments against timeframes in Corporate Plan 2022–23.
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Analysis

The performance target has been substantially achieved.

In accordance with the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal Financial Relations, 
Treasury made payments to the states totalling $187.0 billion during the period 
from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025. This included: 

	� 12 specific purpose payment rounds made on the seventh of each month (or the 
closest working day after)

	� one extraordinary specific purpose payment round made on 30 June 2025

	� 12 general revenue assistance payment rounds made on the twenty-first of each 
month (or the closest working day after).

In total, these 25 payment rounds comprised 790 individual payments to the states. 
Each of the 790 individual payments were verified by Treasury officers prior to approval. 
Payment data sources have been reconciled to ensure alignment between what 
Commonwealth agencies requested be paid to the states, what officials in the Treasury 
approved as payments to the states, and what was paid to the states.

Treasury has identified 8 instances during the period in which payments were made 
without written ministerial authorisation for a specific senior official to approve the 
payments on the minister’s behalf. These approval errors were technical in nature as the 
states had met the requirements for these payments. An authorised senior official will 
approve payments while a new authorisation instrument is drafted, following conclusion 
of machinery of government changes. Processes have been amended to minimise the 
likelihood of these errors reoccurring.
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Performance measures transferred to Treasury

Performance report 2024–25: Advice on Australian cities 

Period of Annual Performance Statement

Functions of the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, 
Communications, and the Arts (DITRDCA) were subject to a machinery of government 
change. National policy advice on cities was transferred from DITRDCA to Treasury 
effective 13 May 2025, including responsibility for performance reporting.

The DITRDCA Corporate Plan 2024–25 and Portfolio Budget Statements 2025–26 
includes one performance measure for advice on Australian cities policy that was 
transferred to Treasury. The annual performance statements cover the 2024–25 
reporting period (1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025) and provide reporting for this 
performance measure.

The performance measure for advice on Australian cities policy is structured under 
the DITRDCA Program 3.3 – Cities of the Portfolio Budget Statements 2025–26.

Program 3.3 – Cities

The cities program supports the development of more liveable and productive cities 
through programs and policies that support jobs and economic growth, manage 
population pressures and reduce congestion.

Key activity: Advise on and deliver commitments to enhance Australia’s cities 
and towns

In the 2023–24 Budget, the Australian Government announced the establishment of a 
Cities and Suburbs Unit to deliver a new National Urban Policy and State of the Cities 
Report. The National Urban Policy will address urgent challenges facing our major 
cities — from equitable access to jobs, homes and services, to climate impacts and 
decarbonisation. It will present a shared government vision for the sustainable growth 
in our cities and seek to better integrate an urban lens across policymaking.

The State of the Cities Report will provide measurement of the progress and performance 
of our cities and vital insights into the productivity, equity and resilience of Australian 
cities, to inform the public and support all levels of government decision making.

Policy advice assessment methodology

The Australian cities policy performance measure is one of 11 policy measures in the 
DITRDCA performance framework. In 2024–25, DITRDCA assessed 11 performance 
measures against the policy advice assessment methodology to determine the quality, 
timeliness and evidence base of their advice. An internal panel of executive level and 
senior executive service employees, who were not directly involved in the writing the 
policy advice, made an assessment against specific criteria. Policy advice must be 
rated as a ‘pass’ for all 3 criteria to be considered high quality, timely and evidence 
based. This means scoring 75 per cent or above and a unanimous ‘yes’ response for 
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timeliness. Once the scores for each piece of policy advice were finalised, the measure 
result was calculated using a mathematical equation to determine the overall reporting 
result against the department’s results.

Performance measure 23
Advice on Australian cities policy

Methodology Policy advice is assessed and scored against criteria, by an internal panel, 
to determine quality, timeliness and evidence base.

Target Policy advice is high quality, timely and evidence based

Data sources Ministerial submissions containing departmental policy advice which are 
stored in the Parliamentary Document Managements System.

Source PBS Program 3.3 – Cities

Corporate Plan 2024–25 (DITRDCA))

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Target met
All 3 criteria for high quality, timely and evidence based has been assessed 
against the policy advice assessment methodology and rated as a ‘pass’ by 
the internal panel.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

This is a new performance measure for 2024–25.

Analysis

The Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications, 
Sport and the Arts (DITRDCSA) is reporting that the performance target has been met. 
The policy advice was assessed by the DITRDCSA internal panel as high quality, timely 
and evidence based.12

The National Urban Policy was launched in November 2024 and forms the basis for ‘the 
advice on Australian cities policy’ performance measure. The National Urban Policy was 
delivered by the DITRDCA.

The National Urban Policy describes the Australian Government’s goal that urban 
places be liveable and equitable, productive and innovative, and sustainable 
and resilient.

The department undertook extensive public and other stakeholder consultation 
to develop the National Urban Policy, a key determinant of whether policy advice 
meets the performance criteria. This included Australian Government agencies, all 
levels of government, industry representatives, First Nations organisations and urban 
policy experts. Stakeholders provided advice, data and case studies to inform the 
National Urban Policy.

12	  In 2024–25, the department prepared one piece of policy advice relating to this performance measure.
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Performance reports 2024–25: Housing, rental and homelessness

Period of Annual Performance Statements

Functions of the Department of Social Services (DSS) were subject to a machinery 
of government change. Housing, rental and homelessness policy and the related 
programs under Outcome 4 – Housing were transferred from DSS to Treasury effective 
13 May 2025, including responsibility for performance reporting. 

The DSS Corporate Plan 2024–25 and Portfolio Budget Statements 2025–26 includes 
4 performance measures for the National Agreement on Social Housing and 
Homelessness (NASHH), the National Rental Affordability Scheme (NRAS) and the 
initiative Safe Places Emergency Accommodation that were transferred to Treasury. 
The annual performance statements cover the 2024–25 reporting period (1 July 2024 
to 30 June 2025) and provide reporting for these performance measures.

Outcome 4: Housing

Supporting access to safe and secure housing for individuals, including social housing, 
and providing targeted supports for preventing and addressing homelessness.

Program 4.1 – Housing and Homelessness

Contribute to and provide support for social housing and homelessness prevention 
initiatives, including the design and implementation of innovative early-stage projects.

Key activity — 4.1.1 National Agreement on Social Housing and Homelessness

The NASHH with state and territory governments (states) was signed on 31 May 2024. 
The annual funding under the new 5-year agreement is around $1.8 billion a year 
from 2024–25. This includes doubling the Commonwealth homelessness funding 
component to $400 million a year. The states are required to match their share of the 
homelessness funding. The NASHH is outcomes focused, with an agreed monitoring and 
reporting framework. The objective is to help people who are experiencing, or at risk 
of, homelessness and support the effective operation of Australia’s social housing and 
homelessness services sectors.

Program 4.2 – Affordable Housing

To improve the supply of affordable rental housing to low and moderate 
income households.

Key activity — 4.2.1 National Rental Affordability Scheme 

The NRAS has been a key activity of the Affordable Housing program since its 
commencement in 2008. The NRAS provides an annual retrospective financial incentive 
for approved participants who rent dwellings to eligible people on low to moderate 
incomes at a rate at least 20 per cent below market rent.
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As announced in the 2014–15 Budget, there will be no further funding rounds or new 
allocations of NRAS incentives beyond those allocated in the Scheme and held by 
approved participants. The scheme will conclude in June 2026, at the completion of the 
10-year incentive period for the final allocations.

Changes to performance measures

Amendments have been made to the performance information published in the DSS 
Corporate Plan 2024–25. The amendments relate to the published methodology and 
target for performance measure 2.1.2-1 and are a non-significant variation. 

Performance measure 2.1.2-1 
Confirmation a funded Safe Places project(s) activity details have been completed 
(i.e. capital works/building phase completed) and is tenanted.

Published 
methodology

A safe place in the Safe Places Emergency Accommodation Program 
(Round 1) was defined by individual grant applications. Grantees identified 
the numbers of safe places to be made available under their safe places 
project.

Amended 
methodology

For purposes of performance reporting, a safe place has been defined 
as 1 bedroom equating to 2 safe places in line with Safe Places Inclusion 
Round. This definition has been applied to the methodology for calculating 
the performance result and the target for both Round 1 and the Safe Places 
Inclusion Round. This amendment allows for consistent reporting for both 
funding rounds in 2024–25 and forward years.

Published 
target

≥ 665 = 44% of program target.

Amended 
target

≥ 713
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Safe Places Emergency Accommodation Performance Measure

Performance measure 2.1.2-1
Confirmation a funded Safe Places project(s) activity details have been completed 
(i.e. capital works/building phase completed) and is tenanted.

Methodology The target will be considered met if 75% or more (6 or more of 8) of the 
department’s national programs meet their intended output target, based 
on tailored criteria developed for assessment across the programs. The 
target will be considered partially met if 50-74% (4 to 5 out of 8) of the 
national programs successfully achieve their target and not met if less than 
50% (3 or below out of 8) successfully achieve their target.

Target The success criterion is met if the total number of safe places delivered is 
greater than or equal to the prior year’s target.

≥ 713

Data sources Department of Social Services projects management spreadsheet 
containing Safe Places Applications and milestone evidence from grantees.

Source PBS Program 2.1 – Families and Communities (Department of Social Services)

Department of Social Services Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Not met
669 funded Safe Places have been completed and are tenanted.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

In 2023–24 the Department of Social Services reported a result of ‘not met’ 
with 499 funded Safe Places completed and tenanted.

In 2022–23 the Department of Social Services reported a result of ‘met’ with 
245 funded Safe Places completed and tenanted.

In 2021–22 the Department of Social Services reported a result of ‘met’ with 
91 funded Safe Places completed and tenanted.
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Analysis

The Department of Social Services is reporting that the performance target was 
not met. 

In 2024–25, 669 funded safe places have been completed and are tenanted nationally, 
an increase of 170 safe places compared to the previous financial year (499). This 
comprised 653 funded safe places for the Safe Places Emergency Accommodation 
Program (Round 1) and 16 funded safe places for the Safe Places Inclusion Round.

The 2024–25 results did not meet the program’s performance target due to delays in 
capital works. Grantees experienced capital works delays due to planning approvals, 
contractor availability and cost escalations. Others encountered difficulties securing 
operational funding to commence services once construction was complete, delaying 
activation of some properties. This has been corroborated by research conducted by 
the Institute of Public Affairs which shows that average construction time for a home 
has increased by 50 per cent and building material costs also increased by 53 per cent 
in the same period.

For Round 1, applicants could determine the number of safe places based on their 
service models, so the measure did not necessarily equate to a bed or room. This 
resulted in the number of safe places equalling the number of women and children 
who could be supported at one time. For purposes of reporting the performance 
result, a safe place is reported as 1 bedroom equating to 2 safe places in line with the 
Safe Places Inclusion Round. The definition was applied to Round 1 for consistency of 
reporting in 2024–25. 

The target has been revised from 665 to 713 funded safe places to account for the 
inclusion of projects funded under the Safe Places Inclusion Round and to provide 
consistency across both rounds.
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Key activity — 4.1.1 National Agreement on Social Housing and Homelessness

Performance measure 4.1.1-1
All parties to the NASHH meet its requirements.

Methodology Reporting will be based on qualitive assessment of whether parties to the 
National Agreement on Social Housing and Homelessness (NASHH) have 
met their requirements under the NASHH to:

•	 annually report against the National Outcomes Framework and submit 
Statements of Assurance

•	 publish a housing and homelessness strategy that meets the requirements 
outlined in the NASHH

•	 contribute to the ongoing collection and transparent reporting of 
agreed data.

Target 4.1.1-1A – A publicly available housing and homelessness strategy that 
meets the requirements outlined in the NASHH from each state.

All states have strategies that meet the criteria in the NASHH and include 
this information in their bilateral schedule.

4.1.1-1B – Complete and timely reporting by the states against the 
compulsory measure in the National Outcomes Framework on social housing 
measures, including number and change in social housing dwellings, 
overcrowding and dwelling condition.

All states report against all compulsory and other nominated measures.

4.1.1-1C – Complete and timely reporting by the states against 
the compulsory measures in the National Outcomes Framework on 
homelessness, including unmet demand and supported requests for 
homelessness services, and return to homelessness.

All states report against all compulsory and other nominated measures.

4.1.1-1D – Complete and timely reporting by the states against the 
Statement of Assurance.

All states report against all compulsory and other nominated measures.

Data sources Productivity Commission’s annual report on Government Services.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare’s Specialist Homelessness 
Services database.

NASHH Statement of Assurance, submitted to the Commonwealth.

Relevant state and territory government departmental websites where 
housing and homelessness strategies are published.

Source PBS Program 4.1 – Housing and Homelessness (Department of Social Services)

Department of Social Services Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

4.1.1-1A – Met
All states and territories met their requirements under the National Housing 
and Homelessness Agreement.

4.1.1-1B – Not yet available: reporting after 31 December 2025.
4.1.1-1C – Not yet available: reporting after 31 December 2025.
4.1.1-1D – Not yet available: reporting after 31 December 2025.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

The NASHH commenced on 1 July 2024 and there is no prior year reporting.

The NASHH replaced the National Housing and Homelessness Agreement 
which ended in June 2024.
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Analysis

The Department of Social Services is reporting that the 4.1.1-1A performance target 
was met.

During 2024–25 state and territory housing and homelessness strategies were reviewed 
every month to ensure they met the requirements of the NASHH prior to payment 
of NASHH funding to the state and territory governments (target 4.1.1-1A). State and 
territory governments met their commitments in the NASHH by publicly communicating 
that they understood the challenges faced in housing and homelessness, and how they 
would be addressed in each jurisdiction.

Under the NASHH, reporting against the national outcomes framework (targets 4.1.1-1B 
and 4.1.1-1C) and statements of assurance (target 4.1.1-1D) is not required until 
31 December 2025. Treasury will review state and territory government NASHH reporting 
for 2024–25 after 31 December 2025 to ensure it is complete. Data from these reports 
will also be available on Australian Institute of Health, and Welfare and Productivity 
Commission websites as part of their usual series of publications on social housing 
and homelessness.
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Key activity — 4.2.1 National Rental Affordability Scheme 

Performance measure 4.2.1-1
Incentives are issued in a timely manner to approved participants.

Methodology The per cent of statements of compliance processed within 60 business 
days is based on the date:

•	 an approved participant notifies the department they have submitted a 
finalised statements of compliance

•	 funds are released or the refundable tax offset certificate is issued for the 
relevant statement of compliance.

Target At least 90% of statements of compliance are processed within 60 business days.

Data sources Department of Social Services’ Grants Payments System.

Date of notification email from the approved participant.

Source PBS Program 4.2 – Affordable Housing (Department of Social Services)

Corporate Plan 2024–25 (Department of Social Services)

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Met
96.7% of statements of compliance were processed within 60 business days.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

The Department of Social Services reported a result of ‘met’ for 2021–22 
with 98.4%, 2022–23 with 94.1% and 2023–24 with 96.8% of statements of 
compliance processed within 60 business days.(a)

a)	 The Department of Social Services Annual Report 2023–24.

Analysis

The Department of Social Services is reporting that the performance target has been met.

The scheme provides incentives for approved participants who rent dwellings to eligible 
tenants at a rate of at least 20 per cent below market rent. The target of 90 per cent of 
statements of compliance being processed within 60 business days demonstrates the 
department’s role as the administrator of the scheme. 

The result reflects improved processes designed to increase efficiency and consistency 
of assessments. Streamlined workflows, clearer documentation requirements and 
structured assessment pathways enabled assessors to complete most claims within 
the 60-day period. These enhancements significantly reduced the amount of assessor 
re-work and improved the overall timeliness and quality of processing.

Proactive engagement with approved participants also contributed to the result. The 
team worked closely with approved participants to encourage timely, accurate claim 
submissions and provided support to resolve issues early. This approach reduced the 
number of follow-ups required and helped claims move more efficiently through the 
assessment phase.

The performance result is based on the previous National Rental Affordability Scheme 
(NRAS) compliance process of 1 May 2023 to 30 April 2024. The 1 May 2024 to 30 April 
2025 data is not available until all statements of compliance have been processed and 
finalised which is anticipated by 31 December 2025.

https://www.dss.gov.au/system/files/documents/2024-11/dss-annual-report-2023-24.pdf
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Performance measure 4.2.1-2
Incentives delivered through the National Rental Affordability Scheme are maximised to 
improve the supply of affordable rental housing to low and moderate income households.

Methodology The active, provisional and total allocation under the scheme are reported 
quarterly, while incentives are paid on a yearly basis. For the purpose of this 
measure, the maximum number of allocations in the year is used.

Target At least 90% of allocations set under the National Rental Affordability 
Scheme are active and receiving incentive payments.

Data sources Department of Social Services’ Grants Payments System.

Source PBS Program 4.2 – Affordable Housing (Department of Social Services)

Department of Social Services Corporate Plan 2024–25

Performance 
achieved 
2024–25

Met
96.4% of allocations set under the National Rental Affordability Scheme were 
active and receiving incentive payments.

Performance 
achieved  
over time

The Department of Social Services reported a result of met for 2021–22 
with 93.6%, 2022–23 with 94.5% and 2023–24 with 96.4% of allocations set 
under the National Rental Affordability Scheme were active and receiving 
incentive payments.

Analysis

The Department of Social Services is reporting that the performance target has been met.

NRAS has maintained the availability of affordable rental housing to low and moderate 
income households. The department cannot control whether an approved participant 
of the scheme will act in accordance with the National Rental Affordability Scheme 
Regulations 2020 and be eligible to receive an incentive payment. The department 
worked closely with approved participants to maintain the use of NRAS allocations and 
deliver affordable rental housing to low and moderate income households.

NRAS dwellings became available in stages, with the last tranche of NRAS dwellings 
joining the scheme in June 2016. The scheme will conclude in June 2026 when the 
10-year term of all allocations will have ended. Quarterly data shows a steady decline 
in total allocations – from over 15,000 in early 2024 to 6,475 by March 2025 – as 
allocations progressively expire in the lead up to the scheme’s conclusion.

The department has ensured a high proportion of the remaining allocations are 
compliant and eligible. The department actively managed risks associated with 
housing market pressures, such as dwelling withdrawals when investors left the scheme 
before the 10-year exit date and transfers when approved participants identified an 
alternative dwelling. These actions directly contributed to sustaining the proportion of 
active paid allocations and maintaining stakeholder confidence in the scheme during 
its final years.

The NRAS year for this performance period ran from 1 May 2023 to 30 April 2024. 
Incentive payment claims for this period were submitted by approved participants from 
1 May 2024 to 30 September 2024 and assessed from 1 May 2024 to the end of 2024. 
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Financial performance

Departmental resourcing
Treasury received $398.9 million in departmental operating appropriations and 
$3.5 million in capital budget appropriations in 2024–25. Treasury’s departmental 
resourcing is controlled by the Secretary to the Treasury and is provided for the 
day-to-day operations of Treasury.

Treasury recorded a an operating surplus of $8.9 million in 2024–25 under net cash 
appropriation arrangements (2023–24: $1.8 million operating loss). Treasury has a sound 
financial position and can meet its debt obligations as and when they fall due. 

Administered resourcing
Treasury managed $208.3 billion in administered resourcing in 2024–25, including 
$2.3 billion in annual appropriations, $130.3 billion in special appropriations and 
$75.7 billion in special accounts. Treasury’s administered resourcing is available 
for payments under the programs administered by Treasury on behalf of the 
Australian Government.

Treasury’s total administered expenses in 2024–25 was $209.7 billion (2023–24: 
$196.0 billion). Of this total, $162.4 billion were for payments to the states and territories 
and $46.0 billion were Medicare Guarantee transfers to the Department of Health and 
Aged Care.

Treasury’s total administered revenue in 2024–25 was $2.2 billion (2023–24: $2.9 billion).

Further details on Treasury’s financial resources and expenses are in Table 6 and 
Table 7 below. 
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Resource tables

Table 6: Department of the Treasury resource statement 2024–25

Current 
available 

appropriation
Payments  

made
Balance  

remaining

2024–25
$’000

(a)

2024–25
$’000

(b)

2024–25
$’000
(a - b)

Departmental

Annual appropriations–ordinary annual services1

Prior year appropriation available2 122,515 114,954 7,561

Departmental appropriation3 398,889 263,175 135,714

Departmental capital budget4 3,537 2,959 578

s74 External Revenue5 33,812 33,812 -

Annual Appropriations–other services– 
non-operating6

Prior year appropriation available 303 - 303

Total departmental annual appropriations 559,056 414,900 144,156

Total departmental resourcing 559,056 414,900 144,156

Administered

Annual appropriations–ordinary annual services1

Prior year appropriation available7 63,246 300 62,946

Outcome 18 177,397 127,378 50,019

Payment to corporate entities9 5,428 5,428 -

Annual appropriations–other services– 
non-operating6

Prior year appropriation available– 
non-operating10

525,000 - 525,000

Administered assets and liabilities11 1,544,000 635,379 908,621

Total administered annual appropriations (c) 2,315,071 768,485 1,546,586

Total administered special appropriations12 (d) 130,281,299 130,281,299 -
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Current 
available 

appropriation
Payments  

made
Balance  

remaining

2024–25
$’000

(a)

2024–25
$’000

(b)

2024–25
$’000
(a - b)

Special accounts13

Opening balance 207,863 164,888 42,975

Appropriation receipts 558,827 - 558,827

Adjustments 71,286,966 71,286,966 -

Non-appropriated receipts 3,694,681 2,885,980 808,701

Total special accounts (e) 75,748,337 74,337,835 1,410,502

Total administered resourcing (c + d + e) 208,344,707 205,387,619 2,957,088

Total resourcing and payments for Treasury 208,903,763 205,802,519 3,101,244

Note:	 Details of appropriations are disclosed in Note 6 of the Financial Statements.

1)	 Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2024–2025 and Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2024–2025.

2)	 Includes $7.561 million permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are considered 
legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025. 

3)	 Includes $0.371 million permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are considered 
legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025. 

4)	 Departmental capital budgets are not separately identified in Appropriation Acts and form part of ordinary 
annual services items. For accounting purposes, capital budget appropriations have been designated as 
a ‘contribution by owner’.

5)	 External revenue receipts retained under section 74 of the PGPA Act.

6)	 Appropriation Act (No. 2) 2024–2025 and Appropriation Act (No. 4) 2024–2025.

7)	 Include $53.075 million permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are considered 
legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025.

8)	 Includes $22.390 million permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are considered 
legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025. 

9)	 ‘Corporate entities’ are corporate Commonwealth entities and Commonwealth companies as defined 
under the PGPA Act.

10)	 The full $525.000 million amount is permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are 
considered legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025.

11)	 Includes $562.173 million permanently withheld under section 51 of the PGPA Act. These funds are 
considered legally available appropriations as at 30 June 2025.

12)	 Excludes mirror taxes which are collected and retained by the States under the Commonwealth Places 
(Mirror Taxes) Act 1998.

13)	 Excludes trust moneys held in Services for Other Entities and Trust Moneys special account.
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Table 7: Expenses for Treasury Outcome 1 2024–25
Outcome 1: Supporting and implementing informed decisions on policies for the good 
of the Australian people, including for achieving strong, sustainable economic growth, 
through the provision of advice to Treasury ministers and the efficient administration of 
Treasury’s functions.

Budget*
Actual 

expenses Variation

2024–25
$’000

(a)

2024–25
$’000

(b)

2024–25
$’000
(a - b)

Program 1.1: Department of the Treasury

Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services 120,926 97,175 23,751

Special appropriations

Corporations Act 2001 265,006 24,137 240,869

Special accounts

Medicare Guarantee Fund Special Account 51,244,269 46,000,000 5,244,269

Housing Australia Future Fund Payments 
Special Account

5,100 6,290 (1,190)

Housing Australia Special Account 394,400 276,637 117,763

Payment to Corporate entities

Housing Australia 5,428 5,428 -

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

13,862 55,476 (41,614)

Administered total 52,048,991 46,465,143 5,583,848

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriations2 386,384 379,172 7,212

s74 External Revenue3 11,072 10,106 966

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

25,680 26,174 (494)

Departmental total 423,136 415,452 7,684

Total expenses for Program 1.1 52,472,127 46,880,595 5,591,532
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Budget*
Actual 

expenses Variation

2024–25
$’000

(a)

2024–25
$’000

(b)

2024–25
$’000
(a - b)

Program 1.2: International Financial Relations

Administered expenses

Special appropriations

International Monetary Agreements Act 1947 654,266 649,403 4,863

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

350,004 203,336 146,668

Total expenses for Program 1.2 1,004,270 852,739 151,531

Program 1.3: Support for Markets and Business

Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services 32,353 30,100 2,253

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

22,451 - 22,451

Total expenses for Program 1.3 54,804 30,100 24,704

Program 1.4: Commonwealth-State Financial 
Relations

Administered expenses

Special appropriations

Federal Financial Relations Act 2009 130,087,625 130,749,550 (661,925)

Special accounts

CoAG Reform Fund 24,557,344 29,676,929 (5,099,585)

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

421,151 1,924,018 (1,502,867)

Total expenses for Program 1.4 155,086,120 162,350,497 (7,264,377)
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Budget*
Actual 

expenses Variation

2024–25
$’000

(a)

2024–25
$’000

(b)

2024–25
$’000
(a - b)

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type

Administered expenses

Ordinary annual services 153,279 127,275 26,004

Special appropriations 131,006,897 131,423,090 (416,193)

Special accounts 76,221,113 75,959,856 261,257

Payment to corporate entities 5,428 5,428 -

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

807,468 2,182,830 (1,375,362)

Administered total 208,194,185 209,698,479 (1,504,294)

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriations2 386,384 379,172 7,212

s74 External Revenue3 11,072 10,106 966

Expenses not requiring appropriation in the 
Budget year1

25,680 26,174 (494)

Departmental total 423,136 415,452 7,684

Total expenses for Outcome 1 208,617,321 210,113,931 (1,496,610)

2024–25 2024–25

Average staffing level (number) 1,601 1,671

* 	 2024–25 Revised estimated expense amounts as published in Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements 
2024–25 (PAES). 

1)	 Expenses not requiring appropriation in the Budget year are made up of depreciation expenses, 
amortisation expenses, resources received free of charges, foreign exchange losses, guarantee claim 
expenses and grants provision expenses. 

2)	 Departmental appropriations include ordinary annual services (Appropriation Acts No. 1 and No. 3). 

3)	 Estimated expenses incurred in relation to Treasury’s revenue from contracts with customers that were 
retained under section 74 of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013. 





Part 3  
Management and accountability

Corporate governance. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  91

Governance committees. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 91

Consultation committees . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  95

External scrutiny . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 97

External audit . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  97

Our people. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 98

Performance management . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  98

Learning and development. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  98

Staffing information. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  99

Workplace relations. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  109

Procurement. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  111

Performance against the  
Commonwealth Procurement Rules. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .111

Exempt contracts . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  111

Australian National Audit Office access clauses . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  111

Initiatives to support small and medium-sized 
enterprises and Indigenous business . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 112

Consultants and non-consultants. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  113

Asset management. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  115

Executive remuneration. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  116

Introduction . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 116

Remuneration policies and practices. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 116

Key management personnel. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 116





91Corporate governance

3

Part 3 – Management and accountability

Corporate governance
Treasury’s corporate governance structure supports several functions. It focuses the 
department on achieving its purpose. It facilitates proper use and management of 
public resources. It drives our risk and control systems. It also ensures the department’s 
financial sustainability.

Figure 14: Treasury’s enterprise governance committee structure

Secretary
(Accountable Authority)

Executive Board

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Performance 
and Risk 

Committee

People and 
Inclusion 

Committee

Information 
Strategy 

Committee

Financial Statements 
and Annual Performance 

Statements 
Sub-Committee

Governance committees

Executive Board
The Executive Board comprises the Secretary and Deputy Secretaries. The Executive 
Board supports the Secretary to discharge their duties under the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 and section 57 of the Public Service Act 1999. 

Performance and Risk Committee
The Performance and Risk Committee is an advisory and decision-making group 
with responsibility for ensuring consistent and integrated business operations across 
Treasury. Its responsibilities include business planning and continuity, performance 
monitoring and reporting, enterprise risk management and systems of internal control, 
security, cyber security and asset management.
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People and Inclusion Committee
The People and Inclusion Committee is an advisory and decision-making group. It has 
responsibility for ensuring the department’s workforce is safe, effective and engaged. 
It ensures the department has the workforce capacity and inclusive culture required 
to deliver on its purpose. The People and Inclusion Committee also has specific 
responsibilities for work health and safety, and for receiving regular reports from internal 
consultation forums related to work health and safety and workplace relations.

Information Strategy Committee
The purpose of the Information Strategy Committee is to support and provide 
governance of department-wide information related strategic issues and drive digital 
information innovation. This includes oversight of information and data governance 
standards, data and analytics capability and use and implementation of new 
technologies, such as AI and digital tools.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Treasury’s Audit and Risk Committee has been established in accordance with 
section 45 of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013. The 
Audit and Risk Committee provides independent advice to the Secretary on the 
appropriateness of the department’s financial reporting, performance reporting, 
system of risk oversight and management, and the system of internal control. The Audit 
and Risk Committee Charter is available on the Treasury website at treasury.gov.au/
the-department/corporate-publications/audit-risk-committee-charter 

The Financial Statements and Annual Performance Statements Sub-Committee 
provides advice to the Audit and Risk Committee on the preparation and sign-off of 
Treasury’s financial statements and annual performance statements. The Financial 
Statements and Annual Performance Statements Sub-Committee is directly 
accountable to the Audit and Risk Committee for the performance of its functions.

The Audit and Risk Committee has 3 members – an independent chair and 
2 independent members.

The Audit and Risk Committee met 5 times in 2024–25 and received regular briefings 
from Treasury management on priorities, operations and risks, as well as the outcomes 
of risk and audit activities.

https://treasury.gov.au/the-department/corporate-publications/audit-risk-committee-charter
https://treasury.gov.au/the-department/corporate-publications/audit-risk-committee-charter
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Table 8: Audit and Risk Committee members – qualifications, attendance and remuneration 

Name Position and Role Qualifications Experience
Date of 
Commencement

Date of  
Cessation A

tt
en

d
a

nc
e

R
em

un
er

a
ti

on
(a

)

Mr Don 
Cross

•	 External Member

•	 Audit and Risk 
Committee Chair

•	 Financial 
Statements 
and Annual 
Performance 
Statements 
Subcommittee 
Chair

•	 Performance and 
Risk Committee 
Observer

•	 Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered 
Accountants and a 
Certified Practising 
Accountant

•	 Numerous 
qualifications 
and professional 
memberships in 
accounting, fraud 
control, business, 
and auditing

•	 Mr Cross has a background in 
financial audit, internal audit, 
management assurance and 
performance and program 
management. He leverages 
this background, skills and 
experience as the Chair or 
as a Member of Audit and 
Risk Committees for federal 
government departments and 
Corporate Commonwealth 
Entities delivering policy, 
regulatory and service 
delivery functions.

1 August 2019 - 5/5 $48,930

Mr Carl 
Murphy

•	 External Member •	 Master of Public 
Administration

•	 Certified Practising 
Accountant (retired)

•	 Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of 
Company Directors

•	 Bachelor of Arts 
(Hons)

•	 Member, Wollongong Council 
Audit, Risk and Improvement 
Committee Senior Moderator, 
The Cranlana Centre for Ethical 
Leadership Consultancy 
Practice to government and 
not-for-profits in governance 
and organisational change.

•	 Previous senior executive 
roles in the departments 
of Infrastructure, Regional 
Development and Cities; 
Finance; and the Environment.

2 November 2020 15 November 2024 3/3 $6,256
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Name Position and Role Qualifications Experience
Date of 
Commencement

Date of  
Cessation A
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d
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R
em
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er

a
ti

on
(a

)

Ms 
Carol 
Lilley

•	 External Member •	 Bachelor of 
Commerce 

•	 Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of 
Company Directors

•	 Fellow of Chartered 
Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand, 

•	 Certified internal 
auditor and was 
a registered 
company auditor

•	 Independent board director 
and chair or member of several 
Commonwealth Government 
audit committees. 

•	 Previous Partner at a large 
accounting firm and has over 
20 years’ experience in financial 
statement audit, internal 
audit and project and risk 
management, with a particular 
focus on government. 

28 October 2021 - 5/5 $46,486

Mr Greg 
Divall

•	 External Member •	 Bachelor of 
Applied Science 
(Mathematics)

•	 Master of Business 
Administration 

•	 Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of 
Company Directors

•	 Current member of several 
Audit and Risk Committees 
across Commonwealth and 
state government agencies. 
Over 20 years’ experience in 
Commonwealth Senior Executive 
Service leadership roles in 
Centrelink and the departments 
of Defence, Human Services, 
Treasury, Climate Change and 
Energy Efficiency and Industry. 

•	 Current member of Defence 
Independent Assurance Board.

21 October 2024 - 3/3 $22,748

a)	 Where applicable, remuneration is GST inclusive and covers preparation for and attendance at meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee, as well as meeting 
preparation and attendance at sub-committees (where relevant) and other meetings as required by the member’s role.
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Consultation committees
Two consultation committees support Treasury’s enterprise governance committees.

Health and Safety Committee
The Health and Safety Committee assists the Secretary in carrying out their statutory 
obligations in accordance with the Work Health and Safety Act 2011. The Health 
and Safety Committee facilitates cooperation between Treasury management and 
employees to develop and review health and safety policies, procedures and initiatives, 
and manage health and safety risks in the workplace. 

Workplace Relations Committee
The Workplace Relations Committee is Treasury’s primary staff consultation body, 
convened in accordance with the Treasury Enterprise Agreement 2024–2027. The 
Workplace Relations Committee plays an important role in facilitating ongoing, open 
and transparent consultation between Treasury and its employees relating to issues 
affecting the working environment and employment conditions.

Risk management

Governance committees endorsed Treasury’s revised risk management policy and 
framework in 2024–25. Treasury’s risk management policy and framework provide the 
basis for continued improvement and embedding risk management processes during 
the reporting year.

Our governance arrangements for risk reporting through the Performance and 
Risk Committee, the independent Audit and Risk Committee, and the Executive Board 
provide the Secretary with assurance that risk is assessed and managed.

Fraud prevention and control

Treasury has a fraud and corruption control plan, as well as processes and systems for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption. The control plan outlines how we 
respond to and report incidents of fraud and corruption in accordance with section 10 
of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014.

We are committed to strengthening fraud and corruption control arrangements and 
enhancing awareness of officials’ obligations under the new Commonwealth Fraud and 
Corruption Control Framework, which commenced on 1 July 2024, and the National  
Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2022. Key initiatives in 2024–25 included updating 
the Fraud and Corruption Control Plan, reviewing associated training and guidance 
materials, and engaging with relevant enterprise governance committees to ensure 
alignment with best practices and legislative requirements.

Treasury reports fraud information annually to the Treasurer and the Australian  
Institute of Criminology. Treasury’s 2024–25 fraud certification can be found in the  
Letter of Transmittal.
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Internal audit arrangements

Internal audits provide independent advice and assurance to the Secretary about the 
effectiveness of our governance, risk, compliance and performance arrangements, and 
our financial and operational controls. The internal audit program improves our ability 
to manage risks and drive performance.

Treasury’s internal auditors deliver independent advice and assurance in line with our 
3-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan. This Plan is developed by Treasury and our internal 
auditors in consultation with the independent Audit and Risk Committee, Performance 
and Risk Committee, the Executive Board and other departmental stakeholders.

In 2024–25, our internal auditors delivered a program of audits across the broad range 
of Treasury functions. These included performance, compliance and control, efficiency, 
and in-flight audits, as well as management-initiated reviews.

Integrity and ethical standards

Treasury holds itself to the highest standards of ethical conduct and professional 
behaviour. A comprehensive set of policies and procedures aligned with the APS Code 
of Conduct and Values, is in place to ensure staff uphold the standards in the  
Public Service Act 1999.

We continued to strengthen our pro-integrity culture in 2024–25 through implementation 
of our Integrity Strategy, the APS Integrity Taskforce action plan and Commonwealth 
Integrity Maturity Framework. Adopting the new APS value of Stewardship further 
enhanced the integrity of our work. We used our collective experience, diversity, and 
resources to support the ethical and sustainable delivery of policies and programs.

Significant non-compliance issues with finance law

There were no significant instances of non-compliance with the finance law reported to 
the responsible minister in 2024–25.
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External scrutiny 
Treasury operations were subject to oversight by several external bodies in the reporting 
period, including Parliamentary committees, the Commonwealth Ombudsman, National 
Anti-Corruption Commission, Australian National Audit Office (ANAO), Administrative 
Appeals Tribunal and Office of the Australian Information Commissioner.

External audit
The ANAO tabled 2 performance audit reports involving Treasury during 2024–25. 

Auditor-General Report No.16 Design of the Energy Price Relief Plan was tabled on 
11 December 2024. There was one recommendation about Treasury’s risk management 
arrangements. Treasury agreed with the recommendation.

Auditor-General Report No.34 Treasury’s Design and Implementation of the Measuring 
What Matters Framework, was tabled 22 May 2025. There were 2 recommendations 
to Treasury: monitoring and evaluation of how Measuring What Matters is being 
embedded across government; and arrangements for delivering and publishing the 
next Measuring What Matters statement. Treasury agreed to the 2 recommendations.

Treasury was advised that the ANAO would continue the program of work with 
Treasury’s annual performance statements in 2024–25.

Auditor-General Report No. 25 Performance Statements Auditing in the Commonwealth 
– Outcomes from the 2023–24 Audit Program included the audit of Treasury’s annual 
performance statements for 2023–24. This was the third year Treasury participated in 
this audit program. The report assessed the overall maturity of Treasury’s approach to 
performance reporting as ‘advanced’.
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Our people
Treasury is committed to creating a trusted, responsive and highly ethical workforce 
with the right culture and expertise to deliver now and into the future. 

Performance management
Treasury manages the ongoing development of its employees in a high-performance 
work culture through the Performance Development System and the Senior Executive 
Service (SES) Performance Leadership Framework. The objectives of the system are:

	� continuously improving organisational performance to enable the department to 
achieve its strategic outcomes and priorities

	� providing a framework for individual and organisational performance and expected 
behaviours, including supporting development and career planning

	� providing an approach to ensure regular and meaningful feedback enabling 
individuals to understand how their day-to-day work contributes to the department’s 
goals and objectives

	� providing mechanisms for addressing declines in performance and appropriately 
managing underperformance.

Outcomes and behavioural expectations of Treasury SES officers are aligned to the 
APS Performance Leadership Framework.

Learning and development
Treasury delivered a range of training programs online and in-person in 2024–25, with 
a focus on enhancing accountability and core APS skills across all classifications. This 
included the leadership capabilities of Senior Executive Service (SES) and Executive 
Level (EL) staff. Development areas included integrity, governance and active 
bystander training.

Employees continued to supplement their professional development with APS Academy 
courses and the Treasury study assistance program. Employees also accessed external 
opportunities, including: 

	� Sir Roland Wilson Scholarship Program undertaken at the Australian National University 

	� Australia and New Zealand School of Government’s Executive Master of 
Public Administration 

	� National Security College development programs

	� Australian Public Service Commission Jawun secondments.
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Entry level programs
The department provides graduate opportunities through the Treasury Graduate 
Development Program and leads the recruitment for the Australian Government 
Graduate Program Economist Stream for participating APS agencies. 

The Treasury Graduate Development Program is a 2-year program involving 
work placements, on-the-job training and structured learning and development. 
In February 2025, 44 candidates were accepted into the program.

Treasury also participates in whole-of-government entry level programs, including 
the Australian Government Graduate Programs in:

	� Human Resources

	� Data

	� Science, technology, engineering and maths

	� Legal

	� Accounting/Finance

	� School Leavers

	� Indigenous Apprentices.

In 2024–25 Treasury continued its Internship Program. It engaged 5 interns to undertake 
paid work-based placements at the APS2 classification level, to further build entry-level 
career pathways.

Staffing information
Treasury had 1,654 employees at 30 June 2025. The average staffing level across 
2024–25 was 1,670.5. 

Over half (52.8 per cent) of Treasury’s workforce are women, 76.4 per cent are 45 years 
of age or under, 3.8 per cent identify as having an ongoing disability, 1.2 per cent 
identify as Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander, and 14.9 per cent identify that their 
first language is not exclusively English. 

At 30 June 2025, women comprised 52.1 per cent of the operative SES cohort, including 
higher duties arrangements. Treasury has achieved its gender parity target for female 
SES representation. Treasury’s geographic footprint extends beyond Canberra, with 
offices in Sydney, Melbourne and Perth, and officers posted or deployed overseas.

Strategic Commissioning Framework
In 2024–25 Treasury took steps to bring core work in-house in line with the APS Strategic 
Commissioning Framework. The target for 2024–25 aimed at bringing $290,907 
(excluding GST) of core work in-house in Portfolio Program and Project Management 
functions. This target was achieved, with an actual reduction of $343,561.70 (excluding 
GST) in relevant supplier expenditure in 2024–25.
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Table 9: All ongoing employees current report period (2024–25)

State/Territory Male Female Uses other term Total
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NSW 89 5 94 98 20 118 0 0 0 212

Qld 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SA 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Tas 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 2

Vic 103 10 113 87 8 95 0 0 0 208

WA 3 0 3 6 3 9 0 0 0 12

ACT 508 28 536 519 90 609 0 0 0 1,145

NT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas 9 0 9 5 0 5 0 0 0 14

Total 713 43 756 717 121 838 0 0 0 1,594

Table 10: All ongoing employees previous report period (2023–24)

State/Territory Male Female Uses other term Total
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NSW 85 3 88 85 19 104 0 0 0 192

Qld 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Vic 75 8 83 71 6 77 0 0 0 160

WA 3 0 3 5 1 6 0 0 0 9

ACT 534 28 562 562 84 646 0 0 0 1,208

NT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas 9 0 9 3 0 3 0 0 0 12

Total 706 39 745 726 110 836 0 0 0 1,581



101Our people

3

Part 3 – Management and accountability

Table 11: All non-ongoing employees current report period (2024–25)

State/Territory Male Female Uses other term Total
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NSW 2 2 4 4 4 8 0 0 0 12

QLD 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TAS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VIC 4 3 7 0 2 2 0 0 0 9

WA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

ACT 4 10 14 7 18 25 0 0 0 39

NT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 15 25 11 24 35 0 0 0 60

Table 12: All non-ongoing employees previous report period (2023–24)

State/Territory Male Female Uses other term Total
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NSW 0 3 3 3 4 7 0 0 0 10

Qld 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Vic 4 3 7 2 5 7 0 0 0 14

WA 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1

ACT 6 16 22 18 20 38 0 0 0 60

NT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Overseas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 22 32 24 29 53 0 0 0 85
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Table 13: Australian Public Service Act ongoing employees current report 
period (2024–25)

Level Male Female Uses other term Total
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SES 3 3 0 3 5 0 5 0 0 0 8

SES 2 9 2 11 14 0 14 0 0 0 25

SES 1 41 2 43 39 4 43 0 0 0 86

EL 2 128 12 140 121 31 152 0 0 0 292

EL 1 238 14 252 236 43 279 0 0 0 531

APS 6 186 8 194 181 25 206 0 0 0 400

APS 5 68 3 71 82 12 94 0 0 0 165

APS 4 13 0 13 15 3 18 0 0 0 31

APS 3 24 1 25 23 2 25 0 0 0 50

APS 1-2 3 1 4 1 1 2 0 0 0 6

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 713 43 756 717 121 838 0 0 0 1,594
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Table 14: Australian Public Service Act ongoing employees previous report 
period (2023–24)

Level Male Female Uses other term Total
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SES 3 2 0 2 4 0 4 0 0 0 6

SES 2 11 0 11 13 0 13 0 0 0 24

SES 1 46 3 49 40 2 42 0 0 0 91

EL 2 119 9 128 139 27 166 0 0 0 294

EL 1 249 19 268 229 39 268 0 0 0 536

APS 6 158 4 162 175 25 200 0 0 0 362

APS 5 74 3 77 89 12 101 0 0 0 178

APS 4 13 1 14 12 2 14 0 0 0 28

APS 3 33 0 33 23 3 26 0 0 0 59

APS 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

APS 1 1 0 1 2 0 2 0 0 0 3

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 706 39 745 726 110 836 0 0 0 1,581
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Table 15: Australian Public Service Act non-ongoing employees current report 
period (2024–25)

Level Male Female Uses other term Total
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SES 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SES 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SES 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EL 2 0 4 4 1 2 3 0 0 0 7

EL 1 5 1 6 4 2 6 0 0 0 12

APS 6 1 0 1 4 1 5 0 0 0 6

APS 5 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

APS 4 4 0 4 1 1 2 0 0 0 6

APS 3 0 1 1 1 3 4 0 0 0 5

APS 1-2 0 8 8 0 15 15 0 0 0 23

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 15 25 11 24 35 0 0 0 60
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Table 16: Australian Public Service Act non-ongoing employees previous report 
period (2023–24)

Level Male Female Uses other term Total

Fu
ll-

ti
m

e

Pa
rt

-t
im

e

To
ta

l M
a

le

Fu
ll-

ti
m

e

Pa
rt

-t
im

e

To
ta

l 
Fe

m
a

le

Fu
ll-

ti
m

e

Pa
rt

-t
im

e

To
ta

l U
se

s  
ot

he
r t

er
m

SES 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SES 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SES 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EL 2 3 1 4 0 3 3 0 0 0 7

EL 1 2 1 3 5 2 7 0 0 0 10

APS 6 3 0 3 2 1 3 0 0 0 6

APS 5 1 0 1 6 4 10 0 0 0 11

APS 4 1 2 3 7 1 8 0 0 0 11

APS 3 0 3 3 2 4 6 0 0 0 9

APS 2 0 15 15 2 13 15 0 0 0 30

APS 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 22 32 24 29 53 0 0 0 85
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Table 17: Australian Public Service Act employees by full-time and part-time 
status current report period (2024–25)

Level Ongoing Non-Ongoing Total

Full-time Part-time
Total 

Ongoing Full-time Part-time
Total  

Non-Ongoing

SES 3 8 0 8 0 0 0 8

SES 2 23 2 25 0 0 0 25

SES 1 80 6 86 0 0 0 86

EL 2 249 43 292 1 6 7 299

EL 1 474 57 531 9 3 12 543

APS 6 367 33 400 5 1 6 406

APS 5 150 15 165 0 1 1 166

APS 4 28 3 31 5 1 6 37

APS 3 47 3 50 1 4 5 55

APS 1-2 4 2 6 0 23 23 29

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1,430 164 1,594 21 39 60 1,654
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Table 18: Australian Public Service Act employees by full-time and part-time 
status previous report period (2023–24) 

Level Ongoing Non-Ongoing Total

Full-time Part-time
Total 

Ongoing Full-time Part-time
Total  

Non-Ongoing

SES 3 6 0 6 0 0 0 6

SES 2 24 0 24 0 0 0 24

SES 1 86 5 91 0 0 0 91

EL 2 258 36 294 3 4 7 301

EL 1 478 58 536 7 3 10 546

APS 6 333 29 362 5 1 6 368

APS 5 163 15 178 7 4 11 189

APS 4 25 3 28 8 3 11 39

APS 3 56 3 59 2 7 9 68

APS 2 0 0 0 2 28 30 30

APS 1 3 0 3 0 1 1 4

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1,432 149 1,581 34 51 85 1,666

Table 19: Australian Public Service Act employment type by location current 
report period (2024–25)

State/Territory Ongoing Non-Ongoing Total

NSW 212 12 224

QLD 0 0 0

SA 1 0 1

TAS 2 0 2

VIC 208 9 217

WA 12 0 12

ACT 1,145 39 1,184

NT 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0

Overseas 14 0 14

Total 1,594 60 1,654
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Table 20: Australian Public Service Act employment type by location previous 
report period (2023–24)

State/Territory Ongoing Non-Ongoing Total

NSW 192 10 202

Qld 0 0 0

SA 0 0 0

Tas 0 0 0

Vic 160 14 174

WA 9 1 10

ACT 1,208 60 1,268

NT 0 0 0

External Territories 0 0 0

Overseas 12 0 12

Total 1,581 85 1,666

Table 21: Australian Public Service Act Indigenous employment current report 
period (2024–25)

Employment type Total

Ongoing 19

Non-Ongoing 0

Total 19

Table 22: Australian Public Service Act Indigenous employment previous report 
period (2023–24)

Employment type Total

Ongoing 20

Non-Ongoing 0

Total 20
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Workplace relations
Remuneration and employment conditions for non-SES employees are determined 
under the Treasury Enterprise Agreement 2024–2027 (the enterprise agreement). 
Remuneration and employment conditions for SES employees are determined by 
the Secretary under subsection 24(1) of the Public Service Act 1999. The enterprise 
agreement and SES determinations operate in conjunction with Commonwealth 
legislation and are supported by internal policies and guidelines. The department 
occasionally uses individual flexibility arrangements for non-SES employees to secure 
specific expertise or specialist skills critical to business needs.

Treasury has a Workplace Relations Committee. Treasury consults with, and considers 
the views of, the Workplace Relations Committee on issues such as Treasury’s working 
environment and the implementation and operation of the enterprise agreement, as 
these affect employment terms and conditions. The Workplace Relations Committee 
membership includes representatives from the Community and Public Sector Union 
and Treasury’s employee diversity networks to ensure a range of voices and maintain 
inclusion as a key element in workplace policy development. This helps Treasury sustain 
good organisational culture that continues to be reflected in our APS Census results. 
Treasury also undertakes consultation with employees and relevant union(s) outside of 
the Workplace Relations Committee forum on key organisational changes.

SES remuneration
Treasury provides an SES remuneration package in recognition of all hours worked, 
including any reasonable additional hours. SES staff are not entitled to overtime 
payments, penalty rates or time off in lieu. 

SES employees received a 3.8 per cent salary increase effective 13 March 2025 in 
accordance with the government’s Public Sector Workplace Relations Policy 2023.

Individual determinations made under subsection 24(1) of the Public Service Act 1999 
are supported by a remuneration determination that establishes pay levels within 
each SES classification. SES employees advance through relevant pay levels for 
their classification based on performance as assessed under the SES Performance 
Leadership Framework. Treasury does not offer performance pay.

Table 23: Australian Public Service Act employment salary ranges by 
SES classification level (minimum/maximum) current report period (2024–25)

Level Minimum salary Maximum salary

SES 3 $376,314 $440,723

SES 2 $290,382 $339,876

SES 1 $236,924 $275,360
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Non-SES remuneration
Non-SES employees received a 3.8 per cent salary increase effective 13 March 2025 
in accordance with the enterprise agreement.

The enterprise agreement establishes pay levels within each APS and Executive Level 
classification level. Non-SES employees advance through relevant pay levels for their 
classification based on performance as assessed under the Treasury Performance 
Development System. 

For Treasury employees at overseas posts, Treasury is also guided by the conditions 
of service that are maintained by the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

Table 24: Non-SES remuneration by classification level (minimum/maximum) 
current report period (2024–25)

Level Minimum salary Maximum salary

EL2 $162,193 $186,140

EL1 $132,786 $152,319

APS6 $101,799 $123,328

APS5 $90,244 $96,022

APS4 $80,266 $84,465

APS3 $71,864 $76,059

APS2 $63,461 $67,665

APS1 $55,059 $59,789

Other $0 $0

Employment arrangements

Table 25: Australian Public Service Act employment arrangements current 
report period (2024–25)

Arrangement title SES Non-SES Total

Enterprise Agreement 0 1,475 1,475

Section 24(1) Determination 119 0 119

Australian Workplace Agreement 0 0 0

Individual Flexibility Arrangement (a) 0 7 7

Total 119 1,475 1,594

a)	 Employees with an individual flexibility arrangement in place are employed under Treasury’s Enterprise 
Agreement and included in the 1,594 employees provided in the table for that purpose. The 7 employees 
with an individual flexibility arrangement are not separately counted for the purposes of the total provided 
in the table.
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Procurement

Performance against the Commonwealth 
Procurement Rules
Treasury’s procurement activities were undertaken in accordance with the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013, Commonwealth Procurement 
Rules, and the Commonwealth Government’s Indigenous Procurement Policy. Treasury 
applies these requirements through its internal financial and procurement policies.

Information on all Treasury contracts awarded with a value of $10,000 (including GST)  
or more is available on AusTender at tenders.gov.au.

Exempt contracts 
No contracts valued at more than $10,000 (including GST) or standing offers were 
exempted by the Secretary from being published on AusTender on the basis that it 
would disclose exempt matters under the Freedom of Information Act 1982.

Australian National Audit Office access clauses
Table 26 shows contracts valued at $100,000 or more (including GST) which were 
entered into during 2024–25 and did not have provision for the Auditor-General to 
access the contractor’s premises. 

Table 26: Australian National Audit Office Access contract details 2024–25

Name of 
contractor Purpose

Total contract 
value $ (inc. GST)

Reason for not including 
access clauses

Investa Asset 
Management 
Pty Ltd

Lease and Rental of 
Property or Building – 
Melbourne State Office

$3,924,258 Standard industry practice 
to enter into supplier terms 
and conditions

GPT Property 
Management 
– MLB Office

Lease and Rental of 
Property or Building – 
Melbourne State Office

$3,139,053 Standard industry practice 
to enter into supplier terms 
and conditions

MGJ Properties Lease and rental of 
property or building – 
Moore Street Canberra

$2,300,000 Standard industry practice 
to enter into supplier terms 
and conditions

Quark 
Software Inc

Software $140,000 Standard industry practice 
to enter into supplier terms 
and conditions

http://www.tenders.gov.au
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Initiatives to support small and medium-sized 
enterprises and Indigenous business
Treasury supports small business participation in the Commonwealth Government 
procurement market. This includes the mandatory use of the Commonwealth 
Contracting Suite for procurements up to $200,000 (including GST) and the use of 
credit cards as a payment mechanism for low value procurements under $10,000 
(including GST). Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) and Small Enterprise participation 
statistics are available on the Department of Finance website at finance.gov.au.

Treasury is eInvoice enabled for receipt of supplier invoices and pays eInvoices in 
accordance with the Australian Government Supplier Pay On-Time or Pay Interest 
Policy. Treasury recognises the importance of ensuring that small businesses are 
paid on time. The results of the Survey of Australian Government Payments to Small 
Businesses are available on the Treasury website at treasury.gov.au. The survey was 
last conducted in 2021–22. Further information on the current policy is available on the 
Department of Finance website at finance.gov.au. 

Treasury supports the Indigenous Procurement Policy to significantly increase the rate of 
purchasing from Indigenous enterprises. The portfolio has met its purchasing target set 
by Government to ensure Indigenous employment and business opportunities continue 
to grow (for more information, please refer to the National Indigenous Australians 
Agency website at niaa.gov.au).

http://www.finance.gov.au
http://www.treasury.gov.au
http://www.finance.gov.au
https://www.niaa.gov.au/
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Consultants and non-consultants
Treasury engages consultants where specialist skills are required but are not available 
in-house. Consultancies are individuals, partnerships or corporations that provide 
professional, independent, expert advice and services.

Consultants are selected and engaged in accordance with the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013, Commonwealth Procurement Rules and 
Treasury’s internal policies. 

During 2024–25, Treasury entered into 46 new consultancy contracts involving total 
actual expenditure of $3,471,988 (including GST). In addition, 35 ongoing consultancy 
contracts were active during the period, involving total actual expenditure of 
$5,611,974 (including GST).

Information on the value of individual contracts and consultancies is available on the 
AusTender website at tenders.gov.au.

The information in Table 27 to Table 30 include contract and expenditure information, 
for the full 2024–25 financial year, for functions transferred into Treasury as part of 
recent machinery of government changes from: Attorney General’s Department; 
Department of Industry, Science and Resources; the Department of Infrastructure, 
Transport, Regional Development, Communications, Sport and the Arts; and the 
Department of Social Services. 

Table 27: Expenditure on reportable consultancy contracts current report 
period (2024–25)

Reportable consultancy contracts 2024–25 Number
Expenditure $  

(inc. GST)

New contracts entered into during the reporting period 46 $3,471,988

Ongoing contracts entered into during a previous 
reporting period

35 $5,611,974

Total 81 $9,083,962

Table 28: Expenditure on reportable non-consultancy contracts current report 
period (2024–25) 

Reportable non-consultancy contracts 2024–25 Number
Expenditure $  

(inc. GST)

New contracts entered into during the reporting period 203 $58,096,959

Ongoing contracts entered into during a previous 
reporting period

372 $72,937,051

Total 575 $131,034,010

https://www.tenders.gov.au/
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Table 29: Organisations receiving a share of reportable consultancy contract 
expenditure current report period (2024–25) 

Name of Organisation ABN
Expenditure  
$ (inc. GST)

Proportion of 
2024–25 total 

spend (%)

Finity Consulting Pty Ltd 89111470270 $1,712,822 19

ICA Partners 55158181241 $1,592,667 18

KPMG 51194660183 $749,106 8

Excelium Consulting Pty Ltd 80651479971 $461,780 5

Sententia Consulting 85639580662 $396,916 4

Note:	 In accordance with Department of Finance guidance, this table includes only those organisations who 
received the 5 largest shares of expenditure. 

Table 30: Organisations receiving a share of reportable non-consultancy 
contract expenditure current report period (2024–25)

Name of Organisation ABN
Expenditure  
$ (inc. GST)

Proportion of 
2024–25 total 

spend (%)

Universal McCann 19002966001 $33,266,361 25

Ventia Property Pty Ltd 16618028676 $9,092,965 7

A23 Pty Ltd 81612329781 $5,473,940 4

CoDesign plus Sheldon Pty Ltd 54640866360 $4,543,822 3

Droga5 Australia Pty Ltd 34121441576 $3,565,464 3

Note:	 In accordance with Department of Finance guidance, this table includes only those organisations who 
received the 5 largest shares of expenditure. 
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Asset management
Management of Treasury’s assets is governed by the Accountable Authority Instructions 
on asset management and aligns with government best practice. Treasury’s asset 
management framework includes an asset register, an asset management plan and 
a capital management plan. The asset register records details of all assets held by 
Treasury. An annual stocktake of assets keeps the register accurate and up to date. 
Treasury’s fixed assets include office fit-out, right-of-use assets, purchased and 
internally developed software, computer equipment, infrastructure and library materials.
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Executive remuneration

Introduction
The categories of officials covered by the disclosures include:

	� key management personnel

	� senior executive remuneration

	� other highly paid staff.

Remuneration policies and practices
The Secretary’s remuneration is determined by the Remuneration Tribunal. For 
SES employees, remuneration and employment conditions are determined under 
subsection 24(1) of the Public Service Act 1999. Further information on SES remuneration 
is available in the workplace relations section. 

Key management personnel
During the reporting period ended 30 June 2025, Treasury had 13 executives who 
met the definition of key management personnel. Their names are provided and term 
lengths summarised in Table 31.

Table 31: Key management personnel

Name Position
Term as key 
management personnel

Jenny Wilkinson PSM Secretary Part year

Dr Steven Kennedy PSM Secretary Part year

Victoria Anderson Deputy Secretary Full year

Diane Brown Deputy Secretary Full year

James Kelly Deputy Secretary Part year

Damien White Deputy Secretary Part year

Dr Angelia Grant Deputy Secretary Part year

Brenton Philp Deputy Secretary Part year

Roxanne Kelley PSM Deputy Secretary Part year

Luke Yeaman Deputy Secretary Part year

Sam Reinhardt Deputy Secretary Part year

Shane Johnson Acting Deputy Secretary Part year

Katrina Di Marco Acting Deputy Secretary Part year
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Table 32: Key management personnel remuneration 

Short-term benefits
Post-employment 

benefits
Other long-term 

benefits

Name
Position 
title

Base  
salary1 Bonuses

Other 
benefits and 
allowances2

Superannuation 
contributions3

Long 
service 
leave4

Other  
long-term 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
 Total 

remuneration5

Jenny 
Wilkinson PSM

Secretary 46,627 0 79 2,074 3,852 0 0 52,632

Dr Steven 
Kennedy PSM

Secretary 809,790 0 1,138 117,524 45,658 0 0 974,110

Victoria 
Anderson

Deputy 
Secretary

391,390 0 1,433 74,047 13,600 0 0 480,470

Diane Brown Deputy 
Secretary

395,291 0 0 61,930 14,783 0 0 472,004

James Kelly Deputy 
Secretary

164,812 0 1,534 21,378 16,457 0 0 204,181

Damien White Deputy 
Secretary

238,331 0 1,577 37,472 18,376 0 0 295,756

Dr Angelia 
Grant

Deputy 
Secretary

95,515 0 439 16,100 1,698 0 0 113,752

Brenton Philp Deputy 
Secretary

289,927 0 1,231 51,313 18,762 0 0 361,233

Roxanne  
Kelley PSM

Deputy 
Secretary

200,860 0 648 57,345 12,295 0 0 271,148

Luke Yeaman Deputy 
Secretary

229,139 0 1,015 51,058 7,348 0 0 288,560



118
Exe

cutive
 re

m
une

ra
tio

n

Tre
a

sury A
nnua

l Rep
ort 20

24
–

25

3

Short-term benefits
Post-employment 

benefits
Other long-term 

benefits

Name
Position 
title

Base  
salary1 Bonuses

Other 
benefits and 
allowances2

Superannuation 
contributions3

Long 
service 
leave4

Other  
long-term 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
 Total 

remuneration5

Sam  
Reinhardt

Deputy 
Secretary

153,424 0 0 26,058 3,404 0 0 182,886

Shane 
Johnson

Acting 
Deputy 
Secretary

176,577 0 950 24,727 17,481 0 0 219,735

Katrina  
Di Marco

Acting 
Deputy 
Secretary

219,229 0 1,202 36,093 14,643 0 0 271,167

1)	 Base salary includes salary paid and accrued, salary paid while on personal leave, annual leave accrued and higher duties allowances. 

2)	 Other benefits and allowances refers to non-monetary benefits such as provision of a car park.

3)	 For individuals in a defined contribution scheme (for example, Public Sector Superannuation accumulation plan (PSSap) and super choice), superannuation 
includes superannuation contribution amounts. For individuals in a defined benefits scheme (for example, Commonwealth Super Scheme (CSS) and Public Sector 
Superannuation (PSS)), superannuation includes the relevant Notional Employer Contribution Rate and Employer Productivity Superannuation Contribution.

4)	 Long service leave comprises the amount of leave accrued and taken in the period. 

5)	 The table includes the part year impact of key management personnel who either commenced or separated during the year.
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During the reporting period ended 30 June 2025, Treasury had 153 senior executives. Table 33 provides the average remuneration  
by band for senior executives during the reporting period. 

Table 33: Senior executive remuneration 

 Short-term benefits
Post-employment 

benefits
Other long-term 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Total 

remuneration

Total 
remuneration 
bands

Number 
of senior 

executives1

Average 
base 

salary2
Average 
bonuses

Average 
other 

benefits and 
allowances3

Average 
superannuation 

contributions

Average 
long 

service 
leave4

Average 
other 

long-term 
benefits

Average 
termination 

benefits
Average total 

remuneration5

$0 -  
$220,000

58 82,412 0 5,511 13,587 4,630 0 4,315 110,455

$220,001 - 
$245,000

6 183,943 0 10,886 30,748 11,148 0 0 236,725

$245,001 - 
$270,000

7 204,613 0 7,097 31,411 13,029 0 0 256,150

$270,001 - 
$295,000

8 205,270 0 9,277 31,284 9,901 0 31,715 287,447

$295,001 - 
$320,000

22 223,405 0 17,722 37,119 16,021 0 12,251 306,518

$320,001 - 
$345,000

20 258,237 0 14,596 42,868 18,186 0 0 333,887

$345,001 - 
$370,000

10 270,650 0 12,387 49,209 23,941 0 0 356,187

$370,001 - 
$395,000

5 294,211 0 13,325 48,775 23,810 0 0 380,121

$395,001 - 
$420,000

5 319,135 0 19,645 54,225 17,929 0 0 410,934
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 Short-term benefits
Post-employment 

benefits
Other long-term 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Total 

remuneration

Total 
remuneration 
bands

Number 
of senior 

executives1

Average 
base 

salary2
Average 
bonuses

Average 
other 

benefits and 
allowances3

Average 
superannuation 

contributions

Average 
long 

service 
leave4

Average 
other 

long-term 
benefits

Average 
termination 

benefits
Average total 

remuneration5

$420,001 - 
$445,000

3 330,805 0 14,667 54,305 25,819 0 0 425,596

$445,001 - 
$470,000

1 363,575 0 14,987 57,751 31,734 0 0 468,047

$495,001 - 
$520,000

1 265,905 0 177,083 40,186 17,675 0 0 500,849

$520,001 - 
$545,000

2 251,446 0 224,604 40,277 14,981 0 0 531,308

$595,001 - 
$620,000

2 366,171 0 166,678 61,573 7,178 0 0 601,600

$620,001 - 
$645,000

1 291,260 0 289,188 39,064 25,397 0 0 644,909

$720,001 - 
$745,000

1 262,420 0 412,413 48,522 19,166 0 0 742,521

$745,001 - 
$770,000

1 275,579 0 424,898 40,533 13,870 0 0 754,880

1)	 Includes acting arrangements greater than 3 months.

2)	 Base salary includes salary paid and accrued, salary paid while on personal leave, annual leave accrued and higher duties allowances.

3)	 Includes, but is not limited to, allowances and benefits received while on overseas post. 

4)	 Long service leave comprises the amount of leave accrued and taken in the period. 

5)	 The table includes the part year impact of senior executives who either commenced or separated during the year.
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Table 34 provides the average remuneration by band for other highly paid staff during the reporting period.

Table 34: Other highly paid staff remuneration

 Short-term benefits
Post-employment 

benefits
Other long-term 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Total 

remuneration

Total 
remuneration 
bands

Number of 
other hghly 

 paid staff

Average 
base 

salary1
Average 
bonuses

Average 
other 

benefits and 
allowances2

Average 
superannuation 

contributions

Average 
long 

service 
leave3

Average 
other 

long-term 
benefits

Average 
termination 

benefits
Average total 
remuneration

$295,001 - 
$320,000

1 235,314 0 32,367 39,727 0 0 0 307,408

$345,001 - 
$370,000

2 165,088 0 155,698 26,393 10,568 0 0 357,747

$370,001 - 
$395,000

1 172,942 0 175,742 27,193 10,591 0 0 386,468

$420,001 - 
$445,000

1 388,346 0 1,364 30,029 10,731 0 0 430,470

$495,001 - 
$520,000

1 166,808 0 302,060 25,310 8,313 0 0 502,491

$545,001 - 
$570,000

1 202,506 0 329,016 27,954 6,422 0 0 565,898

1)	 Base salary includes salary paid and accrued, salary paid while on personal leave, annual leave accrued and higher duties allowances.

2)	 Includes, but is not limited to, allowances and benefits received while on overseas post.

3)	 Long service leave comprises the amount of leave accrued and taken in the period. 
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GPO Box 707, Canberra ACT 2601 
38 Sydney Avenue, Forrest ACT 2603 
Phone (02) 6203 7300    

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Treasurer 
Opinion  
In my opinion, the financial statements of the Department of the Treasury (the Entity) for the year ended 30 
June 2025:  

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015; and 

(b) present fairly the financial position of the Entity as at 30 June 2025 and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended. 

The financial statements of the Entity, which I have audited, comprise the following as at 30 June 2025 and for 
the year then ended:  

• Statement by the Accountable Authority and Chief Finance Officer;  
• Statement of Comprehensive Income;  
• Statement of Financial Position;  
• Statement of Changes in Equity;  
• Cash Flow Statement;  
• Administered Schedule of Comprehensive Income;  
• Administered Schedule of Assets and Liabilities;  
• Administered Reconciliation Schedule;  
• Administered Cash Flow Statement; and  
• Notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory 

information. 

Basis for opinion  
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent 
of the Entity in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements for financial statement audits conducted by 
the Auditor-General and their delegates. These include the relevant independence requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) to the extent that they are not in conflict with the Auditor-
General Act 1997. I have also fulfilled my other responsibilities in accordance with the Code. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 

  

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matter 
Accuracy and Occurrence of Grants Expense 
Refer to Note 6.1C Special Appropriations 

The Entity administers a number of grants including 
grant payments to State and Territory Governments 
under the Federal Financial Relations Act 2009 (the 
Act). For the year ended 30 June 2025, the value of 
grants paid by the Entity under the Act was $128.7 
billion (2024: $122.5 billion).  

Accuracy and occurrence of grants expense is a key 
audit matter due to: 

• The significant value of the grants paid and 
the complex eligibility criteria set out in 
agreements for a number of the grant 
programs; and 

• The Entity’s reliance on other Australian 
Government entities and State and Territory 
Governments to provide information to 
support payments and confirm that 
eligibility criteria have been met. 

How the audit addressed the matter 
The audit procedures I applied to address this key 
audit matter included: 

• Tested, on a sample basis, the design, 
implementation and operating effectiveness 
of controls within other Australian 
Government entities to support the 
information provided to the Entity that 
substantiates the eligibility and grant 
payment amounts; and 

• Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy and 
occurrence of payments processed by the 
Entity by testing the design, implementation 
and operating effectiveness of controls such 
as delegate sign off for all payments, and 
agreed payments to supporting 
documentation. 

Key audit matter 
Completeness and Valuation of the Disaster 
Recovery Funding Arrangements (DRFA) 
Provision 
Refer to Note 5.4 Provisions 

The Entity manages payments to State and Territory 
Governments to assist with relief and recovery costs 
following a natural disaster. This is administered in 
accordance with the Disaster Recovery Funding 
Arrangements 2018. These payments apply to 
declared disaster events where a multi-agency 
response is required, and state expenditure exceeds 
a specified threshold. 

The completeness and valuation of the provision is a 
key audit matter due to the significant actuarial 
assumptions and judgements involved in estimating 
the provision. The significant judgements relate to 
the future value and timing of payments under 
disaster arrangements. Also, due to the nature of 
disasters, there is uncertainty at the time of the 
disaster of the estimated costs to restore State and 
Territory infrastructure to its original condition.  

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the provision for 
costs associated with natural disaster arrangements 
was valued at $16.6 billion (2024: $10.5 billion). 

How the audit addressed the matter 
The audit procedures I applied to address this key 
audit matter included: 

• Reviewed the effectiveness of processes to 
confirm eligibility of costs estimated under 
the DRFA arrangements; 

• Assessed the accuracy and completeness of 
estimates provided by State and Territory 
governments and other key inputs into the 
actuarial model;  

• Evaluated the appropriateness of the 
methodology used to determine provision 
including the reasonableness of significant 
assumptions used by the actuary; and 

• Evaluated the appropriateness of 
disclosures for the significant assumptions 
applied and of the uncertainties that impact 
the key assumptions. 
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Accountable Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements 
As the Accountable Authority of the Entity, the Secretary is responsible under the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (the Act) for the preparation and fair presentation of annual financial 
statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the rules made under 
the Act. The Secretary is also responsible for such internal control as the Secretary determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Secretary is responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity to 
continue as a going concern, taking into account whether the Entity’s operations will cease as a result of an 
administrative restructure or for any other reason. The Secretary is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the assessment 
indicates that it is not appropriate. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Entity’s internal control; 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Accountable Authority;  

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Accountable Authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern; and  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Accountable Authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Accountable Authority, I determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
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Australian National Audit Office 

 

 
Ann MacNeill 

Acting Executive Director 

Canberra 

18 September 2025 
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Statement by the Secretary and 
Chief Finance Officer
In our opinion, the attached financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025 
comply with subsection 42(2) of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability 
Act 2013 (PGPA Act), and are based on properly maintained financial records as per 
subsection 41(2) of the PGPA Act.

In our opinion, at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe 
the Treasury will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Jenny Wilkinson PSM 
Secretary to the Treasury

17 September 2025

Felicity McGinnes 
Chief Finance Officer

17 September 2025



130 Statement of comprehensive income

Treasury Annual Report 2024–25

4

 

                      3 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

    

2025   
Notes $'000   

NET COST OF SERVICES       
Expenses     

  
  
  
  
  
  

Total expenses 415,452    
    

Own-source income     
Own-source revenue     

  
  

Total own-source revenue 15,806    
            
Gains     

  
Total gains 16    
Total own-source income 15,822    
Net cost of services  (399,630)   

  
Surplus/(Deficit) (1,112)   

    
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     
Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost of 
services     

  
Total Comprehensive income / (loss) (1,104)   

  

Statement of comprehensive 
income
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Statement of Financial Position  

    

2025   
Notes $'000   

ASSETS 
Financial assets 

  
  

Total financial assets 140,653    
            
Non-financial assets 

  
  
  
  

Total non-financial assets 144,096    
Total assets 284,749    

    
LIABILITIES     
Payables     

  
  
  

Total payables 26,759    
    

Interest bearing liabilities     
  

Total interest bearing liabilities 121,990    
            
Provisions     

  
  

Total provisions 92,061    
Total liabilities 240,810    
Net assets 43,939    

    
EQUITY     

  
  
  

Total equity 43,939    

Statement of financial position
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

        

2025   
    $'000   
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY     
Opening balance   127,618    
Distribution to owners       

    
Contributions by owners     

  
Total transactions with owners   3,234    
Closing balance as at 30 June   130,852    
    
RETAINED EARNINGS     
Opening balance   (104,136)   
Comprehensive income       

  
Total comprehensive income   (1,112)   
Closing balance as at 30 June   (105,248)   
    
ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE   
Opening balance   18,327    
Comprehensive income     

  
  

Total comprehensive income   8    
Closing balance as at 30 June 18,335    

Accounting Policy 
Equity injections 
Amounts appropriated which are designated as ‘equity injections’ (less any formal reductions) and Departmental Capital 

Statement of changes in equity
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Cash Flow Statement 

            

2025   
    $'000   
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received 

  
  
  
  

Total cash received 444,946    
Cash used 

  
  
  
  
  
  

Total cash used 435,100    
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 9,846    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received     

  
Total cash received 16    
Cash used 

  
  
  

Total cash used 3,274    
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (3,258)   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received 

  
Total cash received 3,164    
Cash used 

  
Total cash used 10,842    
Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (7,678)   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held   
1,839    

Cash at the end of the reporting period 749    

Cash flow statement
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Budget Variance Reporting 

variances between the agency’s original budget estimates, as published 

Variances are considered to be ‘major’ if they are core to the agency’s activities and based on the following criteria:
• 

• this threshold but is considered important for the reader’s understanding or is relevant to an 
assessment of the discharge of accountability and to an analysis of the agency’s performance.

The nature and timing of the Commonwealth’s budget process can also contribute to variances.

 3.8% as per Treasury’s Enterprise 

 department’s permanent workforce 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Treasury’s overseas leases. Principal payments of lease 
 
 

 
 

 

Budget variance reporting
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Administered Schedule of Comprehensive Income 

 2025   
Notes $'000   

NET COST OF SERVICES       
Expenses 

207,992,798    
1,070,554    

336,829    

44,194    
254,104    

-    
Total expenses 209,698,479    

Income 
Revenue 

616,400    
788,733    

724,133    
101,402    

Total revenue 2,230,668    

Gains 
7,894    

341,680    
Total gains 349,574    
Total income 2,580,242    
Net (cost of)/contribution by services  (207,118,237)   
Surplus/(Deficit) (207,118,237)   

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Items subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost 
of services 

(548,212)   

Total comprehensive income (548,212)   
Total comprehensive income/(loss) (207,666,449)   

Administered schedule of 
comprehensive income
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Administered Schedule of Assets and Liabilities 

 

 2025   
Notes $'000   

ASSETS 
Financial assets 

1,410,502    
3,701,102    

32,668,162    
Total financial assets 37,779,766    
Total assets administered on behalf of 
Government 37,779,766    

    
LIABILITIES     
Payables     

1,968,716    
20,308,281    

524,257    
Total payables 22,801,254    
Financial liabilities 

9,360,635    
Total financial liabilities 9,360,635    
Provisions     

16,551,335    
Total provisions 16,551,335    
Total liabilities administered on behalf of 
Government 48,713,224    

    
Net assets/(liabilities) (10,933,458)   
      

Administered schedule of assets 
and liabilities
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Administered Reconciliation Schedule 

 2025   
$'000   

    
Opening assets less liabilities as at 1 July (4,575,670)   

 -   
    

Net (cost of)/contribution by services 
2,580,242    

    
(209,361,650)   

(336,829)   
Other comprehensive income     

(548,212)   
Transfers (to)/from Australian Government 

635,379    

107,051    
60,192    

69,381    

130,211,918    
22,598,966    
46,000,000    

 -   
2,688,000    

 -   
(1,062,226)   

 -   
Closing assets less liabilities as at 30 June (10,933,458)   
      

   
Accounting Policy 

Administered reconciliation 
schedule
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Administered Cash Flow Statement 

 2025   
Notes $'000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received 

652,828    
35,205    

724,934    

33,086,630    
101,761    

Total cash received 34,601,358    
Cash used 

200,244,576    
33,086,630    

39,508    

336,742    
677,683    

51,459    
Total cash used 234,436,598    
Net cash from/(used by) operating 
activities (199,835,240)   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received 

767    
-    

188,104    
898    

255,035    

15,953    
Total cash received 460,757    
Cash used 

-    

14,443    
3,999    

143,097    

570,000    
Total cash used 731,539    
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (270,782)   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (200,106,022)   

 
  

Administered cash flow 
statement
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 2025   
Notes $'000   

      

207,863    
Cash from Official Public Account           

131,083,921    
71,286,966    

Total cash from Official Public Account 202,370,887    
Cash to Official Public Account           

1,062,226    
Total cash to Official Public Account 1,062,226    
Net cash from/(to) Official Public Account 201,308,661    
            
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period1 5.1A 1,410,502   
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Administered Budget Variance Reporting 

Variances are considered ‘major’ agency’s

• 

• 

The nature and timing of the Commonwealth’s budget process can also contribute to variances.

 

 
 

 

- 

- an increase in Housing Australia’s

- an increase to Housing Australia’s net 
- 

- 

 

 

 

 

Administered budget 
variance reporting
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Overview  

Government’s lead economic adviser. Treasury provides advice to Government and implements policies and programs to 
economic and fiscal outcomes for Australians. Treasury’s work includes 

Treasury’s activities are classified as either departmental or administered. Departmental activities involve the use of 

and on continuing funding by Parliament for Treasury’s administration and programs.

The Basis of Preparation 

Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013

 Public Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015 (FRR)
 

Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015:

  Financial Instruments: Disclosure
  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
  Fair Value Measurement

 

Taxation 

Foreign Currency  

Compliance with Statutory Conditions for Payments from the Consolidated Revenue Fund 

Commonwealth of Australia Constitution Act 1900

Federation Financial Relations Act 2009 Federation Reform Fund Act 2008



143Notes to and forming part of the financial statements

4

Part 4 – Financial statements

 

16 
 

the Minister’s behalf. The States had met the requirements for the payments therefore the potential breaches are 

Correction of Prior Period Error 

Special Accounts Note 6.2 – Housing Australia Special Account

monwealth’s cost of borrowing over the life of the loan.

Housing Australia Investment Mandate Direction 2018

AASB 108 Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors

Events After the Reporting Period 

• Bankruptcy, personal property securities and consumer credit reporting from the Attorney General’s Portfolio.

• 

• 

• 

Future Made in Australia Act 
2024

Details of restructuring adjustments associated with these functions will be reported in the Treasury’s 2025
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1. Departmental Financial Performance 

 
1.1. Expenses 

2025   
$'000   

Note 1.1A: Employee benefits 
  
  

  
  
  
  

Total employee benefits 291,904    

Accounting Policy 

Note 1.1B: Suppliers 
Goods and services supplied or rendered 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 97,800    

  
  

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 97,800    

Other suppliers     
  

Total other suppliers 1,826    
Total suppliers 99,626    
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2025   
$'000   

Note 1.1C: Grants 
  

Total grants 500    

Accounting Policy 

Note 1.1D: Finance costs 
  
  

Total finance costs 1,943    
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1.2. Own-Source Revenue and Gains 
2025   

Own-Source Revenue $'000   
      
Note 1.2A: Revenue from contracts with customers 

  
Total revenue from contracts with customers 10,106    

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 
  

  
  
  
  
  

10,106    
    

  
  

  10,106    

Maturity analysis of sub-lease commitments receivable: 
  
  
  
  
  
  

Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 530    

Accounting Policy
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Accounting Policy (continued)

tionship between the Treasury’s

ities to support the Treasury’s

tionship between the Treasury’s
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2025   
$'000   

Note 1.2B: Other revenue 
    

  
  
  

Total other revenue 5,700    

Note 1.2C: Other gains 
  
  

Total other gains 16    

Note 1.2D: Revenue from Government 

  
Total revenue from Government 398,518    

Accounting Policy 
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2. Departmental Financial Position 

 
2.1. Financial Assets 

2025   
$'000   

Note 2.1A: Cash and cash equivalents 
  

Total cash and cash equivalents 749    

Note 2.1B: Trade and other receivables 
Goods and services receivables     

  
  

Total goods and services receivables 3,374    

Appropriation receivables     
  

Total appropriation receivables 135,172    

Other receivables 
  
  

Total other receivables 1,358    
Total trade and other receivables (gross) 139,904    
Total trade and other receivables (net) 139,904    

Accounting Policy 
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2.2. Non-Financial Assets 

Note 2.2: Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of property, plant and equipment and computer 
software (2024-25) 

  Buildings  
Plant and 

equipment Intangibles1 Total 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

As at 1 July 2024   

Total value as at 1 July 2024 132,912  10,466  2,766  146,144  

Total as at 30 June 2025 127,636  8,200  1,206  137,042  
          
Total as at 30 June 2025 represented by:         

Total as at 30 June 2025 127,636  8,200  1,206  137,042  
          

107,994  28   - 108,022  
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Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
    

  2025   
$'000   

Commitments are payable as follows1:     
  
  

Total commitments 112    

Accounting Policy 

the transferor’s accounts immediately prior to the restructuring. 

–

of the Treasury’s leasehold improvements with a corresponding provision for the restoration recognised.

do not differ materially from the assets’ fair values as at the reporting date. The regularity of independent valuations 
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Accounting Policy (continued) 

2025                          2024 

. Where indications of impairment exist, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an 
impairment adjustment made if the asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. For non

is not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate future cash flows and the asset would 

The Treasury’s intangible assets comprise internally developed and purchased software for internal use. These assets 

Accounting judgement and estimates  

–
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2.3. Interest Bearing Liabilities 
2025   

$'000   
Note 2.3: Leases 

    
  
  

Total leases  121,990    

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows 
  
  
  

Total leases  130,914    

Accounting Policy 

defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration’.

readily determinable, or the department’s incremental borrowing rate.

2.4. Other Provisions 
Note 2.4: Reconciliation other provisions Total 

$’000 
Carrying amount 1 July 2024 6,204 

Closing balance 30 June 2025 6,540 
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3. People and Relationships 

3.1. Employee Provisions 
  2025   
  $'000   
Note 3.1: Employee provisions     

  
Total employee provisions 85,521    

Accounting Policy 

The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of employees’ remuneration at the estimated salary rates applied at the 
time the leave is taken, including the Treasury’s employer superannuation contribution rates to the extent the leave is 

by the Australian Government in due course. This liability is reported in the Department of Finance’s administered 

’s 

entitlements of Treasury’s employees
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3.2. Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

 
  2025   

$'000   
  

  
  
  

Total key management personnel remuneration expenses2 4,187    

 
3.3. Related Party Disclosures 
 
Related party relationships: 

Transactions with related parties: 
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4. Income and Expenses Administered on Behalf of Government 

4.1. Administered – Expenses 
 2025   
$'000   

Note 4.1A: Grants 

161,627,984    
46,000,000    

301,362    
    

62,020    
432    

    
1,000    

Total grants 207,992,798    
    

 
Accounting Policy 

–

–

–
outcomes for all Australians and ensure the sustainability of Australia’s health system. Payments are made on the 

–

–

–



157Notes to and forming part of the financial statements

4

Part 4 – Financial statements

 

30 
 

Federation Financial Relations Act 2009

the Federation Financial Relations Act 2009

Territories. These amounts are recorded as ‘ revenue from Government Agencies’

–

Medicare Guarantee Act 2017

Corporations Act 2001
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.   2025   
  $'000   
Note 4.1B: Finance costs 

649,403    

-    
421,151    

Total finance costs 1,070,554    

.
Accounting Policy 

–

.
Note 4.1C: Payments to corporate Commonwealth entities 

59,566    
277,263    

Total payments to corporate Commonwealth entities 336,829    

. 
Note 4.1D: Suppliers 
Suppliers 

39,091    
395    

Total suppliers 39,486    
Increase in provisions and financial guarantees 

4,708    
Total increase in provisions 4,708    
Total suppliers and increase in provisions 44,194    
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 2025   
$'000   

Note 4.1E: Concessional loan discount   
203,336    

50,768    
Total concessional loan discount 254,104    

 
Accounting Policy 

Accounting judgement and estimates 

prevailing market equivalent rate or terms. This requires judgement in determining the ‘market equivalent rate’ to 
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4.2. Administered – Income 
 2025   

Revenue $'000   
    

Non-Taxation Revenue     
Note 4.2A: Revenue from contracts with customers 

616,400    
Total revenue from contracts with customers 616,400    

 
Note 4.2B: Interest 

551,957    
96,409    
91,896    
37,929    

9,556    
452    
316    
178    

40    
Total interest 788,733    

    

Note 4.2C: Special Account revenue from government agencies     
500,000    
200,000    

14,633    
9,500    

-    
Total FRF revenue from government agencies 724,133    

Note 4.2D: Taxation and other revenue       
968,397    

(968,397)   
90,000    
11,402    

Total taxation and other revenue 101,402    
      

Terrorism and 
Cyclone Insurance Act 2003

Note 4.2E: Gains   

16,009    

231    
325,440    

Total Gains 341,680    
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Accounting Policy 

Australia’s 

Australia’s IMF quota commitment. This money is lent by Australia under the IMF’s Financial Transaction Plan, under 

Where the IMF’s holdings of Australian dollars fall below a specified level, it pays remuneration on Australia’s average 

shared between members and reflected at Note 4.2B as ‘burden sharing’. No adjustment for ‘burden sharing’ has been 

Remuneration is calculated and paid at the end of the IMF’s financial quarters. An annual Maintenance of Value 
adjustment is made to the IMF’s holdings of Australia’s quota paid in Australian dollars to maintain its value in SDR 
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Accounting Policy (continued) 
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5. Assets and Liabilities Administered on Behalf of Government 

5.1. Administered – Financial Assets 
 2025   
$'000   

Note 5.1A: Cash and cash equivalents 
883,549    
409,829    
117,124    

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,410,502    

. 

Accounting Policy

The Treasury’s administered cash and cash equivalents relate to special account 

Note 5.1B: Loans and other receivables     
Loans     

2,452,413    
665,921    
288,779    
116,451    

-    
Total loans 3,523,564    

    
Other receivables     

84,138    
90,457    

1,297    
864    
782    

-    
-    
-    

Total other receivables 177,538    
Total loans and other receivables (gross) 3,701,102    

Receivables are expected to be recovered in 
320,577    

3,380,525    
Total receivables (gross) 3,701,102    
  
Receivables (gross) are aged as follows 

3,701,102    
Total receivables (gross) 3,701,102    
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Note 5.1B: Concessional loans carrying amounts 

  
Loans to 

PNG 
Loan to 

Indonesia 
Loan to 

AEMO 

Loans to 
Housing 

Australia Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
As at 1 July 2024 1,286,485  894,525  4,706   -  2,185,716  

570,000   -   -  76,552  646,552  

(203,336)   -   -  (50,768)  (254,104) 
(155,034)  (100,000)  (898)  -  (255,932) 

91,896  37,929  40  316  130,181  
Total as at 30 June 2025 1,590,011  832,454  3,848  26,100  2,452,413  

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 

Accounting Policy 

Loans Receivables 

Non-Concessional loans 

Housing Australia 
Investment Mandate Direction 2018

Commonwealth’s cost of borrowing over the life of the lo
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Concessional Loans 

development bank. The funds were used to support Indonesia’s COVID

Competition and Consumer Act 2010

Housing Australia Investment Mandate Direction 2018

Other receivables 
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 2025   
$'000   

Note 5.1C: Investments     
International financial institutions     

1,127,023    
707,227    
644,097    
522,341    
184,282    

9,467    
Total international financial institutions 3,194,437    

    
Australian Government entities     

2,196,412    
772,096    

-  
Total Australian Government entities 2,968,508    
      
Other investments     

13,781,506    
10,248,314    

2,096,876    
318,725    

31,873    
27,923    

Total other investments 26,505,217    
Total investments 32,668,162    
      

. 
Accounting Policy – Administered Investments  

nstruments for further details on the Treasury’s accounting policy. 
–

International Financial Institutions  

rtion of the ADB’s activities is focused on the infrastructure, 
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Accounting Policy – Administered Investments (continued) 

Australian Government entities  

Terrorism and Cyclone Insurance Act 2003

Other investments 

Australian Business Growth Fund (Coronavirus Economic Response Package) Act 
2020

–

represent a member’s shareholding in the IMF and generate most of the IMF’s financial 

Quota subscriptions, which are denominated in SDRs represent a member’s shareholding in the IMF and generate most 
of the IMF’s financial resources. All member countries of the IMF pay a capital subscription to the IMF, equivalent to 

nd denominated in SDRs. This represents a member’s shareholding in the IMF and is disclosed in 
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Accounting Policy - Administered Investments (continued) 

Australia’s (Treasury’s ’s share is

SDR 1 billion into the IMF’s Pooled 
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5.2. Administered – Payables 
 2025   

  $'000   
Note 5.2A: Grants     

1,019,389    
300    

949,027    
Total grants 1,968,716    

. 
Note 5.2B: IMF and other payables 

19,673,980    
98,134    

478,067    
58,080    

20    
Total other payables 20,308,281    

Other payables expected to be settled 
634,301    

19,673,980    
Total IMF and other payables 20,308,281    

 
International Monetary Fund (IMF) Special Drawing Right (SDR) Allocation 

The SDR allocation liability reflects the current value in AUD of the Treasury’s liability to repay to the IMF the 
  

 
Note 5.2C: Financial guarantees             

  

SME Loan 
Guarantee 

Scheme 

Show 
Starter 

Loan 
Scheme 

SME 
Recovery 

Loan 
Scheme 

Standalone 
Guarantee 

Housing 
Australia 

Home 
Guarantee 

Scheme1 Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
As at 1 July 2024 79,474  6,611  434,157  47,408  17,645  585,295  

(13,950)   -  (35,353)   -  (204)  (49,507) 
(28,081)  1,698  16,055  (5,680)  4,477  (11,531) 

Total as at 30 June 2025 37,443  8,309  414,859  41,728  21,918  524,257  
            

Total financial guarantees to be 
settled             

9,333  1,271  49,462  1,795  4,389  66,250  
28,110  7,038  365,397  39,933  17,529  458,007  

Total financial guarantees 37,443  8,309  414,859  41,728  21,918  524,257  

 
Accounting Policy 
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Accounting Policy (continued) 

Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) Guarantee Scheme and SME Recovery Loan Scheme 

 

  Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Act 2013

Accounting judgements and estimates 
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Accounting Policy (continued) 

Housing Australia Home Guarantee Scheme  

The Housing Australia Home Guarantee Scheme (HGS) represents the Treasury’s best estimate of claims expected from 

 

valuation results incorporate AGA’s best estimate of future property growth, mortgage rates and 

based on historic data on delinquencies from lenders’ mortgage providers. The assumed 
mortgage rates are based on expected future RBA cash rates plus a lender’s margin.
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5.3. Administered – Financial Liabilities 
 2025   
$'000   

Note 5.3A: Promissory notes 
9,292,838    

67,797    
Total promissory notes 9,360,635    

Promissory notes expected to be settled 
9,360,635    

Total promissory notes 9,360,635    

 
Accounting Policy 

their quota through a ‘maintenance of value’ adjustment. The maint

The issuing/cancelling of promissory note is also be used to adjust the IMF’s cash holdings of Australian 

riptions and represent a portion of the members’ shareholding. 
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5.4. Administered – Provision 
 2025   
$'000   

Note 5.4A: Provision 
Housing Australia Home Guarantee Scheme1 -    
Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements 16,551,335    

Total provisions 16,551,335    
        
Provisions expected to be settled 

4,064,776    
12,486,559    

Total provisions 16,551,335    

    DRFA   Total 
    $’000   $’000 
Liability estimate as at 30 June 2024   10,476,889    10,476,889  

  421,151    421,151  
  (1,377,606)    (1,377,606)  
  209,096   209,096  
 1,293,771    1,293,771  
  5,528,033    5,528,033  

Total as at 30 June 2025   16,551,335    16,551,335  

Accounting Judgements and Estimates  

 

The DRFA provision represents the Treasury’s best estimate of payments expected to be made to States and Territories 

Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements 2018

 

Actuarial Approach and Assumptions 

cost to the Commonwealth. The AGA’s actuarial approach applies a combination of a cost development model and a 
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Type of event Time since 
event 

Model used 

• 
• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

patterns in the ‘development’ of reported costs 
The ‘development factors’ used in the valuation are based 

Commonwealth’s liability (provision) in respect of future DRFA payments at the valuati

Sensitivity Analysis 

model’s upper and lower 
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Change in accounting estimates 

Treasury’s implementation of AGA’s valuation model represents a change in accounting estimates for categories of 

•

•
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6. Funding 

6.1. Appropriations 

Note 6.1A: Annual Appropriations 
    
Annual Appropriations for 2025 

    
Appropriation 
Adjustments 

Total 
appropriation 

Appropriation 
applied in 2025 

(current and 
prior years) 

  

  
Annual 

Appropriation1 
Section 74 

Receipts2 Variance3,4 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
DEPARTMENTAL     

Total departmental 402,426  33,812  436,238  (414,900) 21,338  
ADMINISTERED           

          
177,397   - 177,397  (127,678) 49,719  

5,428   - 5,428  (5,428) -  
        

1,544,000   - 1,544,000  (635,379) 908,621  

Total administered 
                                     

1,726,825  
                                                        

-  
                                     

1,726,825  
                                           

(768,485) 
                               

958,340  

–
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Appropriation 
Adjustments 
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Note 6.1B: Unspent Annual Appropriations ('recoverable GST exclusive') 

Authority 
2025   

$'000   
Departmental     

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2021-221   
Supply Act (No. 1) 2022-23 - DCB2   
Supply Act (No. 2) 2022-23 - Equity3   
Supply Act (No. 3) 2022-23 - DCB4   
Supply Act (No. 4) 2022-23 - Equity3   
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2023-245   
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2023-24 - DCB   
Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2023-24   
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2024-256   
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2024-25 - DCB   
Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2024-25   

  
Total departmental 144,156    
Administered     

Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2021-20227  -    
Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2021-20227  -    
Appropriation Act (No. 4) 2021-20227  -    
Supply Act (No. 1) 2022-20238 646    
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2022-20238,9 8,545    
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2023-202410 14,287    
Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2023-202411 39,468    
Appropriation Act (No. 4) 2023-202412 525,000    
Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2024-202513 45,251     -  
Appropriation Act (No. 2) 2024-202514 908,621     -  
Appropriation Act (No. 3) 2024-2025 4,768     -  

Total administered 1,546,586    
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Note 6.1C: Special Appropriations ('recoverable GST exclusive') 

Authority 

Appropriation applied 
 2025   
$'000   

Australian Business Growth Fund (Coronavirus Economic Response 
Package) Act 2020, s18 (4,630)   

Corporations Act 2001, s1069P(2) (264,995)   
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Act 1990, s4  (13,815)   
Federal Financial Relations Act 2009, s22 (128,699,197)   
Guarantee of Lending to Small and Medium Enterprises (Coronavirus 
Economic Response Package) Act 2020, s6 (50,936)   

Housing Australia Act 2018, s48A1 (25)   
International Finance Corporation Act 1955, s5, s5B(2)  -   
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8 (677,683)   
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8C(3) (570,000)   
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s9  -   
Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013, s.77 (18)   
Total payments (130,281,299)   
Notional payments     
Commonwealth Places (Mirror Taxes) Act 1998, s23(4)2  (968,397)   
Total notional payments (968,397)    
      
Total special appropriations (131,249,696)   
      

Housing Australia Act 
2018 National Housing Finance and Investment 
Corporation Act 2018

      

Asian Development Bank (Additional Subscription) Act 1972, s7   
Asian Development Bank (Additional Subscription) Act 1977, s7   
Asian Development Bank (Additional Subscription) Act 1983, s6   
Asian Development Bank (Additional Subscription) Act 1995, s6   
Asian Development Bank (Additional Subscription) Act 2009, s6   
Asian Development Bank Act 1966, s4   
Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank Act 2015, s7   
Banking Act 1959, s69(8)   
Corporations Act 2001, s846(B)   
Financial Agreements (Commonwealth Liability) Act 1932, s4(3)       
Guarantee of State and Territory Borrowing Appropriation Act 2009, s5     
Guarantee Scheme for Large Deposits and Wholesale Funding Appropriation Act 2008, s5     
Help to Buy Act 2024, s27(4) 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (General Capital Increase) Act 1989, s6 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (Share Increase) Act 1988, s5(1)     
International Financial Institutions (Share Increase) Act 1982, s7(1)       
International Financial Institutions (Share Increase) Act 1986, s7(1)       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8CA(4)       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8A       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8CAA(2)       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s5A(6)       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1947, s8B(2)       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1960, s4       
International Monetary Agreements Act 1974, s6       
Medicare Guarantee Act 2017, s18       
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency Act 1997, s4       
Papua New Guinea Loans Guarantee Act 1975, s4       
States Grants Act 1927, s7       
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993, s231(4)       
Terrorism and Cyclone Insurance Act 2003, s42(3)        
Terrorism and Cyclone Insurance Act 2003, s37       
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Note 6.1D: Disclosure by agent in relation to Annual and Special Appropriations ('Recoverable GST exclusive') 

      Department of Climate Change, Energy, 
  Department of Education   the Environment and Water 
  
  
2025 $'000   $'000 
Total receipts 33,010,710    75,920  
Total payments 33,010,710    75,920  

  
      Department of Climate Change, Energy, 

  Department of Education   the Environment and Water 
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6.2. Special Accounts 

Housing Australia 
Special Account1 

Medicare Guarantee Fund 
(Treasury) Special Account2 

The Housing 
Australia Future Fund 

Payments Special 
Account3 

2025 2025 2025 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance as at 1 July 
(represented by cash held 
in the OPA) 203,163  -  -  

-  -  -  
Adjusted opening balance 203,163  -  -  
Increases       

558,827  - -  -  
-  - 46,000,000  -  

281,748   - 400,000  
Total increases 840,575  46,000,000  400,000  
Available for payments 1,043,738  46,000,000  400,000  
Decreases       

(160,189)  - (282,876) 

 - (46,000,000)  - 
Total decreases (160,189) (46,000,000) (282,876) 
Total balance carried to the 
next period 883,549  -  117,124  
Balance represented by 

883,549  -  117,124  
Balance as at 30 June 
(represented by cash held 
in the OPA) 883,549  -  117,124  

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
Housing Australia Act 2018

Any principal repayment to the Commonwealth through this Account, may be “recycled” and the amount re
Interest is used to cover the Commonwealth’s cost of borrowing and cannot be “recycled”

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
Medicare Guarantee Act 2017

The Medicare Guarantee Act 2017

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
Housing Australia Future Fund Act 2023

The Housing Australia Future Fund Act 2023
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6.2 Special Accounts (continued) 
  Federation Reform Fund Special 

Account4 
Fuel Indexation (Road 

Funding) Special Account5 
  2025 2025 
  $'000 $'000 

Balance as at 1 July (represented 
by cash held in the OPA)     4,700  -  
Increases         

22,598,966  2,688,000  
3,012,934   - 

Total increases     25,611,900  2,688,000  
Available for payments     25,616,600  2,688,000  
Decreases         

(25,206,771)  - 

 - (2,688,000) 
Total decreases     (25,206,771) (2,688,000) 
Total balance carried to the next 
period     409,829  -  
Balance represented by     

409,829   - 
Balance as at 30 June (represented by 
cash held in the OPA)   409,829  -  

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
Fuel Indexation (Road Funding) Special Account Act 2015

: Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
Federation Reform Fund Act 2008

 

Financial System Stability Special Account  
The Treasury’s Financial System Stability special account was established under section 70E of the Banking Act 1959 

Banking Act 1959 Insurance Act 1973 
Life Insurance Act 1995 

Services for Other Entities and Trust Monies Special Account (SOETM) 
The Treasury’s SOETM special account 2022 was 

Account 2022). This instrument came into effect on 28 September 2022. The SOETM’s pur
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6.3 Net Cash Appropriation Arrangements 
2025   

$'000   
Total comprehensive income/(loss) - as per the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income   

  

  
  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) less expenses previously funded 
through revenue appropriations 8,881    

  
Net cash Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 8,873    
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7. Managing uncertainties 

7.1. Departmental Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
Quantifiable Contingencies 

 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

7.2. Administered Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

Quantifiable Administered Contingencies  

Contingent Liabilities 

International Monetary Fund (IMF) – 16th General Review of Quota 

Under the agreement, Australia’s quota will increase 
). This increase maintains Australia’s voting power at the IMF

To maintain the IMF’s overall lending capacity, if
is implemented it will be largely offset by reductions in Australia’s other IMF commitments –

IMF New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB) 

and the value of Australia’s NAB line of credit 

Australia’s NAB commitment will

upon to fund IMF programs that were approved under previous activations). The IMF did not call on Australia’s NAB facility 

IMF Bilateral Borrowing Arrangement (BBA) 

needed to supplement the IMF’s quota and NAB resources

quota increase is implemented, Australia’s BBA will be terminated and the IMF
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Quantifiable Administered Contingencies - Contingent Liabilities (continued) 

IMF Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust (PRGT) 

IMF Resilience and Sustainability Trust 

Resilience and Sustainability Trust’s (RST) Loan Account through to 30 November 2030. The RST Loan Account provides 

International financial institutions — uncalled capital subscriptions 

Development (IBRD) since 1947. Australia’s uncalled capital subscription to the IBRD totals US$

Development (EBRD) since 1991. Australia’s uncalled capital subscription to the EBRD totals EUR

Australia’s uncalled capital subscription to the ADB totals US$

None of these international financial institutions have ever drawn on Australia’s uncalled capital subscriptions.

Australian Business Growth Fund 

Guarantee by Commonwealth – Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 

The Australian Government guarantees the liabilities of the Reserve Bank of Australia, measured as the Bank’s total 
liabilities excluding capital, reserves, and Australian Government deposits. The principal component of the Bank’s liabilitie

he RBA’s liabilities exceeded its assets by $

The net liability position mainly reflects accumulated losses from the RBA’s policy response to the COVID

on the RBA’s gold holdings. The Treasury’s view is that the RBA as a central bank, is unique in its ability to create liquidity 
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Quantifiable Administered Contingencies - Contingent Liabilities (continued) 

Guarantee by Commonwealth — Housing Australia 

Unquantifiable Administered Contingencies  

Contingent Liabilities  

Terrorism insurance — Australian Reinsurance Pool Corporation  

the ARPC, but the Treasurer must declare a reduced payout rate to insured entities if the Government’s liability would 

Cyclone Reinsurance Pool – Australian Reinsurance Pool Corporation 

Indemnities for specialised external advisers during the COVID-19 pandemic  

cessation of the advisers’ engagement. Until the indemnity agreements are varied or expire, they will remain as contingent 
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Unquantifiable Administered Contingencies 

Contingent Assets 

Burden sharing in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) remuneration 

shortfalls in the IMF’s regular income from unpaid charges (“deferred charges”) and (2) accumulate precautionary 

Interim Placement Administered Account (IPAA) with the IMF 
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7.3. Financial Instruments 
2025   

$'000   
Note 7.3A: Categories of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets at amortised cost     

  
  
  

Total financial assets at amortised cost 4,719    
      
Financial Liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     

  
  
  

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 26,759    

Accounting Policy 

Financial assets 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Effective Interest Method

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)
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Accounting Policy (continued) 

Impairment of Financial Assets

lifetime expected credit losses 
12-month expected credit losses

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financia
liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised upon ‘trade date’.
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
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7.4. Administered - Financial Instruments 
 2025   
$'000   

Note 7.4A: Categories of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

1,410,502    
 -   

116,451    
 -   

665,921    
288,779    

2,452,413    
 -   

84,138    
 -   

1,297    
90,457    

 -   
782    

Total assets at amortised cost 5,110,740    
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income      

3,194,437    
2,968,508    

27,923    
13,781,506    
10,248,314    

2,096,876    
31,873    

318,725    
Total assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  32,668,162    
Total financial assets 37,778,902    

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: 

9,360,635    
1,968,716    

58,080    
20    

19,673,980    
98,134    

478,067    
Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 31,637,632    
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

524,257    
Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 524,257    
Total financial liabilities 32,161,889    
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 2025   
$'000   

Note 7.4B: Net Gains and Losses on Financial Assets   
Financial assets at amortised cost 

363,699    
(254,104)   
(440,149)   

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at amortised cost (330,554)   

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(548,212)   

425,034    
(111,458)   

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (234,636)   

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets (565,190)   
      

    

   2025   
  $'000   
Note 7.4C: Net Gains and Losses on Financial Liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     

(649,403)   
559,501    

Net gains/(losses) on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (89,902)   
      
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss     

11,531    
Net gains/(losses) on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 11,531    
  
Net gains/(losses) on financial liabilities (78,371)   

Note 7.4D: Credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Treasury’s administered financial assets is the carrying amount of ‘loans 

receivables’ (202 ‘ ’
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Note 7.4E: Liquidity risk 
The Treasury’s 

Maturities for financial liabilities in 2025 
  On Within 1  1 to 2 2 to 5 > 5   

demand year years years years Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 -  -  -  - 9,360,635  9,360,635  
 - 1,968,716   -  -  - 1,968,716  
 -  -  -  - 19,673,980  19,673,980  
 - 66,250  74,777  205,592  177,638  524,257  
 - 634,301   -  -  - 634,301  

Total -  2,669,267  74,777  205,592  29,212,253  32,161,889  
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Note 7.4F: Market risk   

Interest rate risk 

it’s

Foreign currency risk 

Sensitivity analysis of the risk that the entity is exposed to for 2025 
  Effect on 
Change in 

risk 
Net cost of 

services Net assets 
Risk variable variable  2025  2025 

% $'000 $'000 
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Accounting Policy  

Administered financial instruments  

 



195Notes to and forming part of the financial statements

4

Part 4 – Financial statements

 

68 
 

Accounting Policy - Administered financial instruments (continued) 

 

The Treasury’s administered financial guarantee contracts relate to the Small and Medium Enterprises 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets
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7.5. Fair Value Measurement 
Note 7.5A: Fair value measurement     
        

Fair value measurements at the end of 
the reporting period 

2025   
$'000   

Non-financial assets1,2       
  
  
  
  
  

Total non-financial assets 27,814    

The Treasury’s assets are held for operational purposes and not held for the 

Accounting Policy 

Accounting judgements and estimates 

Replacement cost 

All Asset Classes - Physical Depreciation and Obsolescence  
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7.6. Administered - Fair Value Measurement 

Note 7.6A: Fair Value Measurements, Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used 
Recurring fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period by hierarchy for assets and liabilities in 2025 
  Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using   
   2025   Category (Level 

1, 2 or 3) 
Valuation technique(s) and inputs used1 

  $'000   
Financial assets: 

International financial institutions:         
1,127,023        

707,227        
644,097        
522,341        
184,282        

9,467        
Total international financial institutions 3,194,437    3  Value of shares held 

          
Australian Government entities:         

772,096        
2,196,412        

-    
Total Australian Government entities 2,968,508    3  Net assets 

        
Other investments:         

13,781,506    3  Net assets 
10,248,314    3 

 
 
 

3  

Value of quota held / SDRs lent 
 
 
 
Net assets 

2,096,876    
318,725    

31,873    
27,923    

Total Other Investments 26,505,217        
Total financial assets 32,668,162        
Total fair value measurements 32,668,162        
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Fair value measurements  

 
Note 7.6B: Level 1 and Level 2 transfers for recurring fair value measurements 

 
Note 7.6C: Reconciliation for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements 

Recurring Level 3 fair value measurements - reconciliation for assets  
Financial assets 

Investments 
2025 

$'000 
As at 1 July 32,012,362  

(548,212) 
    

735,852  
560,258  
111,961  

1,702  
17,018  
72,485  

    
4,629  

 - 
71,588  

    
(371,481) 

Total as at 30 June 32,668,162  
Changes in unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in net cost of services for the year ended 30 June 1,499,276 
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8. Other Information 

8.1. Current/Non-current Distinction for Assets and Liabilities 
  2025   
  $'000   
Note 8.1A: Current/non-current distinction for assets and liabilities     
      
Assets expected to be recovered in:     
No more than 12 months       

  
  
  

Total no more than 12 months 146,459    
More than 12 months       

  
  
  
  

Total more than 12 months 138,290    
Total assets 284,749    
        
Liabilities expected to be settled in:       
No more than 12 months       
Suppliers     

  
  
  
  
  
  

Total no more than 12 months 59,803    
More than 12 months       
Provisions     

  
  
  

Total more than 12 months 181,007    
Total liabilities 240,810    234,704  
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2025   
$'000   

Note 8.1B: Administered - Current/non-current distinction for assets and 
liabilities 
  
Assets expected to be recovered in: 
No more than 12 months 

1,410,502    
320,577    

Total no more than 12 months 1,731,079    
More than 12 months 

3,380,525    
32,668,162    

Total more than 12 months 36,048,687    
Total assets 37,779,766    
  
Liabilities expected to be settled in: 
No more than 12 months 

1,968,716    
634,301    

66,250    
4,064,776    

Total no more than 12 months 6,734,043    
More than 12 months 

19,673,980    
9,360,635    

458,007    
12,486,559    

Total more than 12 months 41,979,181    
Total liabilities 48,713,224    
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Methodology for the Annual 
Stakeholder Survey
Treasury uses an annual stakeholder survey to assess the performance of the 
department’s policy advice, effectiveness of working relationships (performance 
measures 1 and 11) and administration of regulator functions (performance measure 9). 
An external provider was engaged to develop, conduct, and report on the annual 
stakeholder survey for 2024–25.

Fieldwork and data collection
The fieldwork for the stakeholder survey was conducted between May and June 2025. 

The research involved quantitative and qualitative data collection. The external 
provider emailed survey participants an invitation and a secure unique link to access 
the survey. Ministers or their delegates were interviewed by senior Treasury officers. 
A senior member from the external provider also attended as an independent observer 
and note taker.

Data was collected via 4 separate and tailored surveys (covering different types of 
stakeholders):

	� One for the 5 Treasury portfolio ministers – addressing their perceptions of Treasury’s 
performance in providing advice (performance measure 1) and perceptions of 
working with the Treasury (performance measure 11)

	� One for Treasury’s key stakeholders from Australian Government entities and other 
external stakeholders – addressing their perceptions of Treasury’s performance 
in providing advice (performance measure 1) and perceptions of working with the 
Treasury (performance measure 11)

	� One for stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework (performance measure 9)

	� One for stakeholders of the Payment Times Reporting Scheme (performance 
measure 9).

Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB) members were provided with the option 
to complete a hard-copy version of the Foreign Investment Framework survey 
questionnaire at an allocated time during a FIRB meeting on Tuesday, 10 June 2025. 
A senior ORIMA Research representative attended the FIRB meeting to facilitate this 
process by introducing the survey and providing guidance on completion.
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Sample selection
Sampling occurred through a census approach. All relevant stakeholders were invited 
to participate in a survey. A systematic approach was adopted to selecting relevant 
stakeholders, to address the risk of selection bias (adhering to Department of Finance 
better practice guidance), via transparent operational selection rules for Treasury’s 
business units (set out below). The external provider also independently assessed the 
integrity of the proposed lists of stakeholders to be surveyed.

Stakeholder selection operational rules

Performance measure 1 – Treasury’s policy advice:

	� Ministerial survey: All Treasury portfolio ministers, or their representatives, were invited 
to participate.

	� Survey of Australian Government entity stakeholders: Senior executives in other 
Australian Government entities who had dealt with Treasury between 1 April 2024 
and 31 March 2025 (the referenced period). In-scope stakeholders included:

	» Treasury’s Senior Executive Service (SES) counterparts in the Department of 
Finance and the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet

	» SES officers of other Australian Government entities who had dealt with Treasury 
at least 4 times in the referenced period.

	- A ‘dealing’ was defined as a number of interactions in relation to a particular 
collaboration activity (such as preparing a cabinet submission, preparing a 
round of economic forecasts). Therefore, for example, a stakeholder who only 
had 4 meetings with Treasury in the preparation of one cabinet submission 
would be defined to have dealt with Treasury only once and hence would not 
be in scope.

Performance measure 9 – Treasury’s regulatory functions:

	� Survey of key stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework:

	» Investors and/or agents of regulated entities who received a decision between 
1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 and who had submitted at least 4 investment 
proposals over the preceding year (1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025)

	» Investors and/or agents of regulated entities who have a Treasury client manager

	» Members of the Law Council’s Foreign Investment Committee

	» Non-executive members of the Foreign Investment Review Board, as at 
31 March 2025, who had attended a minimum of 2 monthly meetings

	» Senior officers (Executive Level 2/equivalent and above) from Australian 
Government entities and senior executives from other organisations who had 
dealt with Treasury at least 2 times in relation to the Foreign Investment Framework 
between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025
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	- In 2023–24, all stakeholders of this type who were invited to complete the survey 
were from Australian Government entities. There were no senior executives from 
other organisations invited to complete the Foreign investments Framework

	- A ‘dealing’ was defined as a number of interactions in relation to a particular 
matter/issue to do with the Foreign Investment Framework.

	� Survey of key stakeholders of the Payment Times Reporting Scheme (scheme):

	» Senior management from regulated entities, industry bodies, professional advisers 
identified on the regulator’s stakeholder liaison list and senior officers (Executive 
Level 2/equivalent and above) from Australian Government entities who had dealt 
with Treasury at least 2 times in relation to the scheme between 1 April 2024 and 
31 March 2025.

	- A ‘dealing’ was defined as an interaction in relation to matters regarding 
the scheme. This included, but was not limited to, raising specific issues with 
reporting, making enquiries, self-nominating for involvement or participating in 
stakeholder liaison groups, stakeholder engagement or consultations.

	- The ‘regulator’s stakeholder liaison list’ consisted of representatives from 
regulated entities, corporate and financial sector peak bodies and professional 
services advisors who had self-nominated to be a part of a contact list 
for the Payment Times Reporting Scheme news items, updates on new 
resource availability, the stakeholder liaison forum dates and other relevant 
communications.

Performance measure 11 – Working with Treasury:

	� Ministerial survey and survey of Australian Government entity stakeholders as defined 
in performance measure 1 – Treasury’s policy advice.

	� Survey of external stakeholders: Senior executive level stakeholders from 
organisations other than Australian Government entities who had dealt with 
Treasury at least 4 times between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 in engagements 
or consultations.

	» A ‘dealing’ was defined as a number of interactions in relation to a particular 
engagement/consultation matter (for example a particular stage of a 
reform process).

	» In-scope organisations included state and territory government entities, 
community sector organisations, businesses, peak bodies and unions.

For all stakeholders, in the event that a targeted stakeholder was not available to 
participate in the survey (for example had left the organisation, was on leave), another 
contact who was, at most, one reporting level below the initially invited officer from 
the stakeholder’s organisation, was to be substituted and invited to participate in the 
survey, subject to the nominated substitute having also dealt with Treasury as defined 
by the operational rules.
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Performance measure calculation methodology

Weighting of survey results

Ministerial feedback questionnaire

Given the relative importance of the Treasurer as the senior Treasury minister, the 
survey ratings of the Treasurer (or delegate) have been weighted more highly than 
those of other ministers. The weighting formula has a ratio of 4:1:1:1:1, with the Treasurer’s 
responses account for 50 per cent of the aggregate performance metrics derived from 
the survey, while each other 4 ministers’ responses account for 12.5 per cent. Given 
all 5 Treasury portfolio ministers responded to the survey, the Treasurer’s response 
has been counted as 2 responses and each of the other ministers’ responses as 
0.5 responses.

Survey of key stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework

Given the relative importance of investors and/or agents of regulated entities who have 
a Treasury client manager as stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework, and 
the high volume of interactions and intensity of contact with the Foreign Investment 
Division these stakeholders have, the survey ratings have been weighted more highly 
than those of other stakeholders.

The weighting formula has the effect that survey responses from investors with 
a Treasury client manager have 2 times the weight of other stakeholders. The 
performance measure derived from stakeholders of the Foreign Investment Framework 
(performance measure 9) has been calculated as a weighted average.

Approach to calculating policy advice Performance Measures
Policy advice refers to an output provided by Treasury to help ensure that government 
decisions are appropriately supported and informed. This includes briefing documents, 
submissions and oral briefings.

Performance measure 1 – Proportion of Treasury ministers that rate 
Treasury advice highly

The ministerial stakeholder questionnaire asked ministers to rate specific aspects/
attributes of the policy advice that they had received from Treasury in 2024–25 via an 
intuitive, clear and familiar 5-point ‘agreement’ rating scale (where 1 = ‘strongly disagree’ 
and 5 = ‘strongly agree’). These attributes were drawn from the Treasury Policy Advice 
Matrix and are outlined in Table 35.
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Table 35: Attributes drawn from the Treasury Policy Advice Matrix

In general, Treasury’s policy advice...

1) Informed 2) Influential 3) Impactful

Was supported by 
relevant evidence

Was tailored to your needs Resulted in government 
decisions consistent with 
the advice

Was supported by 
contemporary/up-to-date 
evidence

Was timely Led to tangible outcomes

Where applicable, 
considered the views of 
relevant stakeholders 
and experts

Was considered in your 
decision-making

The individual attribute ratings provided by ministers were aggregated (formula 
set out below) to derive numerical scores that indicate ‘High’, ‘Moderate’ and 
‘Low’ performance.

Performance measure 1 – Proportion of key government entities and 
stakeholders that rate Treasury advice highly

A similar approach was taken for this element of performance measure 1. The survey 
questionnaire asked Australian Government entity stakeholders to rate specific 
aspects/attributes of the policy advice that they had seen from Treasury in different 
areas (for example, macroeconomic policy, fiscal policy, tax policy) in 2024–25 via the 
5-point ‘agreement’ rating scale.

For both ministers and Australian Government entity stakeholders, performance 
measure 1 has been calculated as follows:

	� For each stakeholder respondent, the average (mean score out of 5) rating has been 
calculated across all questions answered that relate to:

	» the ‘Informed’ criterion (Average 1)

	» the ‘Influential’ criterion (Average 2)

	» the ‘Impactful’ criterion (Average 3).

	� For each respondent, the average of these average ratings has been calculated 
(effectively giving equal weight to each criterion) (Average 4).

As illustrated on the graphic below, if Average 4 = 1.00-2.50, this has been classified as 
‘Low’, 2.51-3.50 has been classified as ‘Moderate’, and 3.51-5.00 as ‘High’.
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Figure 15: Stakeholder survey 2024–25, average score classification
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The weighted percentage of ministers rating High overall (Average 4) has been reported 
for the performance measure.

The unweighted percentage of Australian Government entity stakeholders rating 
High overall (Average 4) has been reported for the performance measure.

Approach to calculating the effectiveness of working relationships and 
administration of regulator functions (performance measures 9 and 11)

Stakeholders were asked to indicate the extent to which they agree or disagree with 
the questions on a 5-point scale: strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), neither agree nor 
disagree (3), agree (4) or strongly agree (5).

Performance was calculated on the average of the percentage of survey respondents 
who provided ratings of 4 (agree) or 5 (strongly agree) for applicable question items. 

‘Don’t Know / Not Applicable’ responses were excluded.



211Advertising and market research

5

Part 5 – Appendices

Advertising and market research
Treasury is required to report on all payments to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, media advertising organisations and direct mail 
organisations.

During 2024–25, Treasury delivered 3 advertising campaigns. The Supporting Australians 
campaign informed Australians of the energy bill relief, student debt relief and the tax 
cuts that came into effect on 1 July 2024. The Future Made in Australia campaign aimed 
to increase Australians’ awareness of the agenda and the benefits to them and their 
community. An extension of the Tax Cuts campaign was developed to inform taxpayers 
that the tax cuts were now in place. Initial development of a Housing campaign 
commenced but did not progress further in 2024–25. 

Information on credit notes, cost recovery and invoices issued for campaign 
expenditure for advertising agencies, market research organisations and media 
advertising organisations is shown in Table 36 to Table 38.

Campaign compliance information is available at treasury.gov.au and in the reports 
on government advertising prepared by the Department of Finance and published at 
finance.gov.au/advertising. These Department of Finance reports provide details of 
campaigns for which expenditure was greater than $250,000 (including GST). 

Treasury did not make any payments to polling organisations or direct mailing 
organisations in 2024–25.

Table 36: Advertising agencies 2024–25

Provider Service Provided Cost (inc. GST)

Droga5 Pty LTD Creative services  
(Future Made in Australia campaign) 

$3,565,463.67 

Clemenger BBDO Pty Ltd Creative services  
(Supporting Australians campaign)

$1,583,388.88

Clemenger BBDO Pty Ltd Creative services  
(Housing campaign) 

$329,919.41

http://www.treasury.gov.au
http://www.finance.gov.au/advertising
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Table 37: Market research organisations 2024–25

Provider Service Provided Cost (inc. GST)

IPSOS Pty Ltd Developmental research services  
(Future Made in Australia campaign)

$859,743.53

WhereTo Pty Ltd Developmental research services  
(Supporting Australians campaign) 

$88,165.00

WhereTo Pty Ltd Housing campaign $349,777.50

Hall and Partners Pty Ltd Evaluation research services  
(Tax Cuts campaign extension)

$139,769.85

Hall and Partners Pty Ltd Evaluation research services  
(Future Made in Australia campaign)

$192,409.80

Hall and Partners Pty Ltd Evaluation research services  
(Supporting Australians campaign) 

$272,55.80

Note:	 Hall and Partners Pty Ltd is the whole of government campaign evaluation research agency for all 
Commonwealth Government advertising.

Table 38: Media advertising 2024–25

Provider Service Provided Cost (inc. GST)

Universal McCann Australia Advertising services  
(Tax Cuts campaign extension)

$2,671,625.48

Universal McCann Australia Advertising services  
(Future Made in Australia campaign)

$21,068,424.97

Universal McCann Australia Advertising services  
(Supporting Australians campaign)

$9,302,219.94

Universal McCann Australia Advertising services  
(recruitment)

$233,191.00

Note: 	 Universal McCann Australia is the master media agency for all Commonwealth Government advertising.
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Grants
Information on grants awarded by Treasury for 2024–25 is available on GrantConnect 
at grants.gov.au.

Information publication scheme
Agencies subject to the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) must meet 
requirements as part of the Information Publication Scheme. Part II of the FOI Act 
requires each agency to display a plan on its website showing what information it 
publishes in accordance with the Information Publication Scheme. Treasury’s plan is 
available at treasury.gov.au.

http://www.grants.gov.au
http://www.treasury.gov.au
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Work health and safety
Treasury recognises its responsibility and obligations as outlined in the Work Health and 
Safety Act 2011. The department is committed to creating and maintaining a safe and 
healthy environment for all its employees, workers and visitors. 

The health and wellbeing of employees remains a priority. Treasury’s wellbeing strategy, 
Healthy Minds: Our mental wellbeing strategy 2022–2025, has been a critical part of the 
prevention and management of mental health risks in our workplace. The strategy has 
reinforced the importance of enhancing capability, culture and programs to support our 
employees. Since the strategy’s introduction in 2022, 90 per cent of activities have been 
delivered. Remaining activities have been embedded in the Strategic Workforce Plan. 
This allows Treasury to continue to prioritise health and safety obligations.

Treasury’s Health and Safety Committee met quarterly in 2024−25. The committee 
has oversight of the work health and safety standards required across Treasury. There 
were 25 work health and safety (WHS) incidents and hazards reported in 2024−25. The 
majority were attributed to slips, trips, and falls. One notifiable incident was reported 
to Comcare, which was categorised as a dangerous incident due to a vehicle related 
collision. No Comcare investigations were conducted. No Comcare notices were 
issued in 2024−25.

Treasury has 18 health and safety representatives, 17 Workplace Harassment Contact 
Officers, 25 First Aid Officers and 117 Emergency Officers. During 2024–25, Treasury 
provided role specific training including:

	� mental health first aid

	� first aid

	� bullying and harassment in the workplace

	� emergency response

	� vicarious trauma

	� health and safety representative training. 

Treasury proactively undertook internal inspections and reviewed policies and 
procedures as part of preventative measures to mitigate risks. This included annual 
office-based workplace inspections across all office locations. It also included the 
development of a notifiable incident placemat to raise awareness on how to respond 
appropriately to serious incidents. Treasury also participated in a Comcare proactive 
engagement inspection on Consultation, Cooperation and Coordination. The Comcare 
inspection resulted in no non-compliance findings and one improvement-based 
recommendation, which was implemented. 
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Treasury has invested in a range of initiatives to ensure it provides a healthy and 
safe workplace: 

	� Professional counselling and support for employees through our Employee 
Assistance Program. Services were available to employees online and remotely via 
teleconferencing and video conferencing, including a dedicated helpline service for 
managers and First Nations employees.

	� Access to an annual influenza vaccination, employer-subsidised eyesight testing for 
screen-based work, lifestyle contribution initiative and workstation assessments.

	� Access to wellbeing, health and safety training, such as appropriate workplace 
behaviours, introduction to WHS, active bystander, vicarious trauma, and 
compassionate foundation (suicide prevention) for the Senior Executive Service and 
Executive Level leaders. 

	� Treasury provided resilience and good mental health in the workplace training, 
resilience coaching, regular promotion of mental health-related events such as 
RU OK? Day, STEPtember, Safe Work month and World Mental Health Day.

	� An early intervention program supported employees experiencing an illness or injury. 
This program gave employees access to valuable advice, services and financial 
support to assist them in remaining at, or returning to, work as soon as practicable.

	� Treasury maintained breastfeeding friendly workplace accreditation, undertaking 
proactive steps taken to empower and value parents in the workforce.

	� Access to a support program for employees living with cancer and those caring 
for a family member. The program provides access to digital, science-based tools, 
personalised coaching and educational resources to help employees gain a better 
understanding of diagnoses, adopt positive behavioural changes and be engaged 
in cancer care.
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Disability reporting
Australia’s Disability Strategy 2021–2031 (the Strategy) is a national framework signed by 
all governments in Australia. It sets out a plan for continuous improvement in the lives of 
people with disability in Australia.

The Strategy’s vision is for an inclusive Australia that ensures people with disability 
can fulfil their potential as equal members of society. The Strategy outlines practical 
changes to assist people with disability.

In line with Australia’s commitments under the United Nations Convention on the Rights 
of Persons with Disabilities, the Strategy helps protect, promote and realise the human 
rights of people with disability.

The Australian Public Service Disability Employment Strategy 2020–2025 aims to 
increase employment of people with disability across the Australian Public Service 
to 7 per cent by 2025. Disability reporting is included in the Australian Public Service 
Commission’s State of the Service reports and the Australian Public Service Statistical 
Bulletin. These reports are available at apsc.gov.au.

http://www.apsc.gov.au/
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Annual child safety statement of 
compliance
Treasury is committed to promoting and maintaining a culture of child safety 
and wellbeing. 

In line with the Commonwealth Child Safe Framework (the Framework), Treasury 
undertook a child safety risk assessment for 2024–25 and determined the risk as low. 
The assessment determined that the identification and evaluation of risks to the safety 
and protection of children and young people was thorough, measures implemented 
to mitigate those risks were appropriate, and Treasury was compliant with the 
Framework’s 4 requirements.

While Treasury’s business activities and functions rarely involve direct interaction 
with children, we work to ensure departmental activities are child safe and any work 
undertaken ensures children’s rights, needs and interests are met. 

Treasury will continue to embed child safe initiatives into our culture and work practices. 
We will ensure that our employees remain aware of the Framework’s requirements, 
including the National Principles for Child Safe Organisations. Employees undertaking 
a specific role in child-related programs or activities will participate in the necessary 
education and training, including undertaking Working with Vulnerable People 
checks and participating in child-safety training through the Australian Human 
Rights Commission.
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Environmental performance
Treasury remains committed to the principles of ecologically sustainable development 
consistent with relevant Commonwealth, state and territory environmental legislation, 
regulations, policies and initiatives. The Treasury Environmental Management Plan sets 
out our environmental policies and performance action plans, to meet environmental 
best practice wherever practicable.

In 2024–25 we minimised our impact on the environment in the areas of energy 
efficiency, waste and water use through:

	� maintaining LED lighting systems in all new office fit outs

	� reducing paper consumption by defaulting office printers to black-and-white and 
two-sided printing, and supporting the use of electronic document management and 
collaboration as well as digital and mobile technology solutions for staff (laptops)

	� using energy-saver mode for most office equipment when not in use across all 
office locations

	� using technology such as teleconferencing and videoconferencing to facilitate 
meetings with interstate and overseas colleagues where appropriate

	� purchasing 5-star energy rated electrical appliances (where available)

	� participating in Earth Hour

	� encouraging recycling by providing waste recycling stations, segregating waste into 
approved recycling streams (including waste to landfill, mingled waste and compost), 
engaging waste management providers to recycle used paper waste and secure 
paper materials

	� establishing a fit-out and furniture recycling strategy that reuses the department’s 
existing office fit-out infrastructure, including workstations; and sourcing redundant 
office fit-out and workstations from other government departments when available

	� recycling toner cartridges, fluorescent light tubes and batteries

	� utilising low emissions vehicles (LEV) which has increased the current vehicle fleet up 
to 100% LEV

	� using water flow restriction controls and water efficient appliances in kitchens and 
bathrooms to minimise use across the Treasury building tenancy.

In 2024–25, Treasury collected 5,793 kilograms of organic waste through organic 
waste bins in all kitchens for food scraps, coffee grinds, tea bags and paper towels. 
Canberra-based waste management business Global Worming, using a process called 
vermicomposting, fed this organic waste to worms and recycled it into organic fertiliser 
reducing the greenhouse gases otherwise produced. 
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Commonwealth Climate Disclosure
Commonwealth Climate Disclosure is the policy for Commonwealth entities to publicly 
disclose their exposure to climate risks and opportunities, as well as their actions to 
manage them. Treasury recognises in its Corporate Plan that climate change and the 
net zero transition will have a significant bearing on our future economic and fiscal 
performance. Treasury is progressively integrating climate-related risk and opportunity 
management into its overall risk management process.

The Performance and Risk Committee, the independent Audit and Risk Committee and 
the Executive Board provide the Secretary with assurance that climate-related risks are 
being appropriately managed. Part 3 of this report provides an overview of Treasury’s 
risk management and governance arrangements.

Climate risk
Treasury prepared its annual climate risk and opportunity assessment in line with the 
Australian Government’s Approach to Climate Risk and Opportunity Management in the 
Public Sector 2024–26. Treasury has adopted the methodology and process detailed 
in the Climate Risk and Opportunity Management Program (CROMP). This includes 
consideration of physical and transition risk and opportunity. Physical risk relates to 
direct impacts of rising aggregate global temperatures. Physical risks are characterised 
as acute or chronic. 

	� Acute – risks from changes in the frequency and severity of extreme events, such 
as increased incidence of heat stress during heatwaves, and bushfires that may 
threaten infrastructure and physical and psychological safety. 

	� Chronic – risks from longer-term, more gradual changes in climate, such as changes 
in average rainfall contributing to water scarcity.

Transition risks result from the extensive policy, legal, technology and market changes 
arising from mitigation and adaptation to climate change and the transition to a 
low-carbon economy. Climate change will also generate physical and transition 
opportunities. For example, global market opportunities will emerge for Australian 
goods such as agricultural commodities and critical minerals.

The 2024–25 assessment considered current, short-term (2030) and medium-term (2050) 
future states of the environment. It identified climate-related risks and opportunities 
across the department that may impact our ability to deliver our purpose and priorities. 
Internal data sources, such as our enterprise risk management framework and insurance 
claims, were reviewed in Step 1 and Step 2 of the assessment. Treasury used the State 
of the Climate 2024 report and the climate scenario and transition summaries in the 
CROMP Organisation Application Guides to obtain climate information for Treasury’s 
metropolitan areas of operation. While Treasury maintains an overseas presence 
through a small number of posted personnel, the 2024–25 assessment focused on the 
department’s domestic operations. 

https://corporate-plan.treasury.gov.au/
https://www.dcceew.gov.au/climate-change/policy/adaptation/climate-risk-opportunity-management-program
https://www.dcceew.gov.au/climate-change/policy/adaptation/climate-risk-opportunity-management-program
https://www.dcceew.gov.au/climate-change/policy/adaptation/climate-risk-opportunity-management-program
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Treasury managed uncertainties in climate projections by reviewing data from 
reputable Australian and international climate science organisations. It also managed 
uncertainties in how risk profiles will change in the future under different climate 
scenarios by assessing risks across 3 distinct emission scenarios (low, medium and 
high). This helped Treasury compare projected changes and understand the range of 
plausible outcomes. Treasury assessed the nature, likelihood and magnitude of  
effects of climate-related risks using the matrix in Treasury’s enterprise risk 
management framework. 

Risks to our organisation, including climate-related risks, are prioritised based on their 
residual risk, in accordance with Treasury’s Risk Management Policy and Framework. 
Actions to manage climate-related risks were also informed by our Risk Management 
Framework. The Executive Board, through the Performance and Risk Committee, 
monitors and oversees Treasury’s climate-related risks in accordance with our standard 
risk management practices.

Under section 12 of the PGPA Act, the Secretary is the accountable authority for 
Treasury. Under section 16, the Secretary is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
systems of internal control and risk oversight. This responsibility encompasses climate-
related risks and related disclosures. Treasury’s roles and responsibilities for oversight 
and administration of governance processes, controls and procedures of climate-
related risks and opportunities are outlined in Table 39. Climate risk management is a 
specialist risk category under Treasury’s revised Risk Management Framework.
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Table 39: Treasury’s planned governance roles for climate-related risks

Role Risk Responsibility

Secretary Accountable authority with responsibility for having systems of risk 
management in place – this includes determining risk appetite, tolerance 
and a positive risk culture. Deputises climate risk and opportunity 
management oversight to the Executive Board, which the Secretary 
chairs. This includes the establishment and oversight of climate-related 
risk assessment processes and performance targets, such as (but not 
limited to) the development of emissions reduction targets for inclusion in 
the department’s Emissions Reduction Plan.

Executive Board Principal assignee responsible for overseeing climate-related risk and 
opportunity management. Approves the department’s climate-related 
strategies, targets, policies, activities and performance. Receives an 
annual briefing about climate-related risks and opportunities.

Performance 
and Risk 
Committee 

Responsible for supporting the Executive Board to implement climate risk 
and opportunity management, including identification and prioritisation 
of these risks and opportunities. Meets regularly and can escalate 
risks, including climate-related risks, to the Executive Board (including 
Secretary). Reports to Executive Board (including the Secretary) on the 
progress of climate risk management implementation at least once a 
year, and as required, to bring urgent and/or critical risks to the attention 
of the Secretary.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Responsible for providing independent advice to the Secretary on the 
appropriateness of the department’s key governance arrangements, 
including system of risk oversight and management, and the system 
of internal control. This encompasses climate risk and opportunity 
monitoring and disclosures.

Chief Risk 
Officer (CRO) 

Deputy Secretary responsible for overseeing the risk management 
framework and governance as well as advising the Secretary and 
Executive Board.

Enterprise Risk 
and Program 
Advisory

Responsible for maintaining the risk management policy and risk 
management framework, and underlying toolsets, and for leading on 
climate risk and opportunity work.

As required under the Commonwealth Risk Management Policy, Treasury maintains 
an appropriate level of capability to administer its risk management framework and 
manage its risks. To improve capability to manage climate-related risks, Treasury 
encouraged relevant staff to complete the Climate Risk and Opportunity Management 
Program (CROMP) training modules and the Foundations of Net Zero in Government 
Operations training module. Treasury assesses capability and requirements through its 
annual climate risk and opportunity assessment. It will make decisions about resource 
allocation in line with its climate risk profile, broader operating environment and 
government funding. This includes considering the trade-offs between climate-related 
risks and other government policy constraints. This information feeds into Executive 
Board and the Secretary’s decisions on broader risk management and strategy. 
For example, putting in place appropriate checks and balances to ensure any new 
property management activities align with the emissions reduction articulated in the 
department’s Emissions Reduction Plan, which was approved by the Secretary.

https://www.apsacademy.gov.au/courses/program-cromp-climate-risk-and-opportunity-management-program
https://www.apsacademy.gov.au/courses/program-cromp-climate-risk-and-opportunity-management-program
https://www.apsacademy.gov.au/courses/foundations-net-zero-government-operations
https://www.apsacademy.gov.au/courses/foundations-net-zero-government-operations
https://treasury.gov.au/the-department/corporate-publications/emissions-reduction-plan


222 Environmental performance

Treasury Annual Report 2024–25

5

Climate strategy
Treasury anticipates climate-related risks and opportunities will have impacts across its 
operating model. Effectively managing these risks over time will help maintain Treasury’s 
reputation and influence as a central policy agency. 

Current and anticipated effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on Treasury’s 
operating model include reduced staff productivity, reduced staff wellbeing and 
disruptions to business continuity arising from increases to the frequency and severity of 
extreme weather events. 

Treasury is responding to current and anticipated impacts by: 

	� embedding climate-related risk and opportunity management into our governance 
and business continuity arrangements 

	� strengthening our engagement and the collaboration of relevant areas within 
Treasury

	� continuing to work with our government partners through risk reduction taskforce/
working groups. 

Treasury’s organisational risks and opportunities, identified to meet Year 1 requirements 
of the Commonwealth Climate Disclosure, included the following material physical 
climate-related risks:

	� extreme weather events impact staff health and wellbeing

	� extreme weather events impact the use of departmental assets and infrastructure

These risks may negatively affect the department’s:

	� capacity and capability to incorporate climate-related physical and transition 
impacts into policy development and advice 

	� access to data (including for modelling) needed to incorporate climate change 
impacts into policy

	� resilience of information technology assets and infrastructure

	� ability to support staff affected by physical climate-related weather events.

These risks are concentrated in Treasury’s Canberra office, where most staff are based. 
Treasury has not identified material transition climate-related risks that affect its 
operational model.

There is a material transition climate-related opportunity for Treasury to influence policy 
development to support the transition to net zero.

Treasury considered the effects of material climate-related risks and opportunities 
against current, short (2030) and medium (2050) time horizons as outlined in CROMP’s 
Organisation Application Guide. 

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjo3rWHq8OOAxXwka8BHa6oGM4QFnoECBgQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dcceew.gov.au%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Fdocuments%2Fclimate-risk-management-organisation-application-guide.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3Hj3eJNR8VMCBamvRk5y07&opi=89978449
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjo3rWHq8OOAxXwka8BHa6oGM4QFnoECBgQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dcceew.gov.au%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Fdocuments%2Fclimate-risk-management-organisation-application-guide.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3Hj3eJNR8VMCBamvRk5y07&opi=89978449
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Climate-related metrics
Emissions are required to be calculated in line with the APS Net Zero Emissions 
Reporting Framework provided by Department of Finance, consistent with the 
whole-of-government approach as part of the APS Net Zero by 2030 policy. 

Table 40 presents the greenhouse gas emissions inventory for the 2024–25 period. 
For the emissions calculation method, please see the Pilot Metrics and Targets 
Factsheet. Treasury has not deviated from this methodology. 

Figures for 2024–25 include the addition of the following emission categories as required 
by expansion 2 of the APS Net Zero Emissions Reporting Framework: 

	� refrigerants (reported as scope 1) 

	� solid waste disposal and treatment (reported as scope 3) 

	� employee domestic business travel (hire car and accommodation) (reported as 
scope 3). 

The inventory presents carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2-e) emissions based on the 
best available data at the time of reporting. Amendments to data may be required 
in future reports. 

https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/commonwealth-climate-disclosure-pilot
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/commonwealth-climate-disclosure-pilot
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Table 40: Treasury’s greenhouse gas emissions inventory 2024–25

Emission source
Scope 1 
t CO2-e

Scope 2  
t CO2-e

Scope 3  
t CO2-e

Total  
t CO2-e

Electricity (location-based approach) n/a 381.43 26.31 407.74

Natural gas 0.00 n/a 0.00 0.00

Solid waste(a)(b) 0.00 n/a 0.00 0.00

Refrigerants(a)(c) 0.00 n/a n/a 0.00

Fleet and other vehicles(d) 0.57 N/A 0.15 0.72

Domestic commercial flights n/a n/a 548.15 548.15

Domestic hire car(a)(e) n/a n/a 3.22 3.22

Domestic travel accommodation(a) n/a n/a 184.37 184.37

Other energy 0.00 n/a 0.00 0.00

Total t CO2-e 0.57 381.43 762.19 1,144.19

Note:	 The table above presents emissions related to electricity usage using the location-based accounting 
method. 

	 CO2-e = carbon dioxide equivalent.

	 Following machinery of government changes that took effect from 13 May 2025, some business 
functions originally in the Department of Social Services, the Department of Industry, Science and 
Resources, the Attorney-General’s Department and the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, 
Regional Development, Communications and the Arts were moved to the Treasury. Emissions resulting 
from electricity, natural gas, solid waste, and domestic business travel for these business functions are 
included in the original entity’s emissions reporting. It was not possible to separate emissions specific 
to these functions for 2024–25 emissions reporting. Further, emissions resulting from outgoing business 
functions that were originally in the Treasury and moved to the Department of Industry, Science and 
Resources, are included in Treasury’s emissions reporting.

	 A portion of the National Capital Authority’s electricity and solid waste data might be included in the 
emissions reporting of the Treasury. Treasury will work with the National Capital Authority to report the 
emissions separately in future years.

a)	 A portion of electricity and solid waste data was unable to be sourced and has not been included.

b)	 The transition of property service providers under the Whole of Australian Government arrangements 
during the reporting period may result in incomplete property data. Any such incomplete data and 
resulting changes to emissions calculations will be addressed within the Amendments Process, which is due 
to take place in the first half of 2026.

c)	 Emissions from electricity consumed by electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles has only been reported for 
electricity directly purchased by Treasury. Emissions associated with electricity consumption from public 
charging stations has not been reported for 2024–25.

d)	 Emissions from hire cars for 2024–25 is incomplete due to a lack of robust data. The quality of data is 
expected to improve over time as emissions reporting matures.

e)	 Australian Reinsurance Pool Corporation and Inspector-General of Taxation domestic travel arrangements 
are managed through the Department of Treasury under a shared services agreement. It was not possible 
to separate flights, hire car and accommodation specific to Australian Reinsurance Pool Corporation or 
Inspector-General of Taxation for emissions reporting.
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Table 41 shows the total emissions for electricity applying the market-based method. 
This accounts for factors such as GreenPower usage, purchased large-scale generation 
certificates, power purchasing agreements, the renewable power percentage and the 
jurisdictional renewable power percentage. 

The difference in carbon dioxide equivalent in location versus market-based emissions 
is due to the Department of the Treasury having most of its operations within the ACT, 
which has a jurisdictional renewable power percentage.

Table 41: Treasury’s electricity greenhouse gas emissions 2024–25

Emission source
Scope 2  
t CO2-e

Scope 3  
t CO2-e

Total  
t CO2-e

Electricity 
kWh

Location-based electricity emissions 381.43 26.31 407.74 569,962.48

Market-based electricity emissions 
(residual emissions)

143.00 19.42 162.42 176,539.59

Total renewable electricity consumed n/a n/a n/a 393,422.90

Renewable Power Percentage(a) 0.00 0.00 0.00 103,704.67

Jurisdictional Renewable Power 
Percentage(b) (c)

0.00 0.00 0.00 289,718.22

GreenPower(b) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Large-scale generation certificates(b) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Behind the meter solar(d) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Total renewable electricity produced n/a n/a n/a n/a

Large-scale generation certificates(b) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Behind the meter solar(d) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Note:	 The table above presents emissions related to electricity usage using both the location-based and the 
market-based accounting methods. 

	 CO2-e = carbon dioxide equivalent.

	 Electricity usage is measured in kilowatt hours (kWh).

a)	 Listed as Mandatory renewables in 2023–24 Annual Reports. The renewable power percentage accounts 
for the portion of electricity used, from the grid, that falls within the Renewable Energy Target.

b)	 Listed as Voluntary renewables in 2023–24 Annual Reports. 

c)	 The Australian Capital Territory is currently the only state with a jurisdictional renewable power percentage.

d)	 Reporting behind the meter solar consumption and/or production is optional. The quality of data is 
expected to improve over time as emissions reporting matures. 
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Climate-related targets
The department is following the APS Net Zero by 2030 target, as per the Net Zero in 
Government Operations Strategy. The APS Net Zero 2030 Target Factsheet has more 
details about the 2030 target.

Treasury published its first Emissions Reduction Plan in August 2024. The Emissions 
Reduction Plan sets out Treasury’s approach and commitment to reduce emissions to 
net zero by 2030 and includes planned and new emissions-reduction initiatives. The 
Executive Board signs off initiatives within the Emissions Reduction Plan. 

Table 42 shows Treasury’s progress towards the target between 2022–23 and 2023–24. 
Emissions from fleet and other vehicles reduced by 67 per cent, due to higher use of 
low-emission vehicles. Treasury’s emissions from electricity increased by 7 per cent. 
During the same period, Treasury staff numbers rose by nearly 12 per cent. 

Table 42: Treasury’s progress towards the APS Net Zero 2030 target 

APS Net Zero 2030 target 
emission sources 

2022–23(a)

t CO2-e
2023–24(a)

t CO2-e

Percentage 
change since 

2022–23

Total Scope 1

Natural gas 0.000 0.000 n/a

Fleet and other vehicles 2.194 0.716 -67.37

Refrigerants n/a 0.000 n/a

Other energy 0.000 0.000 n/a

Total Scope 2

Electricity (market based) 200.878 215.236 7.15

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 203.072 215.952 6.34

Note:	 The table above presents emissions related to electricity usage using the market-based accounting 
method. 

	 CO2-e = carbon dioxide equivalent.

a)	 Emissions reported may differ from previously published emissions due to reconciliation of natural gas 
and electricity data or updates to emission factors and calculation methods. See 2024–25 Net Zero in 
Government Operations Annual Progress Report for details regarding emission factors and calculation 
methods updates.

https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/aps-net-zero-emissions-2030
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/aps-net-zero-emissions-2030
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/aps-net-zero-emissions-2030
https://www.finance.gov.au/sites/default/files/2025-02/APS-Net-Zero-2030-Target-Factsheet.docx
https://treasury.gov.au/the-department/corporate-publications/emissions-reduction-plan
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/commonwealth-emission-reporting/net-zero-government-operations-annual-progress-report
https://www.finance.gov.au/government/climate-action-government-operations/commonwealth-emission-reporting/net-zero-government-operations-annual-progress-report
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Australia and the international 
financial institutions
Program 1.2: Payments to international financial institutions (Table 2), outlines various 
payments made by Treasury to the:

	� Asian Development Bank

	� Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank

	� European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

	� International Monetary Fund (IMF)

	� World Bank. 

The following legislation requires further reporting on the IMF and the World Bank 
for 2024–25:

	� Section 10 of the International Monetary Agreements Act 1947 requires reporting on 
the operations of the Act and of the operations, insofar as they relate to Australia, of 
the Articles of Agreement of the IMF and the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development during each financial year.

	� Section 7 of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (General 
Capital Increase) Act 1989 requires reporting on the operations of the Act during 
each financial year.

Treasury is responsible for managing the Australian Government’s shareholdings with 
the international financial institutions. The Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade 
(DFAT) has further interactions relating to the government’s aid program (see DFAT 
annual report for information).

The IMF and the World Bank publish annual reports on their operations and provide 
information at imf.org and worldbank.org.

Australia and the International Monetary Fund

Mandate
The purposes of the IMF (set out in Article I of its Articles of Agreement) are to:

	� promote international monetary cooperation

	� facilitate the expansion and balanced growth of trade, contributing to high levels 
of employment and real income

	� promote exchange rate stability and avoid competitive devaluation

	� assist in the establishment of a multilateral system of payments and in the elimination 
of foreign exchange restrictions that hamper the growth of world trade

	� make resources available to members to reduce the costs of balance of 
payments adjustments.

https://www.dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/corporate/annual-reports
https://www.dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/corporate/annual-reports
http://imf.org
http://www.worldbank.org
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Australia’s representation at the International Monetary Fund
Australia interacts with the International Monetary Fund through:

	� the International Monetary Fund Board of Governors

	� the International Monetary and Financial Committee

	� the International Monetary Fund Executive Board

	� the International Monetary Fund’s Article IV consultation on Australia’s economic 
developments and policy.

Board of Governors

The Board of Governors is the highest authority within the IMF. It consists of one 
governor and one alternate governor for each of the 191 member countries. The 
Treasurer represents Australia on the Board of Governors. The Secretary to the Treasury 
is Australia’s Alternate Governor. Governors’ votes on IMF resolutions during 2024–25 are 
noted in Table 43.

Table 43: Australian Governor’s votes on International Monetary Fund 
2024–25 resolutions

Resolution title Date
Australian 
Governor’s vote

Regulations for the Conduct of the 2024 
Regular Election of Executive Directors

15 July 2024 Approved

Direct Remuneration of Executive Directors and 
their Alternates

23 August 2024 Abstained

2024 Regular Election of Executive Directors 25 October 2024 Approved

Annual Meetings of the Boards of Governors in 2027 
and 2028— Proposed Dates and Venues

27 January 2025 Approved

International Monetary and Financial Committee

The International Monetary and Financial Committee advises the Board of Governors 
on the functioning and performance of the international monetary and financial system 
but does not have a decision-making role.

International Monetary Fund Executive Board, Executive Director and 
constituency office

The IMF Executive Board conducts the day-to-day business of the IMF and determines 
matters of policy under the overall authority of the Board of Governors.

Australia belongs to a constituency which, in 2024–25 included Kiribati, Republic of 
Korea, Marshall Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Mongolia, Republic of Nauru, 
New Zealand, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Seychelles, Solomon Islands, Tuvalu 
and Vanuatu.



229Australia and the international financial institutions

5

Part 5 – Appendices

At 30 June 2025, Australia held around 1.33 per cent of the total voting power at the IMF. 
The constituency, as a whole, held around 3.78 per cent.

By agreement between members, the staffing of Australia’s constituency office rotates 
among constituency members. At 30 June 2025, Mr Seong-Wook Kim of the Republic of 
Korea held the constituency’s Executive Director position.

Australia’s Article IV consultation

In accordance with Article IV of its Articles of Agreement, the IMF conducts regular 
consultations with the authorities of member countries on economic policies and 
conditions. In preparation for the Article IV consultations, in July 2024 the IMF conducted 
a staff visit including consultation with stakeholders from across government and the 
private sector. The IMF held its Article IV consultation with Australia in person from 
18 September to 3 October 2024. The 2025 Article IV consultation is scheduled for 
November 2025.

Australia’s quota in the International Monetary Fund and 
financial transactions

Australia’s shareholding in the International Monetary Fund

A member’s allocated shareholding in the IMF is known as its ‘quota’, which broadly 
reflects its weight in the global economy. 

Australia’s quota at 30 June 2025 was 6,572.4 million in Special Drawing Rights 
(equivalent to approximately $13,782 million). Part of Australia’s quota is held in reserve 
by the IMF in Special Drawing Rights and gold. Part is held in Australia by the Reserve 
Bank of Australia in a combination of non-interest-bearing promissory notes and cash 
amounts in Australian dollars. 

As part of the IMF’s Sixteenth General Review of Quotas, the Australian Government 
has agreed to approve a 50 per cent increase to the IMF quota. Under the agreement, 
Australia’s quota will increase to 9.9 billion in Special Drawing Rights (approximately 
$20.8 billion). The timing of the quota increase is uncertain. The IMF Executive Board 
approved an extension of the period to consent to 15 November 2025, subject to 
conditions including consent by members representing 85 per cent of existing quota. 
When the IMF quota increase is implemented, Australia’s contribution will be largely 
offset by reductions in Australia’s other IMF commitments.

Australia’s financial transactions with the International Monetary Fund

Australia conducts financial transactions to manage its obligations with the IMF. All 
transactions in 2024–25 were completed in a timely and efficient manner. They are 
described in the following sections on a cash basis.
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Special Drawing Right charges, interest and assessment fee

The Special Drawing Right is an international reserve asset created by the IMF to 
supplement the official reserves of member countries. Its value is based on a basket of 
5 international currencies (the US dollar, the Japanese yen, the British pound sterling, 
the Chinese renminbi and the euro).

Australia’s cumulative allocation at 30 June 2025 was 9.38 billion in Special Drawing 
Rights, while our holdings were around 9.70 billion in Special Drawing Rights. The 
Australian Government and the Reserve Bank of Australia each hold a portion of 
Australia’s Special Drawing Right holdings, with the Australian Government owning 
4.89 billion in Special Drawing Rights and the Reserve Bank of Australia owning 
4.81 billion in Special Drawing Rights at 30 June 2025. The Reserve Bank of Australia’s 
holdings were sold to it by the Australian Government in exchange for Australian dollars. 

The Australian Government is solely responsible for the cumulative allocation liability, 
which matches the cumulative allocation.

The IMF levies charges on the Special Drawing Rights that have been allocated to 
each member. It pays interest on the Special Drawing Rights held by each member. 
In 2024–25, the Australian Government paid charges of 331.33 million in Special 
Drawing Rights (approximately $677.59 million) on Australia’s cumulative allocation. 
During this period Australia received a total of 347.47 million in Special Drawing Rights 
(approximately $710.58 million) in interest from the IMF on Australia’s Special Drawing 
Right holdings. Of this interest, the Australian Government received 177.01 million in 
Special Drawing Rights ($361.95 million) and the Reserve Bank of Australia received 
170.46 million in Special Drawing Rights (approximately $348.63 million).

The IMF levies an annual assessment fee to cover the cost of operating its Special 
Drawing Right department. This is determined according to participants’ net 
cumulative Special Drawing Right allocations. Australia’s annual assessment fee for 
the IMF’s financial year ending 30 April 2025 was 43,789 in Special Drawing Rights 
(approximately $92,285).

Remuneration

Remuneration is interest earned on quota resources held by the IMF, excluding gold. 
In 2024–25 Australia received remuneration of 52.37 million in Special Drawing Rights 
(approximately $107.04 million).
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Table 44: Transactions with the International Monetary Fund in 2024–25 
(cash basis)

Amount in Special 
Drawing Rights (SDRs) Amount in A$

Total interest received on Australia’s Special 
Drawing Right holdings

347,474,356 710,583,560

Total remuneration received for Australian 
holdings at the International Monetary Fund

52,370,860 107,036,072

Total charges paid on Australia’s Special 
Drawing Right allocation

331,332,534 677,590,274

Annual Assessment Fee paid to Special 
Drawing Right department

43,789 92,285

Maintenance of value transaction for 
2022–23 payment received in August 2024

83,588,395

Note:	 Interest on Special Drawing Right holdings are shared proportionally between the Reserve Bank of 
Australia and Treasury. These transactions with the IMF are denominated in special drawing rights. 
Australian dollar equivalents use the exchange rate at 30 June 2025.

Maintenance of value

The portion of Australia’s IMF quota held in Australian dollars is subject to valuation 
changes when expressed in Special Drawing Rights. This is because the exchange rate 
between the Australian dollar and the Special Drawing Right fluctuates throughout 
the year.

Under the IMF Articles of Agreement, members are required to maintain the Special 
Drawing Right value of their quota through a ‘maintenance of value’ adjustment (that 
is, a payment or receipt as necessary) following the close of the IMF’s financial year on 
30 April 2025. 

For the IMF’s 2023–24 financial year, the Australian dollar appreciated against the 
Special Drawing Right. As a result, the 2023–24 maintenance of value adjustment 
involved a payment from the IMF to Australia of around $83.59 million, with settlement 
made in August 2024. 

For the IMF’s 2024–25 financial year, the Australian dollar depreciated against the 
Special Drawing Right. As a result, the 2024–25 maintenance of value adjustment will 
involve a payment from Australia to the IMF of around $478.07 million. Payment for the 
2024–25 maintenance of value adjustment was scheduled to occur in July 2025.
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Lending-related transactions and Australia’s reserve position in the 
International Monetary Fund

The IMF manages its lending of quota resources through the Financial Transactions 
Plan, which allocates the financing of lending transactions among members. Only IMF 
members with sufficiently strong balance of payments and reserve positions – such as 
Australia – are selected for use in the Financial Transactions Plan. Table 45 provides a 
summary of transactions under the Financial Transactions Plan and the resulting reserve 
position at the IMF.

Table 45: Australia’s reserve tranche position in the International Monetary 
Fund 2024–25

Description
Debit 

(SDRs)
Debit 

(A$)
Credit 
(SDRs)

Credit 
(A$)

Reserve tranche position as 
at 30 June 2024

1,731,943,671 3,631,670,520

Total Financial Transactions 
Plan (FTP) payments

206,200,000 432,375,760

Total FTP receipts 229,549,499 481,336,756

Reserve tranche position as at 
30 June 2025

1,708,594,172 3,582,709,524

Note: 	 Australia’s reserve tranche position is denominated in Special Drawing Rights. Australian dollar 
equivalents use the exchange rate at 30 June 2025.

Financial Transactions Plan transactions (and any transfers for administrative purposes) 
directly impact on Australia’s reserve position at the IMF. In 2024–25, the amount of 
Australia’s Special Drawing Right reserves held by the IMF remained around 1.71 billion.

Through the New Arrangements to Borrow, Australia and 39 other member countries 
have committed to lend additional resources to the IMF. The arrangement constitutes 
a second line of funding defence to supplement IMF resources to forestall or cope with 
an impairment of the international monetary system. New Arrangements to Borrow is 
used in circumstances in which the IMF needs to supplement its quota resources for 
lending purposes. 

Australia has made a line of credit available to the IMF under its New Arrangements 
to Borrow since 1998. As at 30 June 2025, the value of Australia’s New Arrangements 
to Borrow credit arrangement is 4.4 billion in Special Drawing Rights (approximately 
$9.2 billion).

On 19 July 2024, a renewal of the New Arrangements to Borrow was adopted by a 
decision of the IMF’s Executive Board. The government is undertaking the relevant 
process under the International Monetary Agreements Act 1947 to enable Australia to 
carry out its obligations. On 25 March 2025, a legislative instrument was tabled to give 
notice of the renewal. The New Arrangements to Borrow is not currently active or being 
called upon.
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Bilateral Borrowing Agreements provide a third line of funding defence to supplement 
IMF resources. Australia has also made available 2.0 billion in Special Drawing 
Rights (approximately $4.2 billion) through a Bilateral Borrowing Arrangement. On 
20 November 2024, the Australian Government finalised a further extension of the 
Agreement through to 31 December 2027.

Australia entered into agreements with the IMF to lend a portion of our Special Drawing 
Right holdings to the Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust (Table 46) on 23 October 2020 
and 7 October 2022 and to lend Special Drawing Right holdings to the pooled 
Investment on 7 October 2022. The Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust provides 
concessional financial support to help low-income countries to achieve, maintain or 
restore a stable and sustainable macroeconomic position consistent with strong and 
durable poverty reduction and growth. The Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust Pooled 
Investments will provide subsidy resources of 82 million in Special Drawing Rights.

Table 46: Australia’s Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust transactions in 2024–25

Description
Debit 

(SDRs)
Debit 

(A$)
Credit 
(SDRs)

Credit 
(A$)

Poverty Reduction and 
Growth Trust Loan Account 
as at 30 June 2024

260,547,714 546,336,159

Total loans (payments) 57,030,030 119,584,882

Total receipts (repayments) 0 0

Poverty Reduction and 
Growth Trust Loan Account 
as at 30 June 2025

317,577,744 665,921,040

Note: 	 Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust loans are denominated in Special Drawing Rights. Australian 
dollar equivalents use the exchange rate at 30 June 2025.

The Australian Government earns interest on any funds lent or contributed under the 
Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust. In 2024–25, the Australian Government received 
interest payments on its Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust loans of 9.30 million in 
Special Drawing Rights (approximately $19.5 million) and 35.31 million in Special Drawing 
Rights (approximately $72.22 million) on the Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust Pooled 
Investment. Interest is calculated using the Special Drawing Right interest rate, accrued 
daily and paid quarterly. The Treasurer consented to a minor administrative variation 
of the terms of the Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust investment agreement, 
transferring the full balance of Australia’s investment for the benefit of the IMF’s Subsidy 
Reserve Account to the IMF’s newly established Long-Term Investment Account.

Australia entered into an agreement with the IMF to lend a portion of its Special 
Drawing Right holdings to the IMF’s Resilience and Sustainability Trust on 
7 October 2022. The Resilience and Sustainability Trust provides affordable long-term 
financing to help low-income countries, small states and vulnerable middle-income 
countries build economic resilience and sustainability to address the risks stemming 
from climate change and pandemics.
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Table 47: Australia’s Resilience and Sustainability Trust transactions in 2024–25

Description
Debit 

(SDRs)
Debit 

(A$)
Credit 
(SDRs)

Credit 
(A$)

Resilience and Sustainability 
Trust Loan Account as at 
30 June 2024

14,175,000 29,723,212

Total loans (payments) 123,543,750 259,055,882

Total receipts (repayments) 0 0

Resilience and Sustainability 
Trust Loan Account as at 
30 June 2025

137,718,750 288,779,094

Note: 	 Resilience and Sustainability Trust loans are denominated in special drawing rights. Australian dollar 
equivalents use the exchange rate at 30 June 2025.

The Australian Government earns interest on any funds lent to the Resilience and 
Sustainability Trust Loan Account or deposited in the Resilience and Sustainability Trust 
Deposit Account. In 2024–25, the Australian Government received interest payments 
on its Resilience and Sustainability Trust loans of 2,364,524 in Special Drawing Rights 
(approximately $4.86 million).

As part of our Resilience and Sustainability Trust agreement, Australia also contributes 
to the Resilience and Sustainability Trust Deposit Account and Reserve Account. These 
contributions support the loan contribution by enabling the IMF to build sufficient 
reserves over time to manage risks associated with Resilience and Sustainability Trust 
lending. In 2024–25, the Australian Government received interest payments on its 
Resilience and Sustainability Trust Deposit Account deposit of 5.37 million in Special 
Drawing Rights (approximately $10.98 million). Contributing to the Resilience and 
Sustainability Trust Reserve Account will not generate interest, but upon liquidation 
of the Trust, Australia will receive its share of the Resilience and Sustainability Trust 
Reserve Account.

Australia’s participation in International Monetary Fund Voluntary 
Trading Arrangements

Australia participates in the IMF’s Voluntary Trading Arrangements for Special Drawing 
Rights. These arrangements, involving around 40 IMF member countries, support the 
liquidity and functioning of the Special Drawing Right market by enabling Special 
Drawing Right exchange for freely usable currencies. 

Under this framework, Australia agrees to buy and sell Special Drawing Rights within set 
limits, helping support the Special Drawing Rights’ role as a key international reserve 
asset. The Reserve Bank of Australia manages these transactions using its own holdings 
of Special Drawing Rights and foreign exchange, with policy oversight by Treasury. 
Australia’s participation reflects its commitment under the IMF’s Articles of Agreement 
to support the effective operation of the Special Drawing Rights system. In 2024–25, 
Australia’s purchases and sales of Special Drawing Rights through IMF Voluntary Trading 
Arrangements totalled 176.1 million in Special Drawing Rights.
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Loans under the International Monetary Agreements Act 1947 in 2024–25

The IMA Act provides that Australia may enter into an agreement for a loan to another 
country in some circumstances. First, the loan needs to provide financial assistance 
in support of an IMF program to another country. Second, the Treasurer needs to be 
satisfied that at least one other government or organisation has, or will be, providing 
similar assistance. 

On 12 December 2024, Australia formally entered into a loan agreement with Papua 
New Guinea in the amount of $570 million to support its estimated 2024 budget 
financing shortfall and support the delivery of reform actions under Papua New 
Guinea’s IMF Extended Credit Facility and Extended Fund Facility Program. The loan 
was provided at the Australian Government’s cost of borrowing and involves no cost 
to the Australian taxpayer.

Australia and the World Bank

Australia’s shareholding and relations with the World Bank

Mandate

The World Bank is a multilateral development bank charged with providing financial 
services, through advice, direct loans, grants, and brokerage to support stable 
and inclusive growth within countries and across and between regions. It works 
closely with the IMF, which is responsible for ensuring the stability of the international 
monetary system.

The World Bank’s mission is to end extreme poverty and boost shared prosperity on a 
liveable planet. 

World Bank strategic priorities

The World Bank collaborates with multilateral institutions, sovereign nations and the 
private sector to mobilise financing and leverage knowledge to ensure assistance is 
harmonised and effective. The World Bank is implementing a strategy to substantially 
increase the volume of private sector funds invested in developing and emerging 
market economies.

Institutions of the World Bank

	� International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

	� International Development Association

	� International Finance Corporation

	� Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency

	� International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes.
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The World Bank’s 2 main institutions are the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development, and the International Development Association. The International 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development lends to governments of middle-income 
and credit-worthy low-income countries. The International Development Association 
provides grants and interest-free or concessional loans to governments of 
poorer countries.

The International Finance Corporation is the largest global development institution 
focused exclusively on the private sector. It helps developing countries achieve 
sustainable growth by financing – in association with private investors – the 
establishment, improvement and expansion of productive private enterprises, which 
will contribute to the development of its member countries.

The Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency promotes foreign direct investment 
into developing countries by offering political risk insurance (guarantees) to investors 
and lenders. 

The International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes provides international 
facilities for conciliation and arbitration of investment disputes.

Australia’s membership of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 
International Finance Corporation, and Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency 
requires the Australian Government to hold shares in these institutions. Australia’s 
shareholdings at 30 June 2025 and Australia’s shareholding and voting power are 
indicated in Table 48 and Table 49.

Table 48: Australian shareholdings at the World Bank at 30 June 2025

International Bank 
for Reconstruction 
and Development 

(IBRD)

International 
Finance 

Corporation 
(IFC)

Multilateral 
Investment 

Guarantee Agency 
(MIGA)

Shares 39,054 463,234 3,019

Price per share (US$) 120,635 1,000 10,820

Value of total capital 
(US$ millions)

4,711.28 463.23 32.67

Value of paid-in 
capital (US$ millions)

342.13 463.23 6.20

Value of callable 
capital (US$ millions)

4,369.15 0.00 26.46

Value of total capital 
(A$ millions)

7,192.79 707.23 49.87
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Table 49: Australia’s shareholding and voting power in the World Bank

IBRD IDA IFC MIGA

Shareholding (per cent of total) 1.44 -- 1.93 1.70

Voting power (per cent of total) 1.39 1.24 1.85 1.47

Note: 	 Shareholdings and voting power at 30 June 2025. Shareholding and voting power differ in 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, International Finance Corporation and 
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency due to the allocation of basic votes across countries. At 
the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes, the Administrative Council comprises a 
representative from each contracting state with equal voting power.

Each arm of the World Bank has its own arrangement for allocating votes and shares 
among members. The Board of Governors and Executive Directors continue to work 
towards ensuring the World Bank has adequate resources to complete its mission and 
that its shareholding reflects changes in the world economy.

In addition to the shareholdings managed by Treasury, DFAT contributes to 
replenishments to International Development Association and funds for joint activities 
through Australia’s country, regional and global programs. DFAT’s annual report 
provides information on Australia’s aid program.

Australia’s cooperation with the World Bank

Australia is involved in World Bank strategy and supports efforts to strengthen the 
World Bank’s governance and optimise its effectiveness. Membership enables Australia 
to pursue economic development outcomes for our region as well as promote the 
benefits of an open global economy. 

Australia is a strong voice at the World Bank and in G20 forums. Australia has called 
for optimal use of the World Bank’s balance sheet and the ‘crowding in’ of private 
sector finances.

Australia’s representation at the World Bank

Board of Governors

The highest decision-making body of the World Bank is the Board of Governors, 
comprising one governor from each of the 189 member countries. In 2024–25, Australia’s 
Governor was the Treasurer, and the Alternate Governor was the Assistant Treasurer. 
Table 50 outlines the Australian Governor’s votes for the 2024–25 financial year. 

https://www.dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/corporate/annual-reports
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Table 50: Australian Governor’s votes on World Bank resolutions in 2024–25

Institution Resolution title Date
Australian 
Governor’s vote

IBRD Rules for the 2024 Regular Election 
of Executive Directors

30 July 2024 Approved

MIGA Rules for the 2024 Regular Election 
of Directors

30 July 2024 Approved

IBRD Direct Remuneration of Executive 
Directors and their Alternates

23 August 2024 Abstained from 
voting

IBRD Transfer from Surplus to Replenish the 
Trust Fund for Gaza and the West Bank

9 September 2024 Approved

IBRD Transfer from IBRD’s Surplus to 
Replenish the Trust Fund for Gaza and 
the West Bank 

18 September 2024 Approved

IBRD Transfer from Surplus to the IBRD 
Surplus-Funded Liveable Planet Fund

18 September 2024 Approved

IBRD Allocation of FY24 Net Income 18 September 2024 Approved

IFC Use of IFC’s FY24 Net Income – 
Retained Earnings and Designation 
of Retained Earnings

18 December 2024 Approved

IBRD Transfer from Surplus to Fund the 
Grant Facility for Project Preparation 

17 January 2025 Approved

IBRD Forthcoming Annual Meetings of 
the Board of Governors – Proposed 
dates for the 2027 and 2028 Annual 
Meetings

27 January 2025 Approved

IDA Additions to IDA Resources – 
Twenty-First Replenishment

15 April 2025 Approved

Executive Director and Constituency Office

The World Bank’s Executive Boards (International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development, International Development Agency, International Finance Corporation, 
and Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency) conduct the day-to-day business 
of the World Bank and determine matters of policy under the overall authority of the 
Board of Governors.

Australia belongs to a constituency of countries from the Asia-Pacific region that 
includes Cambodia, Kiribati, Republic of Korea, Marshall Islands, Federated States 
of Micronesia, Mongolia, Nauru, New Zealand, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, 
Solomon Islands, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu. 

One Executive Director represents the constituency on the Board of Executive Directors. 

By agreement, Australia and Republic of Korea rotate this role every 2 years. 
At 30 June 2025, Mr Robert Bruce Nicholl of Australia held the constituency’s 
Executive Director position.
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Foreign investment
Treasury’s Foreign Investment Division plays an important regulatory role. It enables 
foreign investment that is vital to Australia’s prosperity. It safeguards Australia’s national 
interest and security. Foreign investment helps drive economic growth and improves 
productivity, competition and innovation.

Foreign investment policy developments
Throughout 2024–25, Treasury continued to implement reforms to policy and practice 
announced by the government on 1 May 2024 to deliver a stronger, more streamlined 
and more transparent approach to foreign investment. This has included streamlining 
the assessment of low-risk investment proposals, strengthening scrutiny of high-risk 
investment proposals, enhancing compliance and enforcement activities, and 
continuing to enhance engagement with stakeholders. 

On 16 February 2025, the government announced a temporary 2-year ban – effective 
from 1 April 2025 – on foreign persons (including temporary residents and foreign-owned 
companies) purchasing established dwellings in Australia, with limited exceptions. The 
government also announced an audit program and enhanced compliance activities 
to target land banking by foreign investors. The 2025–26 Budget included additional 
funding for Treasury and the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) to support delivery.

Treasury also supported the government to implement the interfunding exemption 
announced in the 2023–24 Budget. Interfunding transactions are now exempt 
from mandatory notification and reporting following amendments to the Foreign 
Acquisitions and Takeovers Regulation 2015, reducing regulatory burden and costs for 
institutional investors. 

The launch of a new online portal in May 2025 marked the completion of the Foreign 
Investment Digital Transformation program. Treasury will continue to refine and 
enhance the system, guided by user feedback and stakeholder experience. The portal 
is a component of broader reforms to streamline and strengthen Australia’s foreign 
investment framework. 
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Foreign investment framework and regulation
The foreign investment framework ensures investments are not contrary to Australia’s 
national interest, balancing the need to attract investment with maintaining 
public confidence. 

The framework is governed by the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975, 
the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Fees Impositions Act 2015, and associated 
regulations. Administration of the legislative framework is set out in Australia’s Foreign 
Investment Policy and supporting Guidance Notes.

Under the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975, the Treasurer is responsible 
for Australia’s foreign investment policy and the foreign investment framework. 
Decision-making delegations exist to allow Treasury portfolio ministers, and Treasury 
and ATO officials to act on the Treasurer’s behalf.

Treasury is responsible for the foreign investment policy framework and administers the 
framework in relation to business, agricultural land and commercial land proposals. 
The ATO administers the framework in relation to residential real estate proposals, is 
responsible for the Register of Foreign Ownership of Australian Assets and administers 
vacancy fees for foreign-owned residential properties.

Review of foreign investment proposals
Table 51 and Table 52 provide an overview of the approved investment proposals during 
the reporting period. There were 1,362 commercial investment proposals approved 
in 2024–25 (Table 51). There were 131 commercial investment proposals withdrawn in 
2024–25. The value of approved commercial investment proposals was $251.5 billion 
(Table 52). The ATO approved 3,922 residential real estate proposals in 2024–25. 
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Table 51: Number of investment proposals 2022–23 to 2024–25

Commercial Residential real estate

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Approved with 
conditions

547 476 443 4,768 4,042 2,692

Approved without 
conditions

767 755 919 1,808 1,539 1,230

Total approved 1,314 1,231 1,362 6,576 5,581 3,922

Withdrawn 149 246 131 74 139 94

Prohibition orders 1 1 0 0 0 0

Disposal orders 0 5 0 0 0 0

Note: 	 Residential real estate figures do not include property developer New Dwelling Exemption 
Certificate sales. 

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 

	 Proposals include Exemption Certificates, which grant investors approval to make acquisitions over a 
defined period. These may have a specified financial limit or no financial cap. In the 2024–25 financial 
year, the approvals include 3 Passive Foreign Government Investor Exemption Certificates and 3 
Exemption Certificates without a financial limit. The majority of Exemption Certificates are given for 
a duration longer than one year. As a result, the associated acquisitions take place over a number of 
years and not necessarily within the same financial year as when the Exemption Certificate was given.

Table 52: Value of investment proposals approved ($ billion) 2022–23 to 2024–25

Commercial Residential real estate

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Approved with 
conditions 132.6 133.8 198.2 6.1 4.8 3.5

Approved without 
conditions 40.5 53.3 53.3 1.8 1.8 1.4

Total 173.1 187.0 251.5 7.9 6.6 4.9

Note: 	 Anomalous values or values that could identify specific transactions have been removed. The ATO 
assessed some commercial applications received before December 2022.

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 

	 Proposals include Exemption Certificates, which grant investors approval to make acquisitions over a 
defined period. These may have a specified financial limit or no financial cap. In the 2024–25 financial 
year, the approvals include 3 Passive Foreign Government Investor Exemption Certificates and 3 
Exemption Certificates without a financial limit. The majority of Exemption Certificates are given for 
a duration longer than one year. As a result, the associated acquisitions take place over a number of 
years and not necessarily within the same financial year as when the Exemption Certificate was given.
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Approved investment proposals by investment source and 
industry sector 
In 2024–25, the United States was the largest source country for commercial investment 
proposals by number and value ($122.3 billion from 523 proposals). The next 4 largest 
source countries by value were Japan ($15 billion), Canada ($12.5 billion), Singapore 
($11.2 billion) and Saudi Arabia ($9.1 billion). 

Table 53: Top 10 sources of investment by value of approved commercial 
investment proposals 2022–23 to 2024–25

Country Number Value ($ billion)

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

United States 604 504 523 34.7 65.7 122.3

Japan 138 114 155 14.0 20.0 15.0

Canada 342 316 297 14.4 6.3 12.5

Singapore 237 265 274 14.4 9.4 11.2

Saudi Arabia 77 60 58 1.2 3.9 9.1

South Korea 77 107 103 6.6 1.0 7.4

United Kingdom 187 176 203 6.6 2.9 5.9

South Africa 30 20 35 1.3 0.5 4.5

Germany 84 87 97 2.0 6.4 4.4

United Arab Emirates 129 158 161 2.9 4.9 3.8

Note: 	 This table is sorted by the value of approved proposals in the 2024–25 financial year. Proposals 
involving more than one source country are counted against each source country.

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 

In 2024–25, China was the largest source of investment for approved residential real 
estate investment proposals by number and value ($1.4 billion from 1,355 proposals). 
The next 4 largest sources of residential investment by value were Taiwan ($0.5 billion), 
Vietnam ($0.3 billion), Hong Kong special administrative region ($0.3 billion) and 
Indonesia ($0.2 billion).
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Table 54: Top 10 sources of investment by value of approved residential real 
estate proposals 2022–23 to 2024–25

Country Number Value ($ billion)

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

China 2,601 1,998 1,355 3.4 2.6 1.4

Taiwan 330 395 463 0.3 0.4 0.5

Vietnam 423 363 383 0.4 0.4 0.3

Hong Kong special 
administrative region 650 409 284 0.6 0.4 0.3

Indonesia 190 194 234 0.2 0.2 0.2

India 451 550 509 0.2 0.4 0.2

Singapore 316 268 254 0.3 0.2 0.1

United Kingdom 226 197 192 0.2 0.2 0.1

Nepal 281 321 286 0.2 0.3 0.1

Malaysia 215 145 201 0.2 0.1 0.1

Note: 	 This table is sorted by the value of approved proposals in the 2024–25 financial year. Variations from 
previously published statistics are due to reconciliation processes. 

The 2 largest target sectors for proposed investment for 2024–25 by value were Services 
with a total value of $112.6 billion, and Commercial Real Estate, with a total value of 
$54 billion. The third largest sector was Finance & Insurance ($33.5 billion).
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Table 55: Number and value of approved investment proposals by industry 
sector 2022–23 to 2024–25

Number Value ($ billion)

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Services 389 341 372 43.9 54.9 112.6 

Commercial 
Real Estate

423 464 480 50.1 35.8 54.0 

Finance & Insurance 80 82 76 32.6 21.6 33.5 

Mineral exploration 
& development

126 130 169 13.2 54.9 31.5 

Manufacturing, 
Electricity & Gas

169 137 161 24.8 14.5 13.0 

Agriculture, Forestry 
& Fishing

204 134 185 8.5 5.3 7.1 

Residential 
Real Estate

6,576 5,581 3,922 7.9 6.6 4.9 

Note: 	 This table is sorted by the value of approved proposals in the 2024–25 financial year.

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 

Median processing times
Treasury’s median processing time for approved commercial investment proposals was 
33 days in 2024–25. This is lower than the median processing time of 41 days in 2023–24, 
and 41 days in 2022–23.

The government announced on 1 May 2024 that Treasury will adopt a new 
performance target of processing 50 per cent of investment proposals within the 
30-day statutory decision period, from 1 January 2025. Treasury adopted this new 
target from 1 January 2025 and the 2024–25 financial year data in Table 56 and 
Figure 16 present progress against this target. 

Table 56: Median processing times for decided commercial investment 
proposals 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

41 days 41 days 33 days

Note: 	 Treasury updated its processing time methodology to only capture decided proposals subject 
to the statutory time period in the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 and excludes 
administrative approvals. 

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 
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In 2024–25, 48 per cent of cases were processed in 30 days or less, compared to 
37 per cent in 2023–24 and 33 per cent in 2022–23.

Figure 16: Decided investment proposal processing times (number of days) 
2022–23 to 2024–25

Note: 	 Treasury updated its processing time methodology to capture only decided proposals subject 
to the statutory time period in the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 and exclude 
administrative approvals. 

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes. 

Table 57: Residential real estate investment median proposal processing times 
2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

7 days 6 days 4 days

The ATO’s residential real estate median processing time improved from previous 
financial years to 4 days for 2024–25. 
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National security 
The government’s May 2024 reforms included dedicating greater resources and 
applying more scrutiny to foreign investment proposals in critical and sensitive sectors. 
They also included enhancing compliance monitoring and enforcement activities.

These reforms build on changes which took effect in January 2021, to strengthen the 
foreign investment framework’s national security powers and increase the types of 
transactions subject to mandatory notification. These changes enabled investors to 
voluntarily notify actions that may pose national security concerns.

Of the 1,362 commercial foreign investment proposals approved in 2024–25, 109 related 
to national security actions with a total value of $4.8 billion that would not have been 
captured prior to January 2021.13 Of these national security actions, 85 were mandatory 
notifications and 24 were voluntary. 

Table 58: Number of approved national security investment proposals 
2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Mandatory Approved with conditions 15 11 8

Approved without conditions 69 42 77

Total 84 53 85

Voluntary Approved with conditions 4 1 5

Approved without conditions 27 24 19

Total 31 25 24

Note: 	 Proposals are categorised as either mandatory or voluntary notifications. 

	 Variations from previously published statistics are due to the reconciliation processes.

Table 59: Value of approved national security investment proposals ($ billion) 
2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Approved with conditions 1.0 0.3 0.5

Approved without conditions 4.7 2.4 4.3

Total 5.7 2.7 4.7

Note:	 Slight variations are due to rounding of a decimal value. 

13	  Table 51: Number of investment proposals 2022–23 to 2024–25.
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Treasury foreign investment compliance activities
Treasury takes a risk-based approach to compliance with the foreign investment laws, 
focusing on areas of greatest risk to the national interest and national security. The goal 
is to ensure compliance activities detect and address breaches and support voluntary 
investor compliance. 

The Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 provides enforcement powers that 
allow proportionate responses based on the nature and extent of non-compliance, 
investor conduct, and history. Treasury’s compliance approach – outlined on 
foreigninvestment.gov.au and the Foreign Investment Compliance Framework Policy 
Statement – emphasises education, market intelligence, compliance assurance 
and enforcement. 

Treasury’s compliance posture supported the May 2024 reforms. In 2024–25, Treasury 
started using monitoring powers under the Regulatory Powers (Standard Provisions) 
Act 2014 to conduct inspections to verify compliance. Treasury enhanced compliance 
efforts targeting foreign investments near sensitive Australian Government facilities, 
critical minerals, infrastructure, and technology.

Treasury issued one infringement notice in 2024–25 for a contravention of the Foreign 
Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975. This follows the issuing of 19 infringement notices 
in the previous year in response to multiple alleged contraventions by 2 separate 
foreign investors.

The Treasurer also filed the first ever application for civil penalties in the Federal Court 
of Australia, to address non-compliance with a disposal order issued in 2024 to address 
national security concerns. 

In 2024–25, monitoring campaigns focused on sensitive and high-risk investments, 
particularly those involving data security and proximity to sensitive Australian 
Government facilities. Treasury undertook targeted, ongoing monitoring of highly 
sensitive investment in critical technologies.

Treasury’s 2 audit programs – the Regulator Audit Program (Treasury-led in-house 
audits) and the Independent Audit Program (condition-mandated audits conducted by 
independent assurance practitioners) – serve important compliance assurance roles. 
The Regulator Audit program continued to develop during 2024–25 to conduct complex 
and in-depth audits, including through the use of monitoring powers. The audits were 
selected based on priority compliance risk areas to verify compliance with conditions 
imposed on approved foreign investments. Where an investor was found to be non-
compliant or partially compliant, the investor worked with Treasury and remediated 
any identified non-compliance as a priority. The Independent Audit Program continues 
to enhance Treasury’s oversight and assurance of investor compliance with conditions 
imposed on a significant number of investments in sensitive, high-risk and complex 
areas. Where non-compliance was identified, investors worked with Treasury to 
promptly address issues. Ongoing engagement with foreign investors has helped 
improve compliance and remediate issues.

http://www.foreigninvestment.gov.au
https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/sites/foreigninvestment.gov.au/files/2023-06/FI_compliance_framework.pdf
https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/sites/foreigninvestment.gov.au/files/2023-06/FI_compliance_framework.pdf
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Treasury compliance activities summary

Table 60 to Table 65 summarise compliance activities undertaken across the 2024–25 
financial year. Further details can be found in the Quarterly Reports on Foreign 
Investment.

The Treasurer filed one application for civil penalty proceedings in the Federal Court of 
Australia. During 2024–25, Treasury exercised monitoring powers to conduct a number 
of on-site compliance inspections.

Table 60: Number of condition mandated reports 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Condition mandated reports received 2,577 2,785 2,819

Condition mandated reports assessed(a) 3,027 3,188 2,675

Note:	 Any changes in historical figures are due to quality assurance activities.

a)	 Condition mandated reports assessed may include reports carried over from the previous financial years.

Table 61: Number of regulator audits completed 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Regulator audits completed 6 7 5

Table 62: Number of independent audits completed 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Proposals approved 76 76 91

Reports completed 78 67 96

https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/news-and-reports/reports-and-publications
https://foreigninvestment.gov.au/news-and-reports/reports-and-publications
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Table 63: Number of matters sourced via non-compliance referrals and 
assessments by information source 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Self-reported potential non-compliance 
with conditions (voluntary disclosures 
outside mandatory reporting)

25 11 11

Failure to notify related referrals/reports 
from the public(a)

43 33 73

Failure to notify related referrals/reports 
identified from other source(b)

46 57 20

Total 114 101 104

Note:	 Any changes in historical figures are due to quality assurance activities.

a)	 Including retrospective notifications received from investors. 

b)	 Referrals from other sources can include internal referrals from other areas of the Treasury or Government, 
as well as Treasury-initiated referrals from media monitoring and market scanning for non-compliance. 

Table 64: Number of infringement notices issued 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Infringement notices issued 1 19 1

Table 65: Number of investigation matters completed 2022–23 to 2024–25

2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Investigations 2 4 7

Note:	 Any changes in historical figures are due to quality assurance activities. 
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Australian Taxation Office’s compliance activities
The Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is committed to strengthening Australia’s foreign 
investment framework and working with Treasury to ensure that foreign investors meet 
the foreign investment rules and comply with their obligations. 

The ATO’s regulation of foreign investment involves administration of residential 
application screening and fee collection, asset registration requirements, vacancy 
fee obligations and targeted residential compliance action. ATO officers consider all 
applications to purchase residential real estate on a case-by-case basis to ensure 
the proposed investment is not contrary to Australia’s national interest. The ATO uses 
sophisticated data matching and community tip offs to detect foreign investors who 
purchase residential real estate without approval. The ATO also identifies those who 
breach the foreign investment rules for residential real estate and do not comply with 
conditions of their approval. This includes collection of annual vacancy fee returns and 
conducting compliance checks over these statements. 

The ATO helps foreign investors to comply with their obligations by using data and 
analytics to drive early intervention and prevention of non-compliance. Targeted 
prompts may be sent to foreign investors to remind them of their conditions of approval 
and lodge vacancy fee returns. Consequences of breaching the foreign investment 
rules include forced divestment, infringement notices and civil penalties. The ATO’s 
website includes further information about its compliance approach for foreign 
investment in residential assets. 

Additional government funding committed from 1 January 2024 contributed to an 
increase in compliance outcomes in the 2024–25 year compared to previous years. 
The ATO’s compliance activities in 2024–25 focused on high-risk residential real estate 
investments and aligned with the intention of the foreign investment framework that 
residential real estate investment should increase Australia’s housing stock. 

In 2024–25, the ATO identified 637 residential real estate compliance cases for 
investigation. Treatment strategies included prompting foreign investors to remediate 
a possible breach, case reviews and audits. Following this activity, 217 properties were 
found to be in breach of the foreign investment rules. Rectification of these breaches 
included divestments, retrospective approvals and variations to existing conditions 
imposed. The ATO also issued 161 infringement penalty notices totalling $3,743,562 
and raised $3,585,800 in vacancy fee liabilities as part of the annual vacancy return 
lodgement compliance program. Of the 217 properties found to be in breach, over 
60 per cent were acquired as established dwellings and over 30 per cent related to 
parcels of vacant land that were acquired with development conditions.

https://www.ato.gov.au/individuals-and-families/investments-and-assets/foreign-investment-in-australia/foreign-investment-in-residential-assets-our-compliance-approach
https://www.ato.gov.au/individuals-and-families/investments-and-assets/foreign-investment-in-australia/foreign-investment-in-residential-assets-our-compliance-approach
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Table 66: Residential real estate compliance investigations 2022–23 to 2024–25

Investigations(a) 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

Identified(b) 428 688 637

Completed 410 602 548

Properties in breach(c) 145 141 217 

a)	 This includes compliance activities identified and completed during the year using prompter campaigns. 
A prompter campaign uses an educational approach to compliance aimed at assisting investors to 
comply with their obligations. In the 2024–25 year, 239 investigations were identified and completed using 
a prompter campaign.

b)	 The total number of identified cases includes new cases identified in the prior financial year which remained 
open at the end of that financial year. At the close of the 2023–24 year, 94 cases were carried forward into 
2024–25 and at the close of 2024–25, 89 cases will be carried over into 2025–26.

c)	 As a result of improved methodology for reporting outcomes, 2024–25 figures are not directly comparable 
with prior years.

Table 67: Outcomes of residential real estate investigations by property that 
identified breaches 2022–23 to 2024–25

Compliance outcomes 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25(a)

No. Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage

Divestment(b) 55 37.93 66 46.80 111 51.15

Retrospective approval(c) 21 14.48 18 12.77 71 32.72

Change of conditions(d) 69 47.59 57 40.43 35 16.13

Total outcomes 145 100.00 141 100.00 217 100.00

Note:	 Previous year percentages may not equal 100 due to rounding. 

a)	 As a result of improved methodology for reporting outcomes, 2024–25 figures are not directly comparable 
with prior years.

b)	 Includes property disposals initiated by the client following an ATO investigation.

c)	 Approval is provided after the property has been purchased.

d)	 In the course of an investigation, the ATO determines a foreign investor is in breach of their approval 
condition and works with the investor to remedy the breach. Where appropriate, an infringement notice 
is also issued in these situations for failure to comply with conditions.
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Foreign investment digital transformation
To support the expanded remit flowing from the 2021 legislative reforms, the 
2020–21 Budget provided $86.3 million over 4 years (2021−24) to deliver business and 
digital transformation programs to support the work of Treasury and the ATO. 

As part of the digital transformation program, Treasury delivered a new integrated case 
and compliance management system. This enabled investors, agents and government 
consultation partners to engage with Treasury more efficiently. Treasury will continue to 
refine and enhance the system based on user feedback and stakeholder experience. 
The new platform improves Treasury’s digital service delivery capability. It consolidates 
legacy data holdings and replaces them with a platform that includes:

	� an end-to-end case management system for foreign investment submissions

	� a foreign investment portal for investors and their representatives

	� a portal for government consult partners to provide advice on case assessments

	� a new Register of Foreign Ownership of Australian Assets (RFOAA), delivered by the ATO

	� a single view of foreign investment case data

	� a Treasury payment gateway.

The Foreign Investment Review Board
The Foreign Investment Review Board (the Board) is a non-statutory body that 
advises the Treasurer and Government on foreign investment matters. The Treasurer 
is responsible for decisions about foreign investment policy and proposals. Treasury’s 
Foreign Investment Division administers the foreign investment regulatory framework 
and supports the Board’s work.

Board members have expertise in foreign affairs, national security, business, investment, 
finance, and specific sectors. Robust probity procedures ensure any real or perceived 
conflicts of interests are appropriately managed.

The Board has several roles:

	� Examining proposed investments in Australia that are subject to the Foreign 
Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975 and supporting legislation and covered by 
Australia’s Foreign Investment Policy, and making recommendations to the Treasurer 
and other Treasury portfolio ministers on these proposals. 

	� Providing advice to the Treasurer on the operation of Australia’s Foreign Investment 
Policy and the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975.

	� Fostering an awareness and understanding of Australia’s Foreign Investment Policy 
and the Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975.
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Foreign Investment Review Board membership
On 30 June 2025, the Foreign Investment Review Board had 7 members, made up 
of 6 part-time members and one full-time executive member – the First Assistant 
Secretary of Treasury’s Foreign Investment Division.

Table 68: Members of the Foreign Investment Review Board at 30 June 2025

Name Qualifications and experience
Date of 
commencement

Mr Bruce 
Miller AO 
(Chair)

Mr Miller has had a distinguished career in international 
relations and intelligence occupying senior positions 
in the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, the 
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, and the 
Office of National Assessments. He served as Australian 
Ambassador to Japan (2011–17). He is a non-executive 
director of Australian life insurance company TAL, and 
2 Japanese companies, Dai-ichi Life Holdings and the 
INPEX corporation. 

Non-executive 
member since 
6 April 2022

Mr 
Steven 
Skala AO

Mr Skala is the Chairman of Clean Energy Finance 
Corporation (since 2017) and brings extensive experience in 
law, business and banking, as well as government-related 
and not-for-profit organisations. He is active beyond 
banking and commerce as the Chairman of the Heide 
Museum of Modern Art, an Honorary Life Governor of The 
General Sir John Monash Foundation, a Director of the 
Centre for Independent Studies and a Member of the 
International Council of the Museum of Modern Art (MoMA) 
in New York. 

Non-executive 
member since 
18 September 2020

Ms 
Carolyn 
Kay

Ms Kay is Chair of Rothschild & Co Australia, and a 
non-executive director of National Australia Bank, Scentre 
Group, and Myer Family Investments. In the not-for-profit 
sector, she is a non-executive director of The General 
Sir John Monash Foundation and a Trustee of Sydney 
Grammar School. In 2001, she was awarded the Centenary 
Medal for services to Australian society in business 
leadership and brings extensive experience to FIRB as 
an executive and non-executive director with more than 
30 years’ experience in the finance sector.

Non-executive 
member since 
20 November 2021

Dr Sarah 
Pearson

Dr Pearson is Chancellor at the University of New England, 
a non-executive director of Royal Automobile Club of 
Queensland (RACQ), Adjunct Professor at the University 
of Queensland, and member of Main Sequence Ventures 
Investment Committee. She has represented Australia 
globally as Chief Scientist and Chief Innovation Officer 
at the Commonwealth Department of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade (DFAT). She brings significant experience 
in public and private science and innovation roles, 
including in relation to technology and data, medical and 
biotechnology, food science, consumer goods, financial 
services, social impact, venture capital and startups. 

Non-executive 
member since 
7 December 2023
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Name Qualifications and experience
Date of 
commencement

Ms Linda 
Apelt

Ms Apelt is a Director of the Australian Retirement Trust as 
well as Chair of Opera Queensland and a Member of the 
Griffith University Council. She served as Agent-General for 
Queensland in the United Kingdom and the Queensland 
Trade and Investment Commissioner, Europe between 
2017 and 2021 and was a former Director General for 
Departments of Communities and Housing with the 
Queensland Government. Ms Apelt was previously a 
Director with the Association of Economic Representatives 
in London, Adjunct Professor at the University of 
Queensland, Chair of Screen Queensland and Chair of 
Common Ground Queensland.

Non-executive 
member since 
7 December 2023

Ms Kellie 
Benda

Ms Benda has held senior executive positions with AGL 
Limited, Origin Energy Limited, Aurizon Limited, and is a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. She 
is currently a non-executive director or Chair of a number 
of organisations. She brings experience to FIRB across a 
broad range of industries including mining and resources, 
energy, utilities, infrastructure, technology, health services, 
agriculture, insurance, and professional services

Non-executive 
member since 
7 December 2023

Mr Chris 
Tinning

Mr Tinning is the First Assistant Secretary of Treasury’s 
Foreign Investment Division and the Executive Member of 
the Foreign Investment Review Board. He has over 20 years 
of experience with the Department of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade and the former Australian Agency for International 
Development, including in the role of Chief Economist 
Development. His international experience includes 
postings in Jakarta and Washington, and a secondment to 
the World Bank as adviser to Australia’s Executive Director.

Executive member 
since 19 June 2023

Table 69: Foreign Investment Review Board meeting attendance during 2024–25

Meetings attended Meetings eligible to attend

Bruce Miller AO 7 7

Steven Skala AO 7 7

Carolyn Kay 7 7

Linda Apelt 7 7

Dr Sarah Pearson 7 7

Kellie Benda 7 7

Chris Tinning 7 7
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Payment times reporting

Payment Times Reporting Scheme
Preparation of this report is in accordance with section 56 of the Payment Times 
Reporting Act 2020 (the PTR Act). Section 56 requires the Payment Times Reporting 
Regulator (the regulator) to publish a report on the operation of the PTR Act and include 
it in Treasury’s annual report.

The Payment Times Reporting Scheme (the Scheme) commenced on 1 January 2021 
with a legislated review occurring in 2023. The government released its response to the 
review in December 2023 with significant reforms to the Scheme progressed since then 
and with most now finalised.

Long and late payment times can have considerable and negative impacts on small 
business, placing pressure on cash flow, hindering their ability to plan and grow, employ 
staff and, in some cases, requiring adjustments to short-term finance. Moving money 
through the system faster supports small business sustainability and growth, while 
delivering benefits to the Australian economy.

Under the Scheme, large businesses and some government enterprises (collectively 
known as reporting entities) must submit a payment times report to the regulator every 
6 months. These reports contain information on how a reporting entity pays their small 
business suppliers. This includes common payment terms, actual payment performance, 
the proportion of their procurement with small business and the use of supply chain 
financing arrangements. 

The regulator publishes payment times reports submitted by reporting entities 
on the Payment Times Reports Register. This information is publicly available at  
paymenttimes.gov.au. The Scheme’s transparency aims to:

	� improve payment times for small businesses

	� support them to make more informed decisions about potential customers, and 

	� create incentives for reporting entities to improve their payment terms and practices. 

Regulatory reforms 
The Payment Times Reporting Amendment Act 2024 commenced on 7 September 2024 
and made significant changes to the PTR Act. The Payment Times Reporting Rules 2024 
that support the operation of the Act, commenced on 13 September 2024.

The reforms strengthen regulatory powers and increase transparency. They provide the 
regulator with the appropriate tools and powers to deliver better payment outcomes 
for small businesses. Regulatory burden for reporting entities has also reduced through 
streamlined reporting requirements and processes. 

https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2020A00091
https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2020A00091
http://www.paymenttimes.gov.au
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The revised objects of the PTR Act and new regulator functions focus on changing large 
businesses behaviour by identifying and shining a light on poor and good payment 
practices. The regulator and ministerial powers allow action to address non-compliance 
proportionate to the severity of the non-compliance.

The reforms introduced new obligations for all reporting entities with new reporting 
requirements taking effect for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2024. 

	� Simplified reporting requirements – changing the definition of a reporting entity 
and applying Australian Accounting Standards as a well-established and practical 
approach for consolidated reporting across corporate groups, simplifying their 
compliance obligations. A parent reporting entity now submits a single consolidated 
report on the payment performance of all its member entities, improving 
transparency of reporting data on the public Payment Times Reports Register.

	� Streamlined and better-quality payment data – the number of fields in a payment 
times report has halved and data quality has improved through detailed calculation 
methodologies, providing more meaningful payment times information. 

The Payment Times Reporting Regulator
The PTR Act and its administration by the regulator provide the regulatory framework to 
improve payment times for small businesses. This involves fostering a culture of prompt 
payment practices and making the payment times and practices of reporting entities 
transparent in respect of their small business suppliers.

The regulator’s core functions are to:

	� provide tools and resources for reporting entities to submit payment times reports 
twice a year and to publish the reports on the publicly available Payment Times 
Reports Register

	� provide tools and resources that enhance transparency by making the Payment 
Times Reports Register data available

	» in a format that is easy for small business suppliers to access and use for planning 
and decision making, and 

	» to support initiatives that incentivise improvements to payment times to 
small business

	� conduct research and publish reports and analysis on the payment terms, times, 
and practices of reporting entities

	� monitor compliance with the PTR Act to identify and address non-compliance by 
using their legislative powers. 
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In the regulator’s Update for January 2025, the Regulator communicated to reporting 
entities and other stakeholders that they could expect the regulator to take a more 
proactive posture. It said it would be increasing education, stakeholder engagement 
and transparency through public reporting to optimise voluntary compliance, as well as 
strengthening its response to instances of non-compliance.

In March 2025, the Australian Government issued a Statement of Expectations to the 
regulator outlining its expectations for how the regulator will achieve their objectives, 
carry out their new functions and exercise their powers. In response, the regulator 
issued a Statement of Intent providing a roadmap for the delivery of the regulator’s 
new functions and reinforced their commitment to integrity, professionalism and best 
practice regulation. 

Operation of the scheme
A reporting entity is the highest-level entity within a corporate group that satisfies 
all criteria set out in section 7 of the PTR Act, including having consolidated revenue 
exceeding $100 million in the previous financial year. A reporting entity under the 
reformed Scheme must submit a consolidated payment times report consistent with the 
principles of consolidation in the Australian Accounting Standards Board standards. This 
report must include the payment data of the reporting entity and its controlled entities, 
including foreign entities and those that are not constitutionally covered entities, or 
have annual revenue under $10 million.

The Scheme’s website at paymenttimes.gov.au provides a suite of guidance materials 
and information sheets to help reporting entities meet their obligations and understand 
how the regulator administers the PTR Act. 

The reporting entity must prepare and submit reports for reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2024 under the new reporting framework. To support 
reporting entities transition to the new framework, the amendments to the PTR Act 
included an automatic 3-month extension for new reporting obligations. This extension 
meant that reports for reporting periods commencing between 1 July 2024 and 
30 September 2024 were due on or before 30 June 2025, instead of 31 March 2025.

Only entities that meet the revised definition of a reporting entity in the PTR Act must 
submit payment times reports under the new Scheme. However, reporting obligations 
under the previous legislative framework continue to apply to reporting periods that 
commenced before 1 July 2024.

Payment transactions in the 2024–25 financial year were subject to either the previous 
or the new legislative frameworks. Together with the introduction of new application 
types and revised reporting obligations, a like-for-like comparison with previous 
financial years is not appropriate. 

http://www.paymenttimes.gov.au
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In the 2024–25 financial year, reporting entities submitted 15,499 payment times reports 
under both the previous and new legislative frameworks.

In the same period, the regulator received and processed:

	� 19 applications for an extension of time under the previous legislative framework

	� 8 notices to be a volunteering entity under the previous legislative framework

	� 657 applications for a short extension of time 

	� 34 applications for a modifiable extension of time

	� 44 applications for a determination to be a subsidiary reporting entity

	� 17 applications for a determination to be a reporting nominee

	� 1 application to be a volunteering entity

	� 15 applications to be exempt from reporting, and

	� 7 applications for reconsideration of a reviewable decision.

Payment Times Reports Register
On 13 September 2024, the regulator launched a new and improved interactive 
register. The register refreshes daily to reflect newly submitted payment times reports 
and applications from reporting entities. New functionality in the interactive register 
dashboards provides users with better accessibility to payment times data.

The regulator also publishes a downloadable Register Excel dataset. Between 
1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025, this dataset updated 11 times (excluding September 2024 
when the Scheme transitioned to the new legislative framework). 

The regulator will continue to make improvements to the register to increase 
transparency of large businesses payment practices and provide more information 
to compare payment times within and across industries. 

Stakeholder engagement
Stakeholder engagement continued to increase over the 12 months to February 2025. 
Stakeholder attendance at the regulator’s liaison forums increased by 175 per cent and 
the number of organisations represented increased by 179 per cent. Notably, 8 major 
organisations that had not previously engaged with the regulator participated in the 
February 2025 forum.
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The regulator engages with stakeholders to deliver better payment outcomes for small 
business suppliers and support economic growth. In 2024–25, the regulator engaged 
with, and supported stakeholders in several ways:

	� Regulator’s Updates released in July 2024 and January 2025. The Updates are 
published on the paymenttimes.gov.au website.

	� Stakeholder liaison forums held in September 2024 and February 2025 offering 
reporting entities with an opportunity to engage directly with the regulator. 

	� 12 strategic engagements with industry associations, professional bodies, 
professional service providers and small business advocates. These engagements 
raise awareness about the Scheme, promote our data and develop mutually 
beneficial relationships with organisations that are taking proactive steps to promote 
and support responsible payment practices. 

	� 4 online educational technical workshops ‘Getting Ready for New Reporting’ 
delivered between March and May 2025. These workshops attracted nearly 
3,000 participants, helping them to better understand their reporting obligations 
and how to prepare their payment times reports.

	� Guidance resources including a series of enhanced materials, demonstration 
videos and frequently asked questions to support reporting entities navigate new 
reporting obligations

	� Timely responses to 5,986 email enquiries about the reforms and new 
reporting requirements.

Payment times compliance
The regulator actively monitors and enforces compliance with the Scheme. 

The regulator has adopted an escalating and risk-based approach to compliance. 
This ranges from education and guidance to optimise voluntary compliance through to 
applying its enforcement powers in cases of persistent and deliberate non-compliance. 

The regulator has a range of enforcement tools to respond to non-compliance with the 
Scheme. These tools allow for proportionate and targeted action, depending on the 
severity and nature of each case. They include:

	� undertaking monitoring or investigation activities under the Regulatory Powers Act 2014

	� issuing information gathering notices

	� requiring a reporting entity to undergo a compliance audit

	� publishing non-compliance on the public register

	� issuing infringement notices

	� entering enforceable undertakings, and

	� commencing proceedings to impose civil penalties.

https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2014A00093
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Compliance activities
Between 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025, officers conducted compliance activities 
focusing on:

	� entities that had not previously registered for the Scheme, and

	� registered entities that failed to report for one or more reporting periods under the 
previous legislative framework. 

In 2024–25, the regulator published 142 failure to comply notices for 42 entities that 
failed to comply with their obligations under the PTR Act. 
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Australian Small Business and 
Family Enterprise Ombudsman 
The mission of the Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman 
(ASBFEO) is to help Australia be the best place to start, grow and transform a business. 
Small business is a dynamic, fast-growing and exciting sector driven by optimistic and 
resilient people with entrepreneurial spirit and attitude. The ASBFEO celebrates the 
vital and deeply personal commitment to Australia’s prosperity, wellbeing, and our 
communities made by more than 2.5 million small and family businesses.

The Ombudsman, the Hon Bruce Billson, is an independent, statutorily appointed 
public office holder. ASBFEO’s activities are governed by the Australian Small Business 
and Family Enterprise Ombudsman Act 2015 (the ASBFEO Act). Under the Act, ASBFEO 
delivers its functions for small businesses and family enterprises defined as businesses 
with fewer than 100 employees or revenue of less than $5 million per year. 

ASBFEO has 3 functions to: 

	� assist with dispute resolution and resource access for small and family businesses 

	� advocate for policy development, regulatory design and the business 
support system 

	� inform small and family businesses about ‘better practice’ guidance, support tools 
and helpful resources. 

ASBFEO acts as a trusted adviser and advocate to government, the Parliament and 
regulators, drawing on significant and unique expertise to identify issues affecting small 
business and family enterprises. Policy makers and program designers look for and 
value ASBFEO’s agility and in-depth insights, rich field evidence, problem-solving ability, 
and deep stakeholder engagement.

ASBFEO’s economics and data analytics team conducts surveys and draws together 
public and private sector data to produce tailored and accessible information.

In 2024–25, ASBFEO received and responded to 8,142 requests for assistance 
by providing: 

	� guidance from officers on our dedicated contact centre hotline

	� personalised case management

	� tools to help people start and grow a business and make better business decisions

	� access to mental health support

	� referral to appropriate agencies that can help. 

Most disputes involving small businesses in 2024–25 related to payments. ASBFEO 
provided one-to-one assistance for a record 631 payment disputes in 2024–25. 
The previous record was 587 disputes in 2023–24. 
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ASBFEO responds to requests from small and family businesses while ensuring it does 
not duplicate the functions of other Commonwealth, state or territory agencies, offering 
triage-style services when appropriate. Where small and family businesses reach out 
to us in need, we help connect them to the right agency or other support to resolve 
issues that arise. ASBFEO works cooperatively with government agencies to promote 
alternative dispute resolution processes.

ASBFEO builds and strengthens relationships across business, industry and government 
by leading and supporting the following events, groups and networks: 

	� the Ombudsman convenes the ASBFEO Small Business Forum that routinely 
hosts ministers to meet with small and family business facing industry and 
professional associations

	� the Ombudsman chairs the Federal Regulatory Agency Group, which meets quarterly 
and comprises Commonwealth-level regulators including the Australian Competition 
and Consumer Commission, Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
Australian Taxation Office, Australian Financial Complaints Authority, Australian 
Financial Security Authority, Fair Work Ombudsman and Treasury

	� the Ombudsman co-chairs with an ATO Deputy Commissioner, the Small Business 
Stewardship Group that provides input and feedback on the ATO’s approach 
to small business 

	� the Ombudsman hosts regular meetings of state-based Small Business 
Commissioners to collaborate, share information and insights, identify best practice 
and provide a united voice of influence for small businesses.

ASBFEO communicates with small businesses and family enterprises through a range of 
targeted activities, communication channels and networks. This includes social media, 
stakeholder engagement, media, newsletters, products and events. ASBFEO also 
operates a sponsorship and outreach program. This program connects directly with 
small businesses and family enterprises and their trusted advisors at events including 
expos, tradeshows, field days and summits.

In 2024–25, ASBFEO added new content and updated guidance materials on its 
website. Topics included assistance with payment disputes, recovery of digital 
accounts, working as a delivery driver and clarification of franchising agreements.

ASBFEO leads the Australian celebrations for the United Nations Micro, Small and 
Medium-sized Enterprises Day on 27 June each year. 

The ASBFEO Small Business Hub provides free short-term office space for small and 
family business industry associations and policy advocates.

In 2024–25, ASBFEO was awarded the International Council for Small Business 
Lighthouse Award in recognition of its commitment and support of small and family 
business, providing guidance through challenges and delivering impactful solutions.
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Advocacy
A broad range of research, advocacy and inquiries initiated by the Ombudsman were 
conducted in 2024–25. ASBFEO provided quarterly updates to the Minister about 
operations of the Ombudsman’s Office and relevant legislation, policies and practices 
affecting small business (available at asbfeo.gov.au).

ASBFEO made recommendations to address power imbalances and unfair trading 
practices to the following industry code inquiries:

	� ACCC Supermarkets Inquiry August 2024 Interim Report

	� Grape and Wine Sector Regulatory Impact Analysis

	� Senate Standing Committee on Economics – References Committee Inquiry into 
‘Big Box’ retailer price setting

	� Treasury’s Mandatory Food and Grocery Code exposure draft regulations. 

ASBFEO made 3 submissions to inquiries relating to insurance. The cost and availability 
of insurance significantly impacts small businesses, often leading to inadequate cover 
or a lack of cover. We made recommendations that governments and the industry 
work together to develop solutions to help small businesses mitigate their risk and put 
downward pressure on premiums to: 

	� the Senate Select Committee on the Impact of Climate Change inquiry into the 
impacts of climate change on insurance premiums and availability

	� the Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on 
Economics, Industry and Recreation inquiry into insurance costs in the ACT.

ASBFEO made submissions to reviews of codes of conduct for industries that include a 
significant number of small businesses:

	� 2025 Independent Review of the 2022 Insurance Brokers Code of Practice

	� draft Motor Vehicle Insurance and Repair Industry Code of Conduct

	� draft Australian Finance Industry Association Code of Practice.

ASBFEO also submitted to 2 inquiries in relation to franchising, a key area of activity for 
the ASBFEO assistance team due to the large number of small business franchisees:

	� Consideration of a licensing regime for franchise sector

	� Franchising Code of Conduct Exposure Draft.

ASBFEO submitted views to Payday Super exposure draft legislation which places 
new obligations on employees to pay superannuation at the same time as salary 
and wages. It was recommended that Treasury consult further with affected small 
businesses and provide a longer implementation timeframe to encourage compliance. 

https://www.asbfeo.gov.au/
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ASBFEO made submissions to several Treasury consultations on competition and 
consumer law. The submissions made recommendations to remove barriers to 
competition for small businesses, including:

	� Mergers and acquisitions notification thresholds 

	� Revitalising National Competition Policy

	� Unfair trading practices – supplementary consultation paper.

ASBFEO submitted its views to 2 Productivity Commission inquiries:

	� National Competition Policy analysis 2025

	� Australia’s Productivity Pitch. 

It also made a submission to the Department of Industry, Science and Resources’ draft 
information standard and explanatory statement on Country of origin labelling for 
seafood in hospitality settings.

ASBFEO made a total of 52 submissions in 2024–25 to entities including: 

	� Attorney-General’s Department

	� Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

	� Australian Securities and Investment Commission

	� Australian Finance Industry Association

	� Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

	� Department of Finance

	� Department of Industry, Science and Resources

	� Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications, 
and the Arts

	� Motor vehicle Insurance and Repair Industry Code Administration Committee

	� National Insurance Brokers Association

	� Department of the Treasury

	� Fair Work Commission

	� Fair Work Ombudsman

	� Inspector General of Taxation and Taxation Ombudsman

	� Parliamentary Committees

	� Productivity Commission

	� Reserve Bank of Australia

	� Tax Practitioners Board
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Assistance
The Ombudsman received 8,142 requests for assistance in 2024–25. These comprised 
6,624 calls to the Ombudsman’s contact centre and 1,518 formal requests for assistance 
in accordance with the ASBFEO Act. No formal requests for assistance about ‘no 
adverse cost’ orders were received.

The Ombudsman provided one-to-one assistance to small and family businesses in 
1,518 new disputes with other businesses or Australian Government agencies in 2024–25. 
Of these, 21 per cent were disputes with digital platforms or other digital services 
providers. In many cases, small business accounts were disabled and they were unable 
to access any effective internal resolution support with the platforms.

Consistent with previous years, the other most common types of disputes in 2024–25 
were payment disputes (42 per cent), contract disputes (13 per cent) and the Franchising 
Code of Conduct (9 per cent). The Ombudsman referred 55 cases to alternative dispute 
resolution, including 50 under the franchising code. This includes cases received in 
previous financial years.

The Ombudsman finalised 1,470 cases including 86 per cent of all cases received 
in 2024–25. The Ombudsman referred 279 cases (18 per cent of all cases received 
in 2024–25) to small business commissioners in the states and territories (Table 70). 
A further 10 cases were referred to Commonwealth and other agencies. 

Thirty disputes were partially or fully resolved following the Ombudsman’s referral to an 
alternative dispute resolution process in 2024–25. The Ombudsman worked closely with 
Commonwealth, state and territory agencies, but did not require entry into any formal 
cooperative arrangements.

Table 70: Outcome of new disputes actively managed by ASBFEO during 2024–25 

Resolution Count
Percentage 

of total

Referral to more appropriate agency

•	 state small business commissioners 279 18%

•	 referred to appropriate agency (including Australian Financial 
Complaints Authority, Fair Work Ombudsman, and so on)

10 1%

Resolved by Ombudsman contact with one or more party 986 65%

Referred to alternative dispute resolution (including under the 
Franchising, Horticulture, Oil and Dairy Codes)

28 2%

Referred to Small Business Tax Concierge lawyer 8 1%

Cases currently in progress with Ombudsman 207 14%

Total cases received by ASBFEO requiring active case management 1,518 100%

Note: 	 This table is accurate at date of compilation. The Ombudsman takes great care to ensure the 
quality and reliability of data, sourced from a case management system that is constantly updated. 
Percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding.
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In 2024–25, the Ombudsman was given additional powers and responsibilities under 
the Oil, Horticulture, and Food and Grocery industry codes. The Ombudsman also 
expanded its subsidised legal advice service offering to include eligible small and 
family businesses needing support to more effectively engage in dispute resolution 
processes. The expanded service uses existing funding and extends the types of 
cases eligible for support beyond disputes over negative decisions by the Australian 
Commissioner of Taxation to broader commercial and industry code matters. 

In June 2025, TQCS International reviewed the Australian Small Business and Family 
Enterprise Ombudsman Management System and was satisfied that it meets the 
requirements of ISO 10003:2018 – Quality management Customer satisfaction – 
Guidelines for dispute resolution external to organizations. This is the global standard 
for managing high-quality external dispute resolution services.

The ASBFEO was recognised by the Australian Disputes Centre as the 2025 
Ombudsmen & Commissions Alternative Dispute Resolution Group of the Year.
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Report on the activities of the 
Data Standards Chair
Dr Ian Opperman was appointed as the Data Standards Chair for both the Digital ID 
and the Consumer Data Right (CDR) programs for a two-year period from 1 March 2025 
to 28 February 2027. 

Mr Andrew Stevens was the CDR Data Standards Chair during his most recent 
appointment from 1 March 2023 to 28 February 2025. He was the inaugural officeholder 
and held continuous appointments since May 2018. 

Section 56FP of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 requires Treasury to include 
information about the CDR Data Standards Chair’s performance, and the exercise of 
their powers, in the Treasury annual report.14

The Data Standards Body of the Treasury assists the Data Standards Chair. The Chair 
supports the CDR program by making Data Standards.

The CDR aims to empower consumers, drive innovation and increase competition. 
It puts individuals and businesses in control of data held about them, enabling 
them to share that data safely and make more informed decisions. It has a multi-
agency delivery model involving Treasury, the Australian Competition and Consumer 
Commission and the Office of the Australian Information Commissioner. 

The Chair issued 7 iterations of the Data Standards in 2024–25. Major milestones 
included standards releases to support the consent review and authentication uplift, 
with standards for the non-bank lending sector nearing finalisation. Cross-sectoral 
guidance and implementation activities have also occurred during this time, including 
12 consumer experience guideline releases. 

The Chair convened 7 meetings of the Data Standards Advisory Committee (DSAC) in 
2024–25. DSAC will be reformed under the new Chair in 2025–26 following a change of 
membership and a review of its terms of reference. The new DSAC will provide strategic, 
expert and industry advice on the design and implementation of both CDR and Digital 
ID Data Standards. The new terms of reference were published in May at dsb.gov.au. 
This includes, but is not limited to, regularly reviewing and discussing global trends 
and innovations in relevant standards, particularly regarding enabling and supporting 
Australia’s digital economy, data sharing and use of digital identification and 
verification. Membership includes representatives from relevant sectors, subject matter 
experts, and privacy and consumer advocates.

14	  The Chair’s performance with regard to the Digital ID program is included in the Department of Finance’s 
annual report, as the Department of Finance is responsible for administering the Digital ID Act 2024.

https://dsb.gov.au/
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The Information Security Consultative Group met 17 times in 2024–25 to advise on 
improving the security of authentication in the CDR. The Non-Functional Requirements 
Consultative Group met 5 times in 2024–25 to set a baseline expectation for 
performance and availability of technical implementations that support the CDR 
ecosystem. The membership, minutes and terms of reference of these groups are 
published on dsb.gov.au.

The CDR Rules require the Data Standards to be subject to consumer testing. In 
2024–25, consumer experience research findings were used to inform standards and 
policy for the consent review, authentication uplift, and consent drop issues through 
real-world testing of CDR participant use cases. This research was used to assess the 
performance of the data standards. 

The Data Standards Body commissioned a report to assess DSB’s practices against 
the Digital Service Standard, which will be finalised in 2025–26. The report’s findings 
will assist the Chair to meet his obligations to consult on and publish the CDR 
Data Standards.

The Chair recognises and acknowledges the continuing contributions and dedication 
of the Data Standards Body. The Chair notes his appreciation of the Data Standards 
Advisory Committee and the Consultative Groups, whose members volunteer their time 
and expertise. 

https://dsb.gov.au/


269National Interest Framework

5

Part 5 – Appendices

National Interest Framework
In line with section 14 of the Future Made in Australia Act 2024, the Treasury annual 
report must include a report on the operation of the Act during the reporting period. 

Treasury is responsible for Part 2 and section 13 of the Act, which established the 
National Interest Framework and sector assessment process. In 2024–25, Treasury 
established the sector assessment function, including development of analytical tools 
and capability.
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Australian National Contact Point 
for Responsible Business Conduct
The Australian National Contact Point for Responsible Business Conduct promotes 
responsible business conduct under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises 
on Responsible Business Conduct. It engages with stakeholders including business, 
government, civil society, unions and academics. The Australian National Contact 
Point provides a free conciliation service within a non-judicial OECD framework to 
help resolve complaints against multinational enterprises in connection with alleged 
non-observance of the guidelines. 

Treasury contracted 4 independent examiners in 2024–25 to assess, conciliate and 
make recommendations on individual complaints through public statements. Treasury 
also provides secretariat support, conducts promotional activities to raise awareness 
and contributes to policy development. The function is supported by a Governance 
and Advisory Board which meets biannually and comprises representatives from 
government, civil society, business and unions.

In 2024–25 the Australian National Contact Point supported 9 events, used social media 
for promotion and worked directly with government and non-government stakeholders 
to promote responsible business conduct through their member networks. 

The Australian National Contact Point managed 11 complaints in 2024–25. 
At 30 June 2025:

	� one was in ongoing mediation

	� one was on hold

	� one was subject to a follow up process

	� 2 were undergoing a final statement following mediation or a declined mediation offer

	� 3 were still subject to initial assessment (whether to accept, reject or transfer)

	� 2 were closed after final statements were published

	� one was closed after a follow up statement was published.

The Australian National Contact Point reports annually to the OECD and complaint 
statements are available at ausncp.gov.au.

http://www.ausncp.gov.au
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Information correcting the record
There are no corrections to the information provided in the Treasury Annual 
Report 2023–24.
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Abbreviations and acronyms
ACCC Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

AM Member of the Order of Australia

ANAO Australian National Audit Office

AO Officer of the Order of Australia

APS Australian Public Service

ASBFEO Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman

ATO Australian Taxation Office

CDR Consumer Data Right

CROMP Climate Risk and Opportunity Management Program

DFAT Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

EL Executive Level

FIRB Foreign Investment Review Board

FTP Financial Transactions Plan

G20 The Group of Twenty

GDP Gross domestic product

GST Goods and Services Tax

IBRD International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

ICSID International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes

IDA International Development Association

IFC International Finance Corporation

IMF International Monetary Fund

MIGA Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency

MP Member of Parliament

NASHH National Agreement on Social Housing and Homelessness

NRAS National Rental Affordability Scheme

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PBS Portfolio Budget Statements

PGPA Act Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013

PGPA Rule Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014

PRGT Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust

PSM Public Service Medal

RBA Reserve Bank of Australia

SES Senior Executive Service

SDR Special Drawing Rights

SME Small and medium-sized enterprise

The Ombudsman Australian Small Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman

WHS Work Health and Safety

WRC Workplace Relations Committee
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Glossary
Accountable Authority 
instructions

Instructions issued to manage the affairs of an entity to 
promote the efficient, effective, economical and ethical use of 
Commonwealth resources.

Activities The actions/functions performed by agencies to deliver 
government policies.

Administered item Items that are usually managed by an entity on behalf of the 
government. Entities do not have control over these items which 
are normally related to activities governed by eligibility rules and 
conditions established by legislation (for example, grants, subsidies 
and benefit payments).

Annual performance 
statements

Commonwealth entities report, through their annual performance 
statements, on the extent to which they have fulfilled the purposes 
they articulate at the beginning of a reporting year in their 
corporate plan. They must also report on performance criteria in 
the portfolio budget statements, portfolio additional estimates 
statements or other portfolio estimates statements.

Appropriation Public monies the Parliament authorises the government to withdraw 
from the Consolidated Revenue Fund for a specified purpose.

APS employee A person engaged under section 22, or a person who is engaged 
as an Australian Public Service employee under section 72, of the 
Public Service Act 1999.

Budget Sets out the fiscal and economic outlook for Australia, including 
expenditure and revenue estimates for the current financial year, 
the budget year and 3 forward financial years. It identifies the 
government’s social and political priorities and how they will 
be achieved.

Clear read principle It is important to maintain a clear read between the Portfolio 
Budget Statements, an entity’s corporate plan, and an entity’s 
annual report. Information should be consistent across these and 
other budget documents, and, where possible, avoid duplication of 
reporting. To help readers to form a judgement, reporting by entities 
should provide a clear read between the allocation and use of 
public resources, and the results being achieved through activities 
undertaken with these resources. More information is available at  
www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-
resources/reporting-performance-information-portfolio-budget-
statements-rmg-129/clear-read-between-pbs-and-corporate-plan. 

Consolidated  
Revenue Fund

The Consolidated Revenue Fund consists of all revenues and 
moneys raised or received by the executive government of the 
Commonwealth. The fund is self-executing in nature, which means 
that all money received by the Commonwealth automatically forms 
part of the fund.

http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/reporting-performance-information-portfolio-budget-statements-rmg-129/clear-read-between-pbs-and-corporate-plan
http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/reporting-performance-information-portfolio-budget-statements-rmg-129/clear-read-between-pbs-and-corporate-plan
http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/reporting-performance-information-portfolio-budget-statements-rmg-129/clear-read-between-pbs-and-corporate-plan
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Consultant A person or organisation providing professional, independent, 
expert advice or services. The term is used to describe the 
application of expert skills to investigate or diagnose a defined 
issue or problem; carry out defined research, reviews or evaluations; 
or provide independent advice, information or creative solutions to 
assist an entity in management decision-making.

Contractor A person engaged by an agency, usually on a temporary basis. 
Treated as an employee of the agency for the purposes of program 
performance reporting.

Corporate governance The process by which agencies are directed and controlled. It is 
generally understood to encompass authority, accountability, 
stewardship, leadership, direction and control.

Corporate plan The primary planning document of a Commonwealth entity that 
sets out the objectives and strategies the entity intends to pursue in 
achieving its purposes over at least 4 reporting periods. A corporate 
plan explains:

•	 what an entity’s purposes are

•	 what it will do to achieve its purposes

•	 how it will know that it has achieved its purposes.

Departmental item Departmental items are usually appropriations managed by an 
entity, and over which the entity has control. That is, the entity’s 
accountable authority has discretion in delivering the activities and/
or allocating resources. Typically, these items include the day-to-
day operations and program support activities of an entity.

Enterprise agreement An employment agreement made directly between an employer 
and employees.

Finance law Refers to:

•	 The PGPA Act 2013; or

•	 rules issued under the PGPA Act 2013; or

•	 any instrument made under the PGPA Act; or

•	 an Appropriation Act.

Financial results The results shown in the financial statements of an agency.

Fraud Dishonestly obtaining a benefit, or causing a loss, by deception or 
other means. Accountable authorities of Commonwealth entities 
must take all reasonable measures to prevent, detect and deal 
with fraud in accordance with section 10 of the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Rule 2014.

Full-time equivalent The effective number of full-time employees in an entity, where 
an FTE of 1.0 is the equivalent of one full-time person. Part-time 
employees are converted to full-time equivalents.
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Grant The Department of Finance describes a grant as an arrangement 
for the provision of financial assistance by the Commonwealth or on 
behalf of the Commonwealth:

•	 under which relevant money or other Consolidated Revenue Fund 
money is to be paid to a recipient other than the Commonwealth, 
and 

•	 is intended to help address one or more of the Australian 
Government’s policy outcomes while assisting the grantee achieve 
its objectives.

More information is available at www.finance.gov.au/government/
commonwealth-grants. 

Materiality Considers the planned outcome and the relative significance of 
the resources consumed in contributing to the achievement of 
that outcome.

Mid-Year Economic 
and Fiscal Outlook

The Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook (MYEFO) updates of 
the government’s budget estimates. It examines expenses and 
revenues in the year to date, as well as provisions for new decisions 
that have been taken since the Budget. The report provides 
updated information to allow the assessment of the government’s 
fiscal performance against the fiscal strategy.

Non-ongoing APS 
employee

A person engaged as an Australian Public Service employee under 
subsection 22(2)(a) of the Public Service Act 1999.

Official Public Account The Commonwealth’s central bank account. The Official Public 
Account is one of a group of linked bank accounts, referred to as 
the Official Public Account Group of Accounts. The Reserve Bank of 
Australia maintains the Official Public Accounts.

Ongoing APS 
employee

A person engaged as an ongoing Australian Public Service 
employee under section 22(2) (a) of the Public Service Act 1999.

Operations Functions, services and processes performed in pursuing the 
objectives or discharging the functions of an entity.

Outcomes The results, impacts or consequences of a purpose or activity, as 
defined in the annual appropriation acts and the Portfolio Budget 
Statements, by a Commonwealth entity and company.

Performance 
information

Evidence about performance that is collected and used 
systematically, which may relate to appropriateness, effectiveness 
and efficiency and the extent to which an outcome can be 
attributed to an intervention. While performance information may 
be quantitative (numerical) or qualitative (descriptive), it should 
be verifiable.

Portfolio Budget 
Statements

The Portfolio Budget Statements inform parliamentarians and 
the public of the proposed allocation of resources to government 
outcomes. They also assist the Senate standing committees with 
their examination of the government’s budget. Portfolio Budget 
Statements are tabled in Parliament on Budget Night and published 
as budget related papers.

http://www.finance.gov.au/government/commonwealth-grants
http://www.finance.gov.au/government/commonwealth-grants
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Programs Commonwealth programs deliver benefits, services or transfer 
payments to individuals, organisations, or the community as a 
whole, and/or policy advice to inform Government decisions. A 
program is comprised of activities or groups of activities, as defined 
in the annual appropriation acts and Portfolio Budget Statements, 
by a Commonwealth entity and company.

Public Governance, 
Performance and 
Accountability  
Act 2013

As the primary piece of Commonwealth resource management 
legislation, the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability 
Act 2013 (PGPA Act) establishes a coherent system of governance 
and accountability for public resources, with an emphasis on 
planning, performance and reporting.

The PGPA Act applies to all Commonwealth entities and 
Commonwealth companies. A list of Commonwealth entities and 
companies is available at: finance.gov.au/government/managing-
commonwealth-resources/structure-australian-government-
public-sector/pgpa-act-flipchart-and-list  

Risk management The systematic application of policies, procedures and practices to 
clearly identify, analyse, evaluate, treat and monitor risks associated 
with identified opportunities. Risk is broadly defined as the effect 
of uncertainty on objectives or the impacts of unforeseen events or 
undesirable outcomes.

Senate Estimates 
hearings

Senate standing committees hold hearings to scrutinise the 
appropriation bills and any explanatory documentation tabled 
to accompany them. Public servants are called as witnesses 
to hearings.

Specific Purpose 
Payments

Commonwealth payments to the states for specific purposes to 
pursue important national policy objectives in areas that may be 
administered by the states.

http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/structure-australian-government-public-sector/pgpa-act-flipchart-and-list
http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/structure-australian-government-public-sector/pgpa-act-flipchart-and-list
http://www.finance.gov.au/government/managing-commonwealth-resources/structure-australian-government-public-sector/pgpa-act-flipchart-and-list
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List of requirements
PGPA Rule 
Reference Part of report

Page 
reference Description Requirement

17AD(g) Letter of transmittal

17AI Letter of 
transmittal

iii A copy of the letter of 
transmittal signed and 
dated by accountable 
authority on date final text 
approved, with statement 
that the report has been 
prepared in accordance 
with section 46 of the Act 
and any enabling legislation 
that specifies additional 
requirements in relation to 
the annual report.

Mandatory

17AD(h) Aids to access

17AJ(a) Table of 
contents

v–vi Table of contents. Mandatory

17AJ(b) Index 288 Alphabetical index. Mandatory

17AJ(c) Abbreviations 
and acronyms 
Glossary 

272–276 Glossary of abbreviations 
and acronyms.

Mandatory

17AJ(d) List of 
requirements

277–287 List of requirements. Mandatory

17AJ(e) Introduction 
and guide to 
the report

xiv Details of contact officer. Mandatory

17AJ(f) Introduction 
and guide to 
the report

xiv Entity’s website address. Mandatory

17AJ(g) Introduction 
and guide to 
the report

xiv Electronic address of report. Mandatory

17AD(a) Review by accountable authority

17AD(a) Secretary’s 
review

3–7 A review by the accountable 
authority of the entity.

Mandatory

17AD(b) Overview of the entity

17AE(1)(a)(i) Departmental 
overview

8 A description of the role and 
functions of the entity.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(a)(ii) Departmental 
overview

9–12 A description of the 
organisational structure of 
the entity.

Mandatory
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17AE(1)(a)(iii) Portfolio 
overview

16 A description of the 
outcomes and programmes 
administered by the entity.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(a)(iv) Departmental 
overview

8 A description of the 
purposes of the entity as 
included in corporate plan.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(aa)(i) Departmental 
overview

9 Name of the accountable 
authority or each member of 
the accountable authority.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(aa)(ii) Departmental 
overview

9 Position title of the 
accountable authority 
or each member of the 
accountable authority.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(aa)(iii) Departmental 
overview

9 Period as the accountable 
authority or member of the 
accountable authority within 
the reporting period.

Mandatory

17AE(1)(b) Portfolio 
overview

15 An outline of the structure of 
the portfolio of the entity.

Portfolio 
departments 
- mandatory

17AE(2) N/a - Where the outcomes and 
programs administered by 
the entity differ from any 
Portfolio Budget Statement, 
Portfolio Additional 
Estimates Statement or 
other portfolio estimates 
statement that was 
prepared for the entity for 
the period, include details 
of variation and reasons for 
change.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AD(c) Report on the Performance of the entity

17AD(c)(i); 
16F

Annual 
performance 
statements

19–81 Annual performance 
statement in accordance 
with paragraph 39(1)(b) of 
the Act and section 16F of 
the Rule.

Mandatory

17AD(c)(ii) Report on Financial Performance

17AF(1)(a) Financial 
performance

82 A discussion and analysis 
of the entity’s financial 
performance.

Mandatory

17AF(1)(b) Resource 
tables

83–84 A table summarising the 
total resources and total 
payments of the entity.

Mandatory
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17AF(2) Resource 
tables

85–87 If there may be significant 
changes in the financial 
results during or after the 
previous or current reporting 
period, information on those 
changes, including: the 
cause of any operating loss 
of the entity; how the entity 
has responded to the loss 
and the actions that have 
been taken in relation to 
the loss; and any matter or 
circumstances that it can 
reasonably be anticipated 
will have a significant 
impact on the entity’s future 
operation or financial results.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AD(d) Management and Accountability

17AG(2)(a) Corporate 
governance

95 Information on compliance 
with section 10 (fraud systems).

Mandatory

17AG(2)(b)(i) Letter of 
transmittal 

iii A certification by 
accountable authority that 
fraud risk assessments and 
fraud control plans have 
been prepared.

Mandatory

17AG(2)(b)(ii) Letter of 
transmittal

iii A certification by 
accountable authority that 
appropriate mechanisms 
for preventing, detecting 
incidents of, investigating, or 
otherwise dealing with, and 
recording or reporting fraud 
that meet the specific needs 
of the entity are in place.

Mandatory

17AG(2)(b)(iii) Letter of 
transmittal

iii A certification by 
accountable authority that 
all reasonable measures 
have been taken to deal 
appropriately with fraud 
relating to the entity.

Mandatory

17AG(2)(c) Corporate 
governance

91 An outline of structures 
and processes in place for 
the entity to implement 
principles and objectives of 
corporate governance.

Mandatory
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17AG(2)(d) 
– (e)

N/a - A statement of significant 
issues reported to Minister 
under paragraph 19(1)(e) of 
the Act that relates to non-
compliance with Finance law 
and action taken to remedy 
non-compliance.

If applicable, 
mandatory

Audit Committee

17AG(2A)(a) Corporate 
governance

92 A direct electronic address 
of the charter determining 
the functions of the entity’s 
audit committee.

Mandatory

17AG(2A)(b) Corporate 
governance

93 The name of each member 
of the entity’s audit 
committee.

Mandatory

17AG(2A)(c) Corporate 
governance

93 The qualifications, 
knowledge, skills or 
experience of each member 
of the entity’s audit 
committee.

Mandatory

17AG(2A)(d) Corporate 
governance

93 Information about the 
attendance of each 
member of the entity’s audit 
committee at committee 
meetings.

Mandatory

17AG(2A)(e) Corporate 
governance

93 The remuneration of each 
member of the entity’s audit 
committee.

Mandatory

External Scrutiny

17AG(3) External 
scrutiny

97 Information on the most 
significant developments 
in external scrutiny and 
the entity's response to the 
scrutiny.

Mandatory

17AG(3)(a) External 
scrutiny

97 Information on judicial 
decisions and decisions of 
administrative tribunals and 
by the Australian Information 
Commissioner that may 
have a significant effect on 
the operations of the entity.

If applicable, 
mandatory
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17AG(3)(b) External 
scrutiny

97 Information on any reports 
on operations of the entity 
by the Auditor-General 
(other than report under 
section 43 of the Act), a 
Parliamentary Committee, 
or the Commonwealth 
Ombudsman.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AG(3)(c) N/a - Information on any 
capability reviews on the 
entity that were released 
during the period.

If applicable, 
mandatory

Management of Human Resources

17AG(4)(a) Our people 98 An assessment of the entity’s 
effectiveness in managing 
and developing employees 
to achieve entity objectives.

Mandatory

17AG(4)(aa) Our people 100–101,  
107–108

Statistics on the entity’s 
employees on an ongoing 
and non-ongoing basis, 
including the following:
a)	 statistics on full-time 

employees

b)	 statistics on part-time 
employees

c)	 statistics on gender

d)	 statistics on staff location.

Mandatory

17AG(4)(b) Our people 102–107 Statistics on the entity’s APS 
employees on an ongoing 
and non-ongoing basis; 
including the following:
•	 Statistics on staffing 

classification level

•	 Statistics on full-time 
employees

•	 Statistics on part-time 
employees

•	 Statistics on gender

•	 Statistics on staff location

•	 Statistics on employees 
who identify as Indigenous.

Mandatory
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17AG(4)(c) Our people 110 Information on any 
enterprise agreements, 
individual flexibility 
arrangements, Australian 
workplace agreements, 
common law contracts 
and determinations under 
subsection 24(1) of the Public 
Service Act 1999.

Mandatory

17AG(4)(c)(i) Our people 110 Information on the number 
of SES and non-SES 
employees covered by 
agreements etc identified in 
paragraph 17AG(4)(c).

Mandatory

17AG(4)(c)(ii) Our people 109–110 The salary ranges available 
for APS employees by 
classification level.

Mandatory

17AG(4)(c)(iii) Our people 109 A description of non-
salary benefits provided to 
employees.

Mandatory

17AG(4)(d)(i) N/a - Information on the number 
of employees at each 
classification level who 
received performance pay.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AG(4)(d)(ii) N/a - Information on aggregate 
amounts of performance pay 
at each classification level.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AG(4)(d)(iii) N/a - Information on the average 
amount of performance 
payment, and range of 
such payments, at each 
classification level.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AG(4)(d)(iv) N/a - Information on aggregate 
amount of performance 
payments.

If applicable, 
mandatory

Assets management

17AG(5) Assets 
management

115 An assessment of 
effectiveness of assets 
management where asset 
management is a significant 
part of the entity’s activities.

If applicable, 
mandatory

Purchasing

17AG(6) Procurement 111 An assessment of entity 
performance against 
the Commonwealth 
Procurement Rules.

Mandatory
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Reportable consultancy contracts

17AG(7)(a) Consultants and 
non-consultants

113–114 A summary statement 
detailing the number of 
new contracts engaging 
consultants entered into 
during the period; the total 
actual expenditure on all 
new consultancy contracts 
entered into during the 
period (including GST); 
the number of ongoing 
reportable consultancy 
contracts that were entered 
into during a previous 
reporting period; and the 
total actual expenditure 
in the reporting year on 
the ongoing consultancy 
contracts (including GST).

Mandatory

17AG(7)(b) Consultants and 
non-consultants

113–114 A statement that

‘During [reporting period], 
[specified number] new 
reportable consultancy 
contracts were entered 
into involving total actual 
expenditure of $[specified 
million]. In addition, 
[specified number] ongoing 
reportable consultancy 
contracts were active 
during the period, involving 
total actual expenditure of 
$[specified million]’.

Mandatory

17AG(7)(c) Consultants and 
non-consultants

113–114 A summary of the policies 
and procedures for selecting 
and engaging consultants 
and the main categories 
of purposes for which 
consultants were selected 
and engaged.

Mandatory

17AG(7)(d) Consultants and 
non-consultants

113–114 A statement that

‘Annual reports contain 
information about actual 
expenditure on reportable 
consultancy contracts. 
Information on the value 
of reportable consultancy 
contracts is available on the 
AusTender website.’

Mandatory
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Reportable non-consultancy contracts

17AG(7A)(a) Consultants 
and non-
consultants

113–114 A summary statement 
detailing the number of new 
reportable non-consultancy 
contracts entered into 
during the period; the total 
actual expenditure on such 
contracts (including GST); 
the number of ongoing 
reportable non-consultancy 
contracts that were entered 
into during a previous 
reporting period; and the 
total actual expenditure 
in the reporting period on 
those ongoing contracts 
(including GST).

Mandatory

17AG(7A)(b) Consultants 
and non-
consultants

113–114 A statement that

‘Annual reports contain 
information about actual 
expenditure on reportable 
non-consultancy contracts. 
Information on the value of 
reportable non-consultancy 
contracts is available on the 
AusTender website.’

Mandatory

17AD(daa) Additional information about organisations receiving 
amounts under reportable consultancy contracts or 
reportable non-consultancy contracts

17AGA Consultants 
and non-
consultants

113–114 Additional information, in 
accordance with section 
17AGA, about organisations 
receiving amounts under 
reportable consultancy 
contracts or reportable non-
consultancy contracts.

Mandatory

Australian National Audit Office Access Clauses

17AG(8) Procurement 111 If an entity entered into 
a contract with a value 
of more than $100,000 
(including GST) and the 
contract did not provide the 
Auditor-General with access 
to the contractor’s premises, 
the report must include the 
name of the contractor, 
purpose and value of the 
contract, and the reason 
why a clause allowing 
access was not included in 
the contract.

If applicable, 
mandatory
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Exempt contracts

17AG(9) Procurement 111 If an entity entered into 
a contract or there is a 
standing offer with a value 
greater than $10 000 
(including GST) which has 
been exempted from being 
published in AusTender 
because it would disclose 
exempt matters under the 
FOI Act, the annual report 
must include a statement 
that the contract or 
standing offer has been 
exempted, and the value 
of the contract or standing 
offer, to the extent that 
doing so does not disclose 
the exempt matters.

If applicable, 
mandatory

Small business

17AG(10)(a) Procurement 112 A statement that

‘[Name of entity] supports 
small business participation 
in the Commonwealth 
Government procurement 
market. Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) and Small 
Enterprise participation 
statistics are available on 
the Department of  
Finance’s website.’

Mandatory

17AG(10)(b) Procurement 112 An outline of the ways in 
which the procurement 
practices of the entity 
support small and medium 
enterprises.

Mandatory

17AG(10)(c) Procurement 112 If the entity is considered 
by the Department 
administered by the Finance 
Minister as material in 
nature—a statement that

‘[Name of entity] recognises 
the importance of ensuring 
that small businesses are 
paid on time. The results 
of the Survey of Australian 
Government Payments to 
Small Business are available 
on the Treasury’s website.’

If applicable, 
mandatory
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Financial Statements

17AD(e) Financial 
statements

125–200 Inclusion of the annual 
financial statements in 
accordance with subsection 
43(4) of the Act.

Mandatory

Executive Remuneration

17AD(da) Executive 
remuneration 

116–121 Information about executive 
remuneration in accordance 
with Subdivision C of Division 
3A of Part 2-3 of the Rule.

Mandatory

17AD(f) Other Mandatory Information

17AH(1)(a)(i) Advertising 
and market 
research

211–212 If the entity conducted 
advertising campaigns, a 
statement that

‘During [reporting period], 
the [name of entity] 
conducted the following 
advertising campaigns: 
[name of advertising 
campaigns undertaken]. 
Further information on those 
advertising campaigns is 
available at [address of 
entity’s website] and in 
the reports on Australian 
Government advertising 
prepared by the Department 
of Finance. Those reports are 
available on the Department 
of Finance’s website.’

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AH(1)(a)(ii) Advertising 
and market 
research

211–212 If the entity did not conduct 
advertising campaigns, a 
statement to that effect.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AH(1)(b) Grants 213 A statement that

‘Information on grants 
awarded by [name of entity] 
during [reporting period] 
is available at [address of 
entity’s website].’

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AH(1)(c) Disability 
reporting

216 Outline of mechanisms of 
disability reporting, including 
reference to website for 
further information.

Mandatory

17AH(1)(d) Information 
Publication 
Scheme

213 Website reference to where 
the entity’s Information 
Publication Scheme 
statement pursuant to Part II 
of FOI Act can be found.

Mandatory
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17AH(1)(e) Information 
correcting the 
record

271 Correction of material errors 
in previous annual report.

If applicable, 
mandatory

17AH(2) Advertising 
and market 
research

211–212 Information required by  
other legislation.

Information required by  
other Acts or instruments to 
be included in the annual 
report must be included in 
one or more appendices to 
the report.

For Treasury, for reporting 
period 2024–25, this covers: 
•	 Commonwealth  

Electoral Act 1918

•	 Freedom of Information  
Act 1982

•	 Work Health and Safety  
Act 2011 

•	 Environment Protection  
and Biodiversity 
Conservation Act 1999

•	 International Monetary 
Agreements Act 1947

•	 International Bank for 
Reconstruction and 
Development (General 
Capital Increase) Act 1989

•	 Payment Times  
Reporting Act 2020

•	 Australian Small Business 
and Family Enterprise 
Ombudsman Act 2015

•	 Competition and  
Consumer Act 2010

•	 Future Made in Australia  
Act 2024

Mandatory

Information 
publication 
scheme

213

Work health 
and safety

214–215

Environmental 
performance

218¬226

Australia 
and the 
international 
financial 
institutions

227–238

Payment times 
reporting

255–260

Australian 
Small Business 
and Family 
Enterprise 
Ombudsman

261–266

Data 
Standards 
Chair

267–268

National 
Interest 
Framework

269
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Index

A
Anderson, Victoria.......................................... 12, 116, 117

Annual Stakeholder Survey

methodology.................................................. 205–210

summary of results............................................ 21–23

ASBFEO.................................................................... 261–266

Asset Management..................................................... 115

Audit and Risk Committee.......92–94, 96, 219, 221

Australian Bureau of Statistics................. 15, 35, 38

Australian Competition and  
Consumer Commission...................15, 262, 264, 267

Australian Financial  
Complaints Authority.......................................262, 265

Australian Financial Security Authority..... 15, 262

Australian Government Actuary........................ 5, 12

Australian National  
Audit Office.............................................. 97, 111, 125–128

Australian Office of  
Financial Management............................................... 15

Australian Prudential  
Regulation Authority.............................. 15, 22, 43, 44

Australian Reinsurance 
 Pool Corporation................................................. 15, 224

Australian Securities and  
Investments Commission...........................15, 43, 262

Australian Small Business and Family 
Enterprise Ombudsman Act 2015.........................261

Australian  
Taxation Office................. 15, 45, 239, 250–251, 262

B
Brown, Diane..................................................... 12, 116, 117

Budget

2024–25 Budget...................................35, 36, 38, 41

2025–26 Budget.......................3, 7, 22, 40, 41, 239

C
Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998....22, 25, 40

child safety and wellbeing......................................217

cities

cities policy...................................................... 9, 72–73,

National Urban Policy...................................... 72, 73

climate change................................ 219, 222, 232, 263

Commonwealth Child Safe Framework............217

Commonwealth Climate Disclosure........ 219–226

Commonwealth Grants Commission................... 15

Commonwealth Procurement Rules............ 111, 113

Commonwealth Risk Management Policy......221

Competition and Consumer Act 2010.............. 267

contracts.................................................................................

consultancy.........................................................113–114

non–consultancy.............................................113–114

Council on Federal Financial Relations................5

D
data standards...................................................267–268

Consumer Data Right....................................65, 267

Data Standards Body................................267–268

Data Standards Chair................................267–268

Department of Foreign  
Affairs and Trade....................... 69, 110, 227, 237, 253

Di Marco, Katrina............................................... 11, 116,118

Digital ID Act 2024....................................................... 267

disability..................................................................... 99, 216

Australian Public Service Disability 
Employment Strategy............................................216
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E
emissions

Emissions Reduction Plan..........................221, 226

greenhouse gas inventory.......................223, 224

Employee Assistance Program..............................215

environmental management...................... 218–226

APS Net Zero 2030........................................223, 226

Commonwealth  
Climate Disclosure....................................... 219–226

energy efficiency......................................... 223–226

Treasury Environmental Management 
Plan................................................................................. 218

Evaluation

Australian Centre for Evaluation..........................5

Executive Board................8, 91, 95, 96, 219, 221, 226

external audit.................................................................. 97

F
Fair Work Commission.............................................. 264

Fair Work Ombudsman.........................262, 264, 265

financial performance........................................ 82–87

financial statements.........................................123–201

administered cash flow  
statement........................................................... 138–139

administered reconciliation schedule..........137

administered schedule  
of comprehensive income...................................135

administered schedule  
of assets and liabilities.........................................136

budget variance reporting.......................134, 140

cash flow statement..............................................133

independent auditor’s report................. 125–128

statement by the Secretary  
and Chief Finance Officer...................................129

statement of comprehensive income......... 130

statement of financial position.........................131

statement of changes in equity......................132

financial statements, notes to......................141–201

assets and liabilities administered on 
behalf of the government......................... 163–175

departmental financial performance...
144–148

departmental financial position...........149–153

funding................................................................. 176–183

income and expenses administered 
on behalf of the government..................156–162

managing uncertainties............................ 182–198

other information......................................... 199–200

overview..............................................................142–143

people and relationships..........................154–155

Financial Transactions Plan...................................232

forecasting activities....... 22, 24, 35–39, 41, 65, 66

Foreign Acquisitions and  
Takeovers Act 1975................240, 244, 245, 247,252

foreign investment............................................ 239–254

Australian Taxation Office’s 
compliance activities.................................250–251

digital transformation................................. 239, 252

investment proposals............................... 240–246

Treasury compliance activities.............247–249

foreign investment  
framework................................3, 15, 37, 200, 204, 207

Foreign Investment Policy............................. 239, 252

Foreign Investment  
Review Board..........................55, 205, 206, 252–254

membership....................................................253–254

Franchising Code of Conduct....................263, 265

fraud and corruption control plan................... iii, 95

Freedom of Information Act 1982...................111, 213

Future Made in Australia.................3, 4, 49, 211, 269

Future Made in Australia Act 2024.............. 23, 269
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G20.................................................................................4, 237

Graduate Development Program................... 6, 99

Grant, Dr Angelia........................................ 8, 11, 116, 117

grants awarded by Treasury..................................213

H
Health and Safety Committee......................95, 214

housing

homelessness policy...........................................9, 74

National Agreement on Social 
Housing and Homelessness..................74, 78–79

National Rental  
Affordability Scheme........................74, 75, 80–81

Safe Places Emergency 
Accommodation..................................74, 75, 76–77 

Housing Australia............................................... 4, 15, 85 

I
Indigenous Procurement Policy..................... 111, 112

Information Publication Scheme..........................213

Information Strategy Committee.......................... 92

Inspector–General of Taxation..................... 15, 224

integrity maturity............................................................ 96

Intergovernmental Agreement on 
Federal Financial Relations......... 24, 27, 70–71, 86

International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development......................... 227, 235, 236, 238

International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (General Capital 
Increase) Act 1989........................................................227

International Centre for Settlement  
of Investment Disputes...................................235, 236

International Development 
Association...........................................69, 235, 236, 237

International Finance  
Corporation........................................68, 235, 236, 238

international financial  
institutions................................24, 27, 68–69, 227–238

International Monetary  
Agreements Act 1947............... 68, 86, 227, 232, 235

International Monetary  
and Financial Committee.......................................228

International  
Monetary Fund........................ 4, 24, 68, 69, 227–235

Article IV consultation...........................................229

Board of Governors...............................................228

Special Drawing Right....................... 69, 230–234

transactions.................................................... 229–235

J
Johnson, Shane................................................11, 116, 118

K
Kelley PSM, Roxanne.......................................8, 116, 117

Kelly, James................................................... 8, 12, 116, 117

Kennedy PSM, Dr Steven...........................7, 9, 116, 117

M
Ministerial feedback  
questionnaire................ 21, 24, 25, 27, 28–31, 63–65

methodology.................................................. 205–210

response rate...................................................... 30, 64

Ministers appointed to  
the Treasury portfolio............................................ 13–15

Multilateral Investment  
Guarantee Agency................................ 235, 236, 238
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National Competition Policy.....................5, 24, 264

National Housing Supply  
and Affordability Council.............................................4

New Arrangements to Borrow...............................232

O
Office of the Auditing and  
Assurance Standards Board.................................... 15

Office of the Australian  
Accounting Standards Board.................................. 15

Organisation for  
Economic Co–operation  
and Development.................... 5, 23, 26, 46, 47, 270

P
Payment Times  
Reporting Act 2020.................................4, 56, 62, 256

Payment Times Reporting  
Amendment Act 2024.......................... 56, 61, 62, 255

Payment Times  
Reporting Regulator..........23, 26, 56, 62, 255–256

guidance material........................................... 61, 259

Payment Times Reporting  
Scheme..............4, 23, 26, 50, 56–62, 207, 255–260

compliance................................................................259

operation of the scheme....................................257

regulatory reforms..................................................255

Payment Times Reports Register........................258

People and Inclusion Committee......................... 92

Performance and  
Risk Committee............................... 91, 95, 96, 219, 221

performance measures

analysis against Treasury’s purpose....... 21–24

summary of performance.............................25–27

transferred functions........................................ 72–81

Performance Statements 2024–25................19–81

Philp, Brenton.......................................................8, 116, 117

Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust...............233

Productivity Commission...............5, 15, 78, 79, 264

Public Governance, Performance  
and Accountability Act 2013  
(PGPA Act)........................ iii, 19, 91, 92, 111, 113, 129,276

Public Governance, Performance  
and Accountability Rule 2014  
(PGPA Rule).............................................................iii, 19, 95

Public Service Act 1999...............91, 96, 109, 116, 275

R
regulatory functions.............................21, 23, 50, 206

Regulatory Powers  
(Standard Provisions) Act 2014..............................247

Reinhardt, Sam.................................................. 8, 116, 118

Reserve Bank  
of Australia.........3, 5. 15, 45, 68, 229, 230, 234, 264

risk management..................................95, 97, 219–221

Royal Australian Mint.................................................... 15

S
small business

advocacy.........................................................263–264

assistance........................................................ 265–266

National Small Business Strategy.......................5

payment times..............................56–62, 255–260

Small Business and Family  
Enterprise Ombudsman............................ 5, 261–266

Small Business Stewardship Group....................262

Special Drawing Right............................ 69, 230–234

staff............................................................ 6, 9, 95, 98, 226 

child safe initiatives................................................217

employment arrangements......................109, 110

entry level programs............................................... 99

gender....................................................................... 6, 99
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health and safety........................... 92, 95, 214–215

Indigenous employment..............................99, 108

key management personnel.....................116–121

performance management................................ 98

professional development................................... 98

remuneration.................................... 109, 110, 116–121

Treasury Enterprise  
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staffing numbers..................................................99–108

stakeholder  
feedback survey.......................28, 32–34, 63, 65–67

T
Taxation (Multinational—Global and 
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Taxation (Multinational—Global and 
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